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Combined management report for M.A.X. Automation AG for the 2015 financial year 
 
1. Basis of the parent company and the Group 

1.1. Business model 

M.A.X. Automation AG, which is based in Düsseldorf, Germany, and its subsidiaries operate as an international 

hightech mechanical engineering group and leading complete provider of integrated and complex system 

and component solutions. The Group has two operating segments: in its Industrial Automation segment, the 

Group’s extensive technological expertise enables it to act as an innovation leader in the development and 

production of integrated and proprietary solutions for manufacturing and assembly in the key growth sectors 

of automotive, medical technology, packaging automation and electronics. In its Environmental Technology 

segment, M.A.X. Automation develops and installs technologically complex systems for the recycling, energy 

and raw materials industries.

The sustainable development of the medium-sized Group companies that form the Group’s operating business 

comprise the company’s primary goal. When realizing corporate acquisitions, M.A.X. Automation AG aims to 

acquire a majority of the share capital, if possible 100 % of the shares.

As the management company, M.A.X. Automation AG is responsible for the Group’s strategic and financial 

steering. In this function, it also sets and supervises appropriate strategic and operational measures that 

enable the Group companies to meet their defined targets. In addition, M.A.X. Automation AG analyzes and 

defines significant synergy potentials between the Group companies. These include bundling activities in the 

areas of purchasing and financing, an increasingly important joint utilization of foreign sites as part of inter-

nationalization, know-how and technology transfer, and best practice approaches and methodologies. M.A.X. 

Automation has set itself the target of boosting value creation within the Group through targeted enhance-

ment of relationships for the delivery of goods and rendering of services between the Group companies. In 

some situations, possibilities also exist to exploit sales synergies through project-based collaboration within 

the M.A.X. Group.

The business trends of the Group companies in the segments, and their corresponding profit transfers, signifi-

cantly affect the financial position and performance of M.A.X. Automation AG, as the Group parent company. 

The operating subsidiaries’ management teams report to the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation 

AG, which manages the company at its own responsibility. The Supervisory Board of M.A.X. Automation AG 

appoints, supervises and advises the Management Board. The Supervisory Board is included in all business 

transactions of key significance for the parent company or the Group. It is in close contact with the Manage-

ment Board to this end.

As a public stock corporation, M.A.X. Automation AG is listed on the Frankfurt Securities Exchange. The  

M.A.X. Automation share has been listed in the Prime Standard segment of Deutsche Börse AG since April 2015.

All of the Group operating companies are allocated to one of the two segments of either Industrial Automation 

or Environmental Technology.
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The following companies with their significant subsidiaries belonged to the Industrial Automation segment  

in the 2015 financial year:

•  NSM Magnettechnik Group 

– NSM Packtec GmbH 

– iNDAT Robotics GmbH

• ELWEMA Automotive GmbH

• IWM Automation Group

• bdtronic Group 

• MA micro automation GmbH (formerly: Rohwedder Micro Assembly GmbH, renamed in February 2015)

• Rohwedder Macro Assembly GmbH

• Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH

• AIM Micro Systems GmbH

The Group companies ELWEMA Automotive GmbH, MA micro automation GmbH, Rohwedder Macro Assembly 

GmbH und AIM Micro Systems GmbH were initially still aggregated within AIM-Assembly in Motion GmbH in the 

year under review, a company that acts as the operative management company of the AIM Group. As part of 

instituting streamlined structures and more efficient processes, AIM-Assembly in Motion GmbH was renamed 

M.A.X. Management GmbH in October 2015, and the headquarters were relocated from Ellwangen to Düsseldorf. 

The aim of these measures is more direct management of the AIM companies by M.A.X. Automation AG.

The Environmental Technology segment comprised the following companies with their significant subsidiaries 

in the year under review:

• Vecoplan Group

 – Vecoplan LLC (USA)

•  altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG (the BTD container technology operations and the altmayer bulk materials plant 

manufacturer operations were sold in December 2015 as part of focusing the portfolio on core businesses).

The Group companies of M.A.X. Automation AG are positioned as technologically leading suppliers in their 

respective markets, developing complex automation and process solutions for their customers worldwide, 

tailored individually to their requirements. Their range of products and services comprise individual techni-

cal components, complete automation systems, and complete specialty mechanical engineering plants. As 

systems integrators, they also render services for their customers such as consulting (including analyses, tests 

and feasibility studies), production assistance and maintenance/repair. As a consequence, the individual Group 

companies are able to provide integrated automation solutions with a high degree of technical complexity on 

a one-stop-shop basis.

The M.A.X. Group’s target markets are located mainly in Europe, North and South America, and Asia. The Group 

companies develop and produce their hightech automation solutions mainly in Germany, as well as at selected 

sales and service sites abroad. The Group companies’ international sales branches offer contacts for extensive 

customer care and service worldwide.

The most important customer groups in the Industrial Automation segment include the automotive industry 

and its suppliers, medical technology, the electronics industry, and packaging automation. In the Environmental 
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Technology segment, the customer base particularly includes private and public sector companies from the 

waste management and recycling technology sector, the timber and paper industry, the energy sector, as well 

as the cement and plastics sectors (for more information about the Groups operating segments, please refer to 

section 2.10 – Segment reporting).

1.2. Key management indicators and strategic positioning

1.2.1. Key financial management indicators

M.A.X. Automation AG makes recourse to financial management indicators to manage and assess its Group 

operating businesses. These are aimed at helping to secure and enhance long-term profitability.

The financial performance indicators include:

• New order intake and order book position

• Profitability indicators

• Capital and liquidity indicators

• Personnel data (especially headcounts)

• Covenants for the syndicated loan agreement

The covenants for the syndicated loan agreement include the M.A.X. Group’s equity ratio, gearing, and 

interest coverage ratio. The Group is managed through setting target ranges.

1.2.2. Strategic positioning/non-financial performance indicators

M.A.X. Automation AG pursues a long-term business model based on the Group companies’ respective  

expertise, and the strategic direction set by M.A.X. Automation AG as the management company. The Group’s 

strategic positioning is characterized essentially by the following aspects:

•  Added value offering: The Group companies in the Industrial Automation and Environmental Technology 

segment are distinguished by their special expertise in aggregating individual automation components, as 

well as extensive system and process know-how, to create individual solutions on a one-stop-shop basis. In 

doing so, they consistently pursue the objective of achieving optimizations to their customers’ production 

processes, based on their individual requirements. The Group thereby creates important added value for 

its customers, and enjoys competitive advantages and USPs in a number of instances. This added value 

positioning is of key significance for the M.A.X. Group’s long-term business success and profitability.

•  Hightech and services: The subsidiaries can aggregate different services within a single management 

project. This includes deploying hightech in combination with special process expertise and extensive 

services. Along with business with individual components, these strengths also create the foundation to 

acquire and realize complex large-scale projects in international markets. This positioning generates high 

demand for specialized technical staff. Recruiting and fostering qualified and specialist staff consequently 

forms a central challenge for the subsidiaries.

•  Innovation culture: The M.A.X. Group segments operate in an environment characterized by intense 

competition and constant technological advances. Salient examples include the trend toward networked 
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manufacturing under the heading of Industry 4.0, and the increasingly important micro-automation and 

robotics solutions. For this reason, innovative products and services that create sustainable optimizations 

and consequently measurable added values for customers are critical to the Group’s long-term success. 

Continuous further development of technologies and development of innovative solutions on respective 

markets is consequently of great importance to securing and further expanding our individual subsidiaries’ 

market positions.

•  Advancing internationalization: The internationalization of business in both segments – Industrial 

Automation and Environmental Technology – forms an essential precondition for the Group’s further growth. 

Especially given continued dynamic growth markets in the long-term emerging and up-and-coming 

economies of Asia and South America, and great investment demand in environmental management on 

the North American continent and in fast-growing cities worldwide, the Group companies are systematically 

expanding their international business. An international network of sales and service branches, and selected 

production locations abroad, ensure that the M.A.X. Automation Group serves local customer requirements.

1.3.Research and development

M.A.X. Group customers include major international groups that rank among leading providers in their 

sectors. In order to achieve this positioning, these customers require individual automation solutions 

that exploit the most advanced, leading-edge technologies and processes. The market environment is 

characterized by rapid technological change, highly intense competition, and a rising number of statutory 

regulations, especially in the environmental segment.

Proprietary research and development (R&D) represents an essential precondition for success on the  

M.A.X. Group’s individual markets. Research and development at the M.A.X. Automation Group is organized 

on a decentralized basis: as the Group’s strategic management company, M.A.X. Automation AG does not 

conduct its own research activities. The subsidiaries each have their own capacities, including in the form of 

specialized departments, or as a technology center in the case of the Vecoplan Group, which was established 

in 2014. They structure their research activities in the context of specific customer projects, aligning them 

depending on their customers’ market situations and needs. Moreover, they also offer to prepare individual 

feasibility studies in advance. The subsidiaries are continuously expanding their technological expertise in 

order to tap promising new automation markets.

In our Industrial Automation segment, ELWEMA Automotive GmbH concluded the further development of a 

new generation of cleaning systems in 2015 that is already responsible for a tangible proportion of 2015 new 

order intake. This company commands a USP in the area of cleaning, testing and assembly technology, and in 

second generation cleaning systems. 

The bdtronic GmbH has concluded the further development of screw pumps for the micro-dispensing 

area. The new “mini-dis” generation of screw pumps now enables single and double component casting 

compounds such as epoxy, polyurethane and silicon casting compound and heat conductive pastes in the 

milligram range to be dispensed with a very high degree of repeat accuracy. This opens up many new 

application areas in the production of electronic components for vehicle electronics and other industrial 

sectors of microelectronics.
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With its “data goggles”, MA micro automation GmbH has created a significant USP against its competitors. 

Thanks to its clearly defined Industry 4.0 concept, the company is very well positioned on the market 

(Augmented Automation – the optimization and expansion of the man-machine interface). The company has 

also established a base cell for safe and flexible medical technology production on the most compact areas 

under clean room conditions, thereby creating opportunities to further develop the “ma meditec” business 

area (assembly systems for medical devices). The company also maintains development partnerships, such as 

with the Fraunhofer Institute for Production Technology IPT, working on projects in the “ma optronic” business 

area (testing systems for industrial image processing).

In the year under review, Rohwedder Macro Assembly GmbH developed a modular and flexible concept 

for assembly lines for various vehicle steering systems. This concept thereby serves the trend toward 

configuration diversity in vehicle manufacturing, enabling customers to achieve efficiency gains and variability 

in production.

In our Environmental Technology segment, Group company Vecoplan reached milestones in highly varied 

markets with several innovations.

With the development of its HydroDyn® cleaning technology process for the processing of extremely soiled 

plastics into highly pure output material, Vecoplan has addressed customers’ urgent challenges and problems 

in the plastics processing area with mature, high performing and robust recycling technologies. The first foil 

cleaning plant was planned, installed and commissioned successfully in 2015 in Bulgaria. A further plant is 

currently in the commissioning phase. 

A mobile shredding solution developed in partnership with a globally operating construction machine 

manufacturer provides a further meaningful example of the Vecoplan Group’s R&D capabilities. This flexibly 

deployable machine is unique on the market, and can be used in the areas of shredding scrap wood, biomass, 

household and commercial waste, and manufacturing residues.

In connection with our R&D activities in the year under review Group companies filed for a number of patents.

Of the total EUR 5.1 million of development spend in the 2015 financial year, EUR 1.7 million was capitalized. 

Further information about research and development spending is presented in section 6.2 of the notes to the 

financial statements.

Sources:
•  IMF International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, October 2015
•  IMF International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, January 2016
•  German Federal Statistical Office, press release January 14, 2016
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2. Group economic and business report

2.1. Macroeconomic and sector-related conditions

2.1.1. Macroeconomic environment

Overall, the world economy was on a growth track in 2015, although economic growth lost momentum over 

the course of the year. The reasons for this slowdown cited by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) included 

the fifth consecutive annual weakening in emerging economies’ economic dynamics, and disappointing 

economic recovery in industrialized nations. The sharp fall in the crude oil price, the depreciation of emerg-

ing economies’ currencies, and a return to higher volatility on financial markets exerted a negative impact on 

global economic growth.

Due to these trends the IMF calculated 3.1 % global growth in 2015. In this context, Chinese economic output 

advanced by 6.9 %. According to the IMF, growth in the USA stood at 2.5 %.

The Eurozone economy reported a moderate 1.5 % expansion rate, according to the IMF’s estimates. Especially 

higher consumer purchasing power and the continuation of the low interest-rate policy by the European Cen-

tral Bank (ECB) represented the main engines of growth. Year-on-year better economic trends were registered 

especially in countries such as France, Italy and Spain.

The German economy also reported a moderate uptrend in 2015. Gross domestic product was up by 1.7 %, 

according to the German Federal Statistical Office, thereby lying above the past decade’s 1.3 % average for the 

second consecutive year. Private consumption, lower energy prices and the good labor market situation were 

cited as significant influencing factors.

2.1.2. Trends in relevant sectors

The German Engineering Federation (VDMA) registered moderate overall sector growth in 2015. In December, 

it confirmed its forecast of stagnating production volume. The collapse of business in Russia, growing political 

uncertainties in the European Union, and the cooling economy in China were cited as reasons. By contrast, 

sector sales revenue grew by 2.8 % to EUR 218 billion, compared with EUR 212 billion in the previous year.

The exports of German plant construction and mechanical engineering companies grew by just under 2.6 %  

to around EUR 116 billion during the first nine months of 2015, according to the VDMA (previous year: EUR 

113.1 billion). The association nevertheless noted a declining trend in business with several important emerg-

ing economies. 

Sources:
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), press release December 17, 2015
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), press release October 8, 2015
•  PricewaterhouseCoopers, Industry 4.0 – Opportunities and Challenges of the Industrial Internet, 2014
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), Specialist Waste and Recycling Technology Association, January 2016 data
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), Specialist Robotics and Automation Technology Association, press release June 11, 2015
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), Specialist Robotics and Automation Technology Association, press release September 30, 2015
•  German Automotive Industry Association (VDA), press release December 1, 2015
•  Spectaris, Fachverband Medizintechnik, Zahlen und Fakten (German Hightech Industry Association), at: www.spectaris.de
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Exports to China were forecast to fall by 5 % to around EUR 16.0 billion for the full year, for instance. With 

regard to business with Russia, the VDMA even anticipated a decline of as much as 27 % to EUR 3.6 billion.

Networked manufacturing (Industry 4.0) is regarded as the key future topic for the German mechanical engi-

neering sector. According to a study entitled “Industry 4.0 Readiness” conducted for the VDMA’s Impuls foun-

dation in 2015, 90 % of the mechanical engineering companies that it surveyed identified good opportunities 

to differentiate themselves on the market by means of Industry 4.0. Around 60 % of the companies surveyed 

had already specifically concerned themselves with the possibilities of networked manufacturing, of which 

around one third had done so intensively. The Cologne-based IW Consult Institute for the German Economy 

and the FIR (Institute for Industrial Management) at RWTH Aachen University authored the study.

German industry also perceives significant growth opportunities with Industry 4.0 topics. According to a study 

by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the companies surveyed assume 2.5 % annual sales revenue growth up to 2020 

as a result of Industry 4.0 and greater digitalization of their product portfolios.

The VDMA Specialist Waste and Recycling Technology Association noted that its member companies enjoyed 

satisfactory business trends in 2015. Sector revenue grew by 1.2 % to EUR 2.6 billion in the reporting year, ac-

cording to its estimates. The export ratio amounted to more than 70 % in this context.

The VDMA Specialist Robotics and Automation Technology Association forecast that its sector experienced 

sales revenue growth of 5 % to around EUR 12 billion (previous year: EUR 11.4 billion), thereby comprising 

a record level. The International Federation of Robotics (IFR) was also optimistic about its sector companies’ 

business progress. Competition in industrial manufacturing is regarded as the most important driver, especially 

due to the increasing automation of the automotive sector, and of the electrical engineering and electronics 

industries. China, Japan, the USA, South Korea and Germany are the sector’s five key markets, according to 

association data.

Overall, the global automotive markets worldwide performed well in 2015. New registrations in the three 

major sales regions were up year-on-year, according to the German Automotive Industry Association (VDA): 

New registrations in Western Europe advanced by 7.0 % to around 13 million vehicles, thereby exceeding the 

association’s expectations. The US market recorded an increase of 5.0 % to 17.2 million vehicles, reaching its 

highest level since 2000. China continued on the past years’ growth track, albeit at a slightly slower pace, with 

its market expanding by 4.0 % to more than 19 million vehicles, according to VDA data.

In the German medical technology sector, expectations for 2015 were modest at the start of the year under 

review. According to sector association Spectaris, following the weakening in business trends, especially in the 

second half of 2014, its member companies anticipated no marked improvement in the reporting year.

2.2. Group business trends

The M.A.X. Group recorded a successful 2015 financial year, experiencing operating dynamics that gathered 

momentum over the course of the year. Some key indicators registered marked year-on-year improvements, 

exceeding the management’s original expectations. Not least, a strong fourth quarter during which numer-

ous projects were completed and invoiced contributed to this performance. Above and beyond this, the MAX 
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Group benefited from a mix of products and projects that proved beneficial from profitability aspects. In terms 

of both new order intake and sales revenue, the Group in the final quarter of 2015 reported the highest levels 

in its history in each case.

The M.A.X. Group’s consolidated new order intake reached EUR 363.7 million in the year under review, re-

flecting 7.2 % year-on-year growth. The consolidated order book position as of December 31, 2015 stood at 

EUR 135.2 million, 5.6 % below its level on the previous year’s equivalent reporting date. Consolidated sales 

revenue rose by 9.2 % to EUR 383.8 million in 2015, slightly above the forecast range of EUR 360 million to 

EUR 380 million. Consolidated earnings before interest and tax (EBIT), and before PPA-related amortization, 

increased by 13.0 % to EUR 24.8 million, significantly above the target range of EUR 20 million to EUR 22 mil-

lion. The Group reports EUR 10.6 million of net income, compared with EUR 10.0 million in the previous year 

(+5.7 %).

Balance sheet ratios also performed well in the reporting year: Consolidated equity exceeded the EUR 100 

million level for the first time in M.A.X. Automation’s history, standing at EUR 106.2 million at the year-end. 

The equity ratio of 37.5 % rose considerably compared with the previous year (December 31, 2014: 33.8 %), 

standing clearly ahead of the targeted 30 % minimum. Gross debt was paid down in an amount of EUR 39.2 

million to EUR 61.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 100.3 million). Net debt, derived by offsetting gross debt 

with Group liquidity, was reduced by EUR 8.2 million to EUR 39.7 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 47.9 million). 

Group financing was also placed on a new, long-term stable basis as a result of agreeing a EUR 150 million 

syndicated loan in June 2015.

Moreover, the M.A.X. Group achieved significant progress in 2015 in its strategic further development to a 

hightech engineering group organized on a decentralized basis. In this context, the Group companies increas-

ingly leveraged synergies through more intensive cooperation. The focusing of the Group portfolio on core 

activities in the Industrial Automation and Environmental Technology segments was concluded.

The Management and Supervisory boards intend to continue the previous years’ continuous dividend policy, 

with shareholders participating appropriately in the positive business trend. They plan to propose to the Ordi-

nary AGM on August 26, 2016 the approval of a dividend of 15 euro cents per share dividend for the financial 

year elapsed (previous year: 15 euro cents). The total payout would thereby amount to EUR 4.0 million (previ-

ous year: EUR 4.0 million).

2.3. Particular events during the financial year

2.3.1. Acquisition of minority interests in Vecoplan LLC

With an agreement dated January 2, 2015, Vecoplan Holding Corporation, Delaware, USA, which is owned by 

the Vecoplan Group, acquired an interest in a further 20 % of Vecoplan LLC, North Carolina, for a purchase price 

of USD 2.0 million. Its interest in Vecoplan LLC thereby rose to 100 %. The operating activities of Vecoplan LLC 

consist mainly of the production and sale of shredding and recycling technology for the North American re-

gion, as well as corresponding services. This complete takeover of all the shares enables the direct operational 

management of this company.
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2.3.2. Rohwedder Micro Assembly becomes MA micro automation

Rohwedder Micro Assembly GmbH, which was acquired as part of acquiring the AIM Group, has operated 

since February 1, 2015 under the corporate name of MA micro automation GmbH. This corporate renaming 

was connected with a complete rebranding of this micro assembly automation solutions specialist.

Its range of products and services has been aligned consistently over the past years to micro automation, 

with technical core competences in actuators, sensors and optical systems. The company thereby meets the 

highest technological levels in terms of assembly speed and precision.

2.3.3. NSM Magnettechnik acquires iNDAT Robotics

In early February 2015, M.A.X. Automation AG acquired 100 % of the shares in iNDAT Robotics GmbH 

through its subsidiary NSM Magnettechnik GmbH. iNDAT Robotics is a robotics and manufacturing 

automation specialist whose solutions are deployed at renowned automotive manufacturers and 

automotive suppliers, in particular. The acquisition also represents a significant expansion of the range 

of products and services for the automotive industry. Synergies arise not only in relation to NSM 

Magnettechnik, but also with regard to other M.A.X. Automation AG subsidiaries.

2.3.4. Change to the Management Board 

Mr. Bernd Priske, Management Board Spokesman (CEO) of M.A.X. Automation AG, made his role available as  

of the end of March 2015, leaving the company on the best amicable terms.

2.3.5. Switch to the Prime Standard

With effect as of April 1, 2015, M.A.X. Automation AG switched from the General Standard segment to the 

Prime Standard segment of Deutsche Börse. The company thereby opened itself up to a broader base of in-

vestors, and made itself subject to the highest transparency and publicity requirements, which are of particu-

lar significance for institutional investors.

2.3.6. Master agreements in the automotive area

In April 2015, the M.A.X. Group concluded two master agreements to build machines for a prominent 

automotive manufacturer, and for a renowned automotive supply company. The agreements comprise a total 

volume of around EUR 50 million, and will remain effective in terms of new order intake and sales revenues 

until 2018 and 2020 respectively. These agreements generated EUR 8.4 million of new order intake in the 2015 

financial year.

2.3.7. Agreement on new Group financing

On June 25, 2015, M.A.X. Automation AG issued information concerning the realignment of its long-term Group 

financing, entailing the agreement of a syndicated loan for a total volume of EUR 150 million with five renowned 

banks led by Commerzbank. The loan carries a five-year term and includes two extension options. The loan’s 

main benefits comprise better financing terms, more comfortable covenants and significantly reduced complex-

ity, as the Group’s financing is now bundled within the parent company. This financing package replaces the 

previous syndicated loan of M.A.X. Automation AG as well as the Group companies’ significant bilateral lending 

agreements. The package released collateral of M.A.X. Automation and its subsidiaries. The syndicated loan also 

enables the financing of new orders and the exploitation of growth opportunities, including through acquisitions.
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2.3.8. Reduced Group complexity

In order to reduce complexity within the M.A.X. Group and cut back on the number of legal entities, several 

corporate law changes were implemented in 2015: In the Industrial Automation segment, iNDAT Systems + 

Research GmbH, a subsidiary of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, was merged with its parent company on August 14, 

2015, with retroactive effect as of January 1, 2015. On December 2, 2015, the sister company of iNDAT Robotics 

GmbH, iNDAT Engineering + Service GmbH, was merged with it, with effect as of July 1, 2015. Effective as of July 

1, 2015, mabu-pressen GmbH was merged with parent company NSM Magnettechnik GmbH, with its operating 

business continuing under the mabu brand. In addition, shelf companies and former general partner firms were 

merged, such as Mess- und Regeltechnik Verwaltungs GmbH with Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH, and BDS 

Führungskräfte GmbH with M.A.X. Management GmbH. In the Environmental Technology segment, on August 

12, 2015, Vecoplan Maschinenfabrik Verwaltungs GmbH, and on August 19, 2015, Waste Tec GmbH, were merged 

with Vecoplan AG, with retroactive effect as of January 1, 2015.

2.3.9. Günther Group exceeds 30 % threshold

On November 17, 2015, the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG was informed that Orpheus Capital 

II GmbH & Co. KG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Günther Group, Hamburg, having acquired further shares, 

had just exceeded the threshold of 30 % of the voting rights in the company, and held 30.0001 % of the 

voting rights. Pursuant to the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG), Orpheus Capital II had 

thereby acquired control over the company, and was obligated to submit an offer to all shareholders of  

M.A.X. Automation AG to acquire their shares. The corresponding offer document was published on December 

1, 2015. The offering amounted to a price of EUR 5.30 per share. Shareholders were able to accept this offer 

until December 29, 2015. The Management and Supervisory boards of M.A.X. Automation AG had to issue their 

opinion on the mandatory offer pursuant to the provisions of the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover 

Act (WpÜG) by December 14, 2015. The Management and Supervisory boards were of the opinion that the of-

fer price per share was not appropriate, and recommended that shareholders should not accept the offer. After 

the end of the offer period, a total of 1.4 % had accepted the offer of Orpheus Capital II GmbH & Co. KG.

2.3.10. Disposal of altmayerBTD

On December 23, 2015, M.A.X. Automation AG informed that it had concluded agreements concerning the 

disposal of the operating businesses of Group company altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG. Both the BTD operations 

(container technology) and the altmayer operations (manufacturer of plants for bulk goods) were sold as part of 

asset deals by way of two management buyouts (MBOs) with economic effect as of December 31, 2015. With 

these transactions, M.A.X. Automation concluded its focusing on its core areas of Industrial Automation and 

Environmental Technology.

2.4. Group financial accounting and scope of consolidation

M.A.X. Automation AG prepared its consolidated financial statements for the 2015 financial year according 

to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). As a result, the company has been released from 

the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements according to the requirements of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB). Previous year figures were also calculated according to IFRS.
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By way of divergence from the previous year, currency differences have been reported within the operating 

result since January 2015, thereby taking the M.A.X. Group’s growing international orientation into account.  

The previous year was restated accordingly. Further information is presented in section 2.11 of the notes to  

the consolidated financial statements.

On February 6, 2015, iNDAT Robotics GmbH was acquired, and included within the Group for the first time as 

of February 1, 2015. With effect as of December 31, 2015, the BTD and altmayer operations of altmayerBTD 

GmbH & Co. KG were sold as part of two management buyouts, and are consequently included in the con-

solidated income statement, although no longer in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015. 

The previous year’s figure still include Euroroll Dipl.-Ing. K.-H. Beckmann GmbH & Co. KG, which was sold in 

December 2014, with its corresponding sales revenue and earnings contributions.

Further information about the consolidation scope is presented in section 3.2 of the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements.

2.5. Order book position

In 2015, the M.A.X. Group lifted its new order intake by EUR 24,4 million, or 7.2 % year on year, to EUR 363.7 

million (2014: EUR 339.3 million).

Order trends were positive in both segments: in the Industrial Automation segment, orders increased by  

9.3 % to EUR 236.3 million in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 216.3 million). In the Environmental 

Technology segment, new order intake was up by 3.5 % to EUR 127.4 million (previous year: EUR 123.0 mil-

lion). It should be noted in this context that the new order intake of the operations of altmayerBTD GmbH & 

Co. KG that were sold had declined.

The order book position in 2015 was characterized again by major orders received from renowned international 

customers. In the Industrial Automation segment, two master agreements were concluded to construct machines 

for an automotive manufacturer and for an automotive supplier with a total volume of around EUR 50 million, 

running until 2018 and 2020 respectively. The first orders were already placed in the year under review.

In Environmental Technology, the Vecoplan Group received a major order, among others, to construct a plant 

for the generation of alternative energies in Reno, Nevada, USA. This order comprises a low double-digit 

amount in millions of euros.

The consolidated order book position decreased by EUR 7.9 million, or by 5.6 % year-on-year, to EUR 135.2 mil-

lion as of December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: EUR 143.1 million). The book-to-bill ratio, the ratio between 

new order intake in revenue, stood at 0.95 (previous year: 0.97).

The order book position in the Industrial Automation segment amounted to EUR 103.1 million as of December 

31, 2014, thereby slightly, or 0.7 %, above the level on the previous year’s reporting date (December 31, 2014: 

EUR 103.9 million). In the Environmental Technology segment, the order book position declined to EUR 32.1 

million as of December 31, 2015, due to progress in processing manufacturing orders, as well as the disposal 

of the operations of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG (prior-year reporting date: EUR 39.3 million; –18.4 %).



13

2.6. Revenue and results of operations 

In 2015, the consolidated revenue of the M.A.X. Group rose to EUR 383.8 million in 2015, thereby exceeding  

the forecast target range of EUR 360 million to EUR 380 million. This corresponds to growth of EUR 32.4 million, 

 or 9.2 %, compared with the previous year’s level of EUR 351.4 million.

The export share of consolidated revenue stood at the previous year’s level, amounting to 61.7 % in 2015, 

compared with 62.5 % in the previous year. 

In the reporting year the share of service revenues rose once again and amounts to 20.0 % of total revenue.

The total operating revenue of the M.A.X. Group grew by EUR 30.0 million, or 8.5 %, to EUR 382.4 million  

in 2015 (previous year: EUR 352.4 million). This includes a EUR 3.5 million increase in inventories (previous  

year: EUR 3.4 million) and EUR 2.0 million of work performed by the company and capitalized (previous year:  

EUR 4.3 million).

Other operating income rose to EUR 13.9 million, compared with EUR 10.7 million in the previous year. This 

mainly includes EUR 7.0 million of income generated in the first half of the year from currency differences 

(previous year: EUR 2.1 million), offset by EUR 6.1 million of corresponding expenses from currency differences 

(see also the “other operating expenses” item). This item also includes the EUR 0.2 million derecognition of an 

earnout liability from the acquisition of iNDAT Robotics GmbH. The previous year’s figures include income from 

the deconsolidation of Euroroll Dipl.-Ing. K.-H. Beckmann GmbH & Co. KG (EUR 3.4 million).

In line with higher business volumes, the cost of materials rose from EUR 184.0 million to EUR 197.4 million  

(+7.3 %). These costs increased at a slightly slower rate than the total operating revenue growth rate. The cost of 

materials ratio – in relation to total operating revenue – reduced from 52.2 % to 51.6 %. This trend was affected 

positively by exploiting synergies between Group companies within the purchasing association, and resultant 

purchasing benefits.

Personnel expenses grew by 7.1 % to EUR 110.2 million (previous year: EUR 103.0 million). This increase reflects, 

among other factors, general wage and salary increases, targeted hiring in strategically important areas, the first-

time consolidation of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, as well as severance payments arising from personnel measures 

required at the altmayer operations of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG. The personnel expense ratio – in relation to 

total operating revenue – of 28.8 % was below the previous year’s level (29.2 %).

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses stood at EUR 7.5 million, compared with EUR 6.0 million in the 

previous year. This increase is due to higher investments in the previous 2014 financial year. Impairment losses 

were also required for the non-current assets of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG.

Other operating expenses increased by 17.7 % from EUR 48.2 million to EUR 56.7 million. Expenses of EUR 6.1 

million arising from currency differences incurred in the first half of the (previous year: EUR 0.7 million), due 

to the US dollar’s appreciation against the euro, were the main influencing factor here. This reflects a slight an 

expense ratio (in relation to total operating revenue) of 14.8 % (previous year: 13.7 %).
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Reflecting the sales revenue growth and the lower cost ratios, consolidated earnings before interest, tax, 

depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of EUR 32.3 million were EUR 4.3 million, or 15.4 %, significantly ahead  

of the previous year’s EUR 28.0 million.

The M.A.X. Group reports consolidated operating earnings before interest and tax (EBIT), as well as before 

amortization relating to purchase price allocations (PPA-related amortization), of EUR 24.8 million for 2015, 13.0 % 

more than in the previous year (EUR 21.9 million). The company thereby considerably exceeded its EUR 20 million 

to EUR 22 million target range. This is chiefly attributable to a strong fourth quarter, when the company issued 

final invoices for numerous projects. M.A.X. Automation also benefited from a mix of products and projects that 

proved beneficial under profitability aspects in the year under review.

The EBIT ratio – in relation to total operating revenue – improved slightly year-on-year from 6.2 % to 6.5 %. EBIT 

per share before PPA-related amortization stood at EUR 0.92, compared with EUR 0.82 in 2014.

PPA-related amortization rose to EUR 4.8 million (previous year: EUR 3.9 million), chiefly including amortization of 

hidden reserves disclosed in the acquisitions of ELWEMA Automotive GmbH and MA micro automation GmbH at 

the end of 2013, and the acquisition of iNDAT Robotics GmbH in February 2015. This item also includes im pair ment 

losses applied to hidden reserves of WasteTec GmbH, which merged with Vecoplan AG as of January 1, 2015.

Consolidated (EBIT) earnings after PPA-related amortization amounted to EUR 19.9 million, thereby EUR 1.9 million, 

or 10.8 %, above the previous year’s EUR 18.0 million.

The net interest result improved slightly from EUR –3.8 million to EUR –3.6 million (+4.0 %), including due to 

the partial reduction of financial debt. Initial effects from the realignment of the Group financing also exerted 

a positive impact during the second half of the year. Offsetting this positive effect, the net interest result was 

burdened by expenses due to the early repayment of the old syndicated loan, discounting for the purchase price 

components of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, and interest payments for tax arrears.

Consolidated earnings before tax (EBT) reached EUR 16.3 million, compared with EUR 14.2 million (+14.7 %).

The expense from income taxes rose significantly, from EUR 4.2 million in the previous year to EUR 5.7 million. 

Among other taxes, these include previous years’ income tax expenses due to tax audits, as well as a higher tax 

expense due to the good US results.

The Group reports EUR 10.6 million of net income in 2015 (2014: EUR 10.0 million; +5.7 %). This is equivalent to 

EUR 0.40 of earnings per share, after EUR 0.37 in the previous year.

2.7. Net assets

As of the December 31, 2015 reporting date, the M.A.X. Group reports EUR 283.2 million of total assets, a  

EUR 12.2 million year-on-year reduction (December 31, 2014: EUR 295.4 million).
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The Group’s non-current assets increased by a total of EUR 6.4 million, or 5.7 %, to EUR 117.5 million as of 

December 31, 2014 (December 31, 2014: EUR 111.1 million). In this context, goodwill was up by 15.5 % to 

EUR 53.1 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 46.0 million) as a result of the acquisition of iNDAT Robotics GmbH. 

Deferred tax assets edged up slightly from EUR 6.3 million to EUR 6.6 million.

Current assets reduced by EUR 18.6 million, or 10.1 %, to EUR 165.7 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 184.3 

million). Trade receivables rose by 21.7 % to EUR 99.8 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 82.0 million), with 

future receivables from construction contracts increasing by almost one half to EUR 156.1 million (December 

31, 2014: EUR 107.2 million). This reflects the good order book positions of Group companies IWM Automation 

GmbH, ELWEMA Automotive GmbH, MA micro automation GmbH, as well as Vecoplan AG. The long-term 

prepayments received that are deducted from these order book positions grew correspondingly from EUR 72.0 

million to EUR 105.8 million. Liquid assets reduced by 59.2 % to EUR 21.4 million (December 31, 2014: EUR 52.4 

million), mainly due to the targeted reduction of bank borrowings after implementing the new syndicated 

financing facility, and as a result of the acquisition of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, and the takeover of the minority 

interests in Vecoplan LLC in the USA.

In line with business volume growth, working capital grew from EUR 78.2 million in the previous year to  

EUR 85.1 million (+ EUR 6.9 million, or +8.9 %).

2.8. Financial position

The equity of the M.A.X. Group exceeded the EUR 100 million level for the first time as of December 31, 

2015, amounting to EUR 106.2 million. It was thereby EUR 6.4 million, or 6.5 %, above the level of EUR 

99.8 million as of December 31, 2014. The equity ratio has risen significantly to 37.5 %, compared with 

33.8 % as of the previous year’s reporting date (+3.7 percentage points), and consequently well above the 

targeted minimum of 30.0 %.

Non-current liabilities stood at EUR 72.2 million, 6.9 % less than at the end of 2014 (EUR 77.6 million), with 

non-current bank borrowings being reduced by 13.0 % from EUR 56.0 million to EUR 48.7 million due to 

the new syndicated loan as part of the Group’s refinancing. Deferred tax liabilities increased from EUR 15.6 

million to EUR 17.3 million, and thereby reflect, as mentioned under trade receivables, the Group’s good 

profitability (receivables arising from construction contracts).

Current liabilities totaling EUR 104.7 million as of December 31, 2015 were below their level on the 

previous year’s reporting date (EUR 118.0 million). In this context, trade payables rose from EUR 45.8 

million to EUR 54.3 million (+18.7 %), including as a result of prepayments received. Due to the new Group 

financing structure, current bank borrowings reported a marked reduction of EUR 32.0 million, or 72.2 %, 

from EUR 44.3 million to EUR 12.3 million. Current financial liabilities increased from EUR 10.9 million to 

EUR 21.4 million, partly as a result of outstanding purchase price liabilities for iNDAT Robotics GmbH. Tax 

provisions amounted to EUR 7.5 million, compared with EUR 5.6 million as of the previous year’s reporting 

date, including to a minor extent tax arrears from tax audits.



16

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Gross debt (current and non-current bank borrowings) reported a marked decline of EUR 39.2 million, or 

39.1 %, to EUR 61.1 million as of December 31, 2015 as a result of the targeted reduction due to the newly 

implemented Group financing (December 31, 2014: EUR 100.3 million).

The Group’s net debt also registered a pleasing trend, being reduced by EUR 8.2 million, or 17.2 %, from  

EUR 47.9 million to EUR 39.7 million, following on from the EUR 16.2 million reduction already achieved in 

2014. Net debt includes the acquisition of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, the takeover of all shares in Vecoplan LLC, 

the dividend payout, and investments in the new building for bdtronic GmbH.

2.9. Liquidity trends

The M.A.X. Group reports strong, positive cash flow from operating activities of EUR 29.5 million for 2015, com-

pared with EUR 17.8 million in the previous year.

Investing activities generated a EUR 15.8 million cash outflow (previous year: EUR 2.3 million), including EUR 

11.5 million of capital expenditure. This was offset by EUR 3.3 million of inflows from disposals, mainly of 

property, plant and equipment. While the previous year included EUR 7.4 million of inflow from the disposal of 

Euroroll Dipl.-Ing. K.-H. Beckmann GmbH & Co. KG, 2015 reflects an outflow of EUR 7.5 million for the acquisi-

tion of iNDAT Robotics GmbH.

The cash outflow from financing activities amounted to EUR 45.0 million (previous year: cash inflow of EUR 

10.3 million). This includes the approximately EUR 40.0 million reduction in bank borrowings following the 

restructuring of the Group financing, the EUR 4.0 million dividend payout for the 2014 financial year, and the 

USD 2.0 million spent on acquiring the minority interests in Vecoplan LLC.

The total cash flows generated the targeted reduction in cash and cash equivalents to a level of EUR 21.4 mil-

lion as of the end of the 2015 reporting period, compared with EUR 52.4 million at the start of the reporting 

period.

2.10. Segment reporting

Through its specialized Group companies, M.A.X. Automation AG serves demand for components and systems 

solutions for efficient and flexible automation in various sectors.

In the Industrial Automation segment, the products of the M.A.X. Automation companies enable the realization of 

particularly efficient and precise production processes for its customers from key sectors such as the automotive 

industry, medical technology, electronics and packaging automation. As reliable and expert partners, they enable 

their customers to constantly adapt their products to changing market requirements. The subsidiaries render 

various services in this context, such as developing and producing comprehensive assembly systems, including 

integrated robotic solutions, as well as in increasingly important micro assembly of complex and high precision 

components.

In the Environmental Technology segment, the Group companies develop machines and systems with their special 

expertise that contribute to the sustainable utilization of finite raw materials. This entails the reprocessing of raw 

and residual materials to be returned into the material cycle, or as replacement fuels for energy utilization. In 
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this segment, the Vecoplan Group develops and produces products and services and for its customers enabling 

the adherence to more stringent emission protection requirements across the globe. 

2.10.1. Industrial Automation segment

The Industrial Automation segment registered gratifying business progress overall in 2015. Growth reflected 

continued high demand for comprehensive automation solutions and related services, which enabled the 

Group companies to expand relationships with existing customers and acquire new customers, including from 

the automotive and medical technology sectors. 

Along with further developing the operating businesses, the Group companies focused on optimizing cor-

porate structures, and on structuring internal processes to make them as efficient and customer-oriented as 

possible.

NSM Magnettechnik GmbH acquired iNDAT Robotics GmbH in February 2015, a specialist in robotic and manu-

facturing automation whose solutions are deployed particularly at renowned automotive manufacturers and 

suppliers. The acquisition enables NSM Magnettechnik to offer its automotive industry customers software 

applications and comprehensive plant systems, including robotic solutions. Given growing demand for high 

performance robotic solutions, synergies also arose with other Industrial Automation segment companies.

Group company IWM Automation GmbH registered successful business progress over the course of the finan-

cial year, both at its main base in Porta Westfalica and at the Chorzów production site in Poland: IWM Automa-

tion Polska Sp. z o.o. almost doubled its sales revenue.

Following the closure of its Garbsen site near Hannover in 2014, Group company bdtronic GmbH focused on its 

main location in Weikersheim, raising efficiency and saving costs in the year under review as a consequence. 

This was connected with an expansion of production space: work commenced in early 2015 on building a 

production hall and an administration building. The new building is to be completed in spring 2016.

Group company Rohwedder Micro Assembly GmbH has operated under the new corporate name of MA micro 

automation GmbH since February 2015, with this renaming completing its strategic realignment process. Its 

range of products and services had already been aligned increasingly to micro automation over the past years, 

with technical core competences in actuators, sensors and optical systems. The automation specialist concen-

trates on three business areas in this context: ma automotive (automation of manufacturing of driver assis-

tance systems, precision plug connections, and sensor technology in the automotive industry), ma meditec 

(assembly systems for medical devices in the medical technology industry), and ma optronic (testing systems 

for industrial image processing, including for camera and optic systems).

MA micro automation GmbH created a clear Industry 4.0 concept with its data goggles in 2015 (Augmented 

Automation). The aim is to optimize processes in the service and maintenance area (“man-machine interface”). 

This product represents an important USP vis-à-vis the company’s competitors. In addition, with the comple-

tion of a base cell for safe and flexible production in medical technology, the company has created a founda-

tion for targeted further development in the ma meditec business area.
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Industrial Automation segment key figures

The Industrial Automation segment grew its consolidated new order intake by EUR 20.0 million, or 9.3 %, 

to EUR 236.3 million in the 2015 financial year (previous year: EUR 216.3 million). Group company ELWEMA 

Automotive GmbH registered particularly dynamic new order intake growth.

The order book position in the Industrial Automation segment stood at EUR 103.1 million as of December 31, 

2015, down marginally on the previous year’s level (EUR 103.9 million; -0.7 %). The segment’s book-to-bill 

ratio improved slightly to 0.94 as of December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: 0.91).

Segment revenue amounted to EUR 252.0 million, EUR 15.1 million, or 6.4 %, above the previous year’s 

EUR 236.9 million. In this context, the segment succeeded in offsetting the declining sales revenue trend 

during the first of the year, which was due to temporarily low utilization, through starting up new projects 

in the second half of the year. IWM Automation GmbH, bdtronic GmbH and MA micro automation GmbH 

made a particular contribution to the sales revenue growth. Of the segment revenue, around 52.2 % was 

attributable to exports, compared with 55.9 % in the previous year (–3.7 percentage points).

EBITDA amounted to EUR 30.1 million, a considerable improvement on the previous year’s EUR 21.1 million 

(+43.3 %).

Segment operating earnings before interest and tax (EBIT), as well as before PPA-related amortization also 

grew significantly faster than the topline growth rate, increasing by 46.4 % to EUR 26.4 million (previous 

year: EUR 18.0 million). The EBIT ratio – in relation to total operating revenue – improved by 2.9 percentage 

points year-on-year to 10.5 %.

Segment earnings after PPA-related amortization reached EUR 22.1 million, 52.5 % more than in the 

previous year (EUR 14.5 million).

The number of employees in the Industrial Automation segment stood at 1,046 individuals on a year-

average basis in 2015 (excluding trainees). The segment employed an average of 1,001 staff in the previous 

year (+45 individuals).

Industrial Automation segment key figures

2015
EUR mill.

2014
EUR mill.

change  
in %

New order intake 236.3 216.3 9.3

Order book position1 103.1 103.9 –0.7

Segment revenue 252.0 236.9 6.4

– of which from abroad 131.4 132.4 –0.8

EBITDA 30.1 21.1 43.3

Segment EBIT before PPA-related amortization 26.4 18.0 46.4

Segment EBIT after PPA-related amortization 22.1 14.5 52.5

Employees (number)2 1,046 1,001 4.5
1 As of December 31
2 Annual average excluding trainees
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2.10.2. Environmental Technology

The Environmental Technology segment, which comprised the Vecoplan Group and altmayerBTD GmbH 

& Co. KG in the 2015 financial year, registered gratifying business progress overall, albeit with somewhat 

abating dynamics during the second half of the year. This development reflected the marked progress that 

Vecoplan achieved. The takeover of the remaining 20 % minority interest in the US subsidiary Vecoplan 

LLC also contributed in this context, with the company’s full integration enabling more direct operative 

management of the North America business. 

Since targeting the further development of its range of products and services over the past years, Vecoplan 

has operated as an international system supplier, with corresponding opportunities to acquire complex 

major orders. The company nevertheless also focuses on business with individual plants and components, 

as the awarding of orders in the system business exhibits higher volatility and correspondingly lower 

planning security.

In its timber division, Vecoplan signed a major order in the USA with Europe’s largest pellet manufacturer 

in 2015, subsequently focusing on executing the follow-up order. The customer has been in provisional 

insolvency proceedings since early 2016. No information is currently available concerning the customer’s 

future. Receivables of EUR 6.9 million exist arising from a contract for works, whereby the products have 

not yet been delivered. These receivables are offset by EUR 4.9 million of prepayments received, as well as 

collateral in the form of a land charge. A major order was also realized in the USA in the waste materials 

processing area.

Operational parts of Group company altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG were sold in December 2015 as part 

of a structured disposal process, as announced. With these transactions, M.A.X. Automation concluded 

its focusing on its core areas of Industrial Automation and Environmental Technology. The disposal of the 

BTD operations (container technology) and altmayer operations (bulk materials plants) occurred as part of 

asset deals by way of two management buyouts with effect as of December 31, 2015. Taking necessary 

write-downs and provisions for personnel measures into account, these disposals resulted in a disposal loss 

amounting to around EUR 2.2 million in total. This is offset by a hidden reserve arising from the property at 

the site of the BTD operation in Dettenhausen, which continues to be held by the M.A.X. Group as an asset.

Environmental Technology segment key figures

The Environmental Technology segment recorded EUR 127.4 million of consolidated new order intake in the 

2015 financial year, 3.5 % more than in the previous year (EUR 123.0 million). This growth is partly due to 

the fact that the Vecoplan Group received a major order to construct a plant for the generation of alterna-

tive energies in Reno, Nevada, USA.

The order book position amounted to EUR 32.1 million as of December 31, 2015, thereby EUR 7.2 million, or 

18.4 %, below the level on the previous year’s reporting date (December 31, 2014: EUR 39.3 million). The 

reduction reflects progress made in processing construction orders that have already been recognized as 

sales revenues, and the derecognition of the order book position of the divested operations of altmayerBTD 

GmbH & Co. KG. The book-to-bill ratio stood at 0.96 on December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014: 1.07).
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Segment sales revenue reported significant growth of EUR 17.2 million, or 15.0 %, to a level of EUR 132.1 

million (previous year: EUR 114.9 million). The export share stood at 79.8 % (previous year: 75.9 %). Sales 

revenue growth reflected not only a tangible increase in North American business, but also reticence to 

invest in Russia.

EBITDA fell by 12.1 %, from EUR 5.7 million to EUR 5.0 million.

Segment operating earnings before interest and tax (EBIT), and before PPA-related amortization, amounted 

to EUR 1.5 million, compared with EUR 2.7 million in 2014 (–45.2 %). The reasons for this reduction include 

the loss incurred on operating activities, as well as the loss on the disposal of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG. 

The EBIT margin – in relation to total operating revenue – fell to 1.1 % (previous year: 2.4 %; –1.3 percentage 

points).

Segment EBIT after PPA-related amortization amounted to EUR 1.1 million (previous year: EUR 2.5 million).

In its Environmental Technology segment, the M.A.X. Group employed an average of 510 staff in 2015  

(excluding trainees), 22 individuals fewer than in the previous year (532).

Environmental Technology segment key figures

2015
EUR mill.

2014
EUR mill.

Change  
in %

New order intake 127.4 123.0 3.5

Order book position1 32.1 39.3 –18.4

Segment revenue 132.1 114.9 15.0

– of which from abroad 105.4 87.2 20.9

EBITDA 5.0 5.7 –12.1

Segment EBIT before PPA-related amortization 1.5 2.7 –45.2

Segment EBIT after PPA-related amortization 1.2 2.5 –55.0

Employees (number)2 510 532 –4.1
1 As of December 31
2 Annual average excluding trainees

2.11. Change in financial performance indicators

In 2015, the M.A.X. Group reported the following changes to key indicators that are applied as financial  

performance indicators.
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2015
EUR mill.

2014
EUR mill.

Change  
in %

New order intake 363.7 339.3 7.2

Order book position1 135.2 143.1 –5.6

Working capital 85.1 78.2 8.9

Revenue 383.8 351.4 9.2

EBITDA 32.3 28.0 15.4

EBIT before PPA-related amortization 24.8 21.9 13.0

EBIT after PPA-related amortization 19.9 18.0 10.8

Return on sales (as % of total operating revenue,  
before PPA-related amortization)

6.5  6.2 0.3 
(% points)

Equity ratio (in %) 37.5 33.8 3.7  
(% points)

Workforce headcount 1,711 1,719 –0.5

 – of which trainees 149 159 –6.3

Workforce headcount (weighted average) 1,705 1,681 1.4

 – of which trainees 144 144 0

1 As of December 31

Non-financial performance indicators are not utilized for internal Group steering. For the forecast horizon, 

primary recourse is made to relevant indicators from the statement of comprehensive income.

3. M.A.X. Automation AG

The annual financial statements of M.A.X. Automation AG are prepared according to the provisions of the  

German Commercial Code (HGB).

3.1. Results of operations and application of earnings

The results of operations of M.A.X. Automation AG depend to a high degree on the trend in its subsidiaries’ 

earnings. Domination and profit transfer agreements were concluded in 2008 with four Industrial 

Automation subsidiaries. Dividend payments from the other participating interest to the parent company 

occur depending on their results, and take the subsidiaries’ future investment requirements into account.

Section 2.10 (Segment reporting) describes the trends in the subsidiaries’ results of operations. 

In the 2015 financial year, M.A.X. Automation AG reports EUR 18.4 million of income from participating  

interests (previous year: EUR 15.3 million), arising from the subsidiaries’ profit transfers.

Other operating income stood at EUR 0.8 million (previous year: EUR 0.6 million), comprising mainly Group 

charges to the subsidiaries.

The net financial result includes the EUR 3.0 million impairment loss applied to the carrying amount of the 

interest in altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG due to current losses and after disposing of the operations. The 

previous year includes EUR 4.5 million of income from the divestiture of Euroroll Dipl.- Ing. K.-H. Beckmann 

GmbH & Co. KG.



22

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The net interest result improved year-on-year from EUR –1.0 million to EUR –0,7 million, and mainly includes 

expenses for the syndicated loan. 

The company reports a result from ordinary activities of EUR 11.7 million, compared with EUR 16.4 million in 

the previous year. The tax expense amounts to EUR 2.9 million (previous year: EUR 3.6 million).

Net income for the year stands at EUR 8.8 million (previous year: EUR 12.8 million). An amount of EUR 4.0 

million was paid out in dividends from the previous year’s unappropriated retained earnings.

The Management and Supervisory boards propose distributing a dividend of 0.15 euro per share for the 

2015 financial year from the unappropriated retained earnings.

3.2. Net assets and financial position

The total assets of M.A.X. Automation AG amounted to EUR 145.8 million on the December 31, 2015 balance 

sheet date. This represents a EUR 9.1 million increase compared with the previous year’s reporting date  

(EUR 136.7 million).

Receivables and other assets rose from EUR 18.7 million to EUR 47.2 million, and include EUR 27.8 million 

of receivables due from subsidiaries arising from assuming Group financing as part of restructuring the 

syndicated loan. Liquid assets were reduced to EUR 3.8 million in this connection in order to realize future 

interest savings (previous year: EUR 20.8 million).

M.A.X. Automation AG reports EUR 87,5 million of equity as of December 31, 2015 (previous year:  

EUR 82,7 million). The equity ratio stood at 60.0 % (December 31, 2014: 60.5 %).

Bank borrowings were down from EUR 48.2 million in the previous year to EUR 43.0 million as of  

December 31, 2015.

The financial position and performance of M.A.X. Automation AG are in an orderly condition.

4. Investments

The M.A.X. Group invested EUR 21.3 million in non-current assets in the 2015 financial year, compared with  

EUR 11.4 million in 2014 (+86.4 %). Investments in the year under review mainly comprise the acquisition of 

iNDAT Robotics GmbH, as well as the new building for bdtronic GmbH.

The segment report in this annual report provides more detailed information about investments in the operating 

segments.
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5. Personnel report

As in previous years, M.A.X. Automation Group companies operated in 2015 according to the principle of 

expanding the workforce in an appropriate manner – where demand necessitated – and only after exhausting 

other options.

Employees of the Group companies and of the holding company represent an essential resource for the suc-

cess and profitability of the company’s business. As a consequence, M.A.X. Automation pursues the strategy 

of offering its expert and committed employees comprehensive opportunities to further develop themselves 

personally, professionally and technically. This includes not only fostering individual development in a targeted 

manner, but also the acquisition of international experience. Group personnel work is also focused on high 

training standards and the long-term loyalization of committed employees.

The Group employed a total of 1,649 staff, including trainees, as of the December 31, 2015 reporting date (De-

cember 31, 2014: 1,640 staff; +9 individuals). The average number of employees, including trainees, increased 

by 24 individuals, or 1.4 %, from 1,681 to 1,705. The numbers cited for the financial year under review include 

the employees of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, which was acquired in February 2015. The previous year’s compara-

ble figures still include the employees of Group company Euroroll Dipl.-Ing. K.-H. Beckmann GmbH & Co. KG, 

which was sold in December 2014.

By heads, in other words, excluding full-time and part-time employees, the M.A.X. Group employed 1,711  

staff as of December 31, 2015 (previous year’s reporting date: 1,719 staff; –8 individuals).

6. Environmental protection

The M.A.X. Group regards the protection of the environment and the associated sparing utilization of 

resources, as a significant element of its corporate culture. The company fully complies at all times with  

all statutory environmental protection regulations in its respective markets.

Compliance with, and further development of, in-house environmental protection standards is also of key 

importance for the Group companies. Examples of related areas include waste avoidance and disposal, 

emission protection, noise avoidance, and the sparing deployment of resources.

The M.A.X. Group continued to pay particular attention to the responsible and prudent utilization of resources 

in 2015. The operating activities of the M.A.X. Automation Group placed no extraordinary burdens on the 

environment in the year under review.

An energy audit was also conducted at selected M.A.X. Group sites in 2015. This entailed investigating the 

Group’s energy approach and energy consumption, including of plants, buildings and systems, in order to 

create a basis for improving energy efficiency (energy audit as per DIN EN 1627-1). The audit showed that the 

Group complies with all statutory guidelines, and that the technical energy measures that it has implemented 

have resulted in reduced consumption. In future too, M.A.X. Automation will continue to pursue the objective 

of expanding energy efficiency based on appropriate measures.
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7. Report on events after the balance sheet date

7.1. Daniel Fink becomes new CEO of M.A.X. Automation AG 

On February 5, 2016, M.A.X. Automation AG announced that the company’s Supervisory Board had appointed 

Mr. Daniel Fink as the company’s Chief Executive Officer with effect as of April 1, 2016. Mr. Fink, who draws on 

many years of management experience in various industrial sectors as well as extensive international experi-

ence, manages the business of M.A.X. Automation together with Chief Financial Officer (CFO) Fabian Spilker. 

Daniel Fink, who has been appointed for three years, succeeds Management Board Spokesman Bernd Priske, 

who stepped down from the Management Board in March 2015.

7.2. Europe’s largest pellet manufacturer and M.A.X. Group customer files for insolvency 

In early February 2016, M.A.X. Automation learned of the insolvency application by Europe’s largest pellet manu-

facturer, a M.A.X. Group customer in its Environmental Technology segment. A contract for work exists with one 

of this customer’s subsidiaries in the USA. This subsidiary had also filed for insolvency under US law. Receivables 

of EUR 6.9 million exist arising from the contract for works, where the products have not yet been delivered. 

These receivables are offset by EUR 4.9 million of prepayments received, as well as collateral in the form of a 

land charge. According to information provided by our lawyers, it is highly unlikely that we will be required to 

return the prepayments that we received. Due to the present status of the insolvency proceedings, it is currently 

impossible to gage the extent to which the related collateral has retained its value. If the contract for works is 

not continued, the M.A.X. Group is contractually entitled to claim for compensation. Based on our knowledge at 

the current time, we assume that this process will have no significant negative effects on the Group.

8. Disclosures pursuant to Section 315 (4) and Section 289 (4) of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) (including: Explanatory report by the Management Board Pursuant to Section 176 
(1) Clause 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act [AktG])

Pursuant to Section 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), parent companies that are stock ex-

change-listed are obligated to disclose in the Group management report information of relevance to corporate 

takeovers, such as the composition of capital, shareholder rights and shareholder right limitations, shareholder 

relationships, and corporate governing bodies. The disclosures relate to the implementation of Regulation 

2004/25 EC of the European Parliament and Council of April 21, 2004, concerning takeover offers.

Companies whose voting-right-entitled equities are listed on an organized market in the meaning of Section 2 

(7) of the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act (WpÜG) must make such disclosures irrespective of 

whether a takeover offer has been submitted, or is expected. These disclosures are designed to allow poten-

tial bidders to gain an extensive view of the company, and alert them to any potential obstacles to takeover.

Pursuant to Section 176 (1) Clause 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Management Board is 

also obligated to present an explanatory report relating to the disclosures to the Shareholders’ General Meet-

ing. The disclosures pursuant to Section 315 (4) and Section 289 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) are 

summarized below together with the related explanations pursuant to Section 176 (1) Clause 1 of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG).
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a) Composition of subscribed share capital

The subscribed share capital of M.A.X. Automation AG of EUR 26,794,415 is composed of 26,794,415 no par 

value ordinary bearer shares, each of which grants the same rights and, in particular, the same voting rights. 

No differing classes of equity exist. One ordinary share has a notional share in the issued share capital of EUR 

1.00. The company currently holds no treasury shares. M.A.X. Automation AG is listed on the stock market. As 

of April 1, 2015, the share of M.A.X. Automation AG switched from the General Standard segment to the Prime 

Standard segment of Deutsche Börse AG.

b) Voting right and transfer restrictions

The Management Board is aware of no restrictions relating to voting rights or the transfer of shares.

c) Shareholdings exceeding 10 % of equity

According to the knowledge of the Management Board, and on the basis of disclosures submitted to the com-

pany in accordance with securities trading law and securities takeover law, one direct or indirect investment 

in the issued share capital of M.A.X. Automation AG exists that exceeds 10 % of the voting rights. This relates 

to Orpheus Capital II GmbH & Co. KG, which holds 31.44 % of the shares in M.A.X. Automation AG (status as of 

January 8, 2016). Pursuant to Section 22 (1) Clause 1 Number 1 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), 

the voting rights are to be attributed to Mr. Oliver Jaster via Günther GmbH, Bamberg, Günther Holding GmbH, 

Hamburg, and Orpheus Capital II Management GmbH, Hamburg. 

Further details relating to this matter can be found in the overview contained in the notes to the financial 

statements under the item “Shareholdings requiring mandatory reporting pursuant to Section 160 (1) No. 8 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)”.

d) Shares with special rights

No shares exist with special rights granting authorizations of control.

e) Voting right controls in the case of employee participation

The Management Board is not aware of employees who participate in the company’s equity who do not 

directly exercise their rights of control.

f)  Nomination and recall from office of Management Board members, and changes to the articles of 
incorporation

The Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG consists of one or several persons, irrespective of the level 

of share capital. Pursuant to the articles of incorporation, the Supervisory Board determines the number of 

Management Board members. Management Board members are nominated and recalled pursuant to the 

statutory provisions of Sections 84 and 85 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). With the exception of 

the court nomination of replacements, the Supervisory Board has sole responsibility for the nomination and 

recall of Management Board members.

It appoints Management Board members for a maximum period of five years. Repeated appointments or 

extensions of periods of office are permitted, in each case for a maximum of five years. The Supervisory Board 

is permitted to appoint a chairperson and a deputy chairperson of the Management Board.
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In keeping with the regulations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the maximum possible period 

of appointment of five years is not the rule in the case of first-time appointments.

By way of divergence from Section 179 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and pursuant 

to Section 17 (1) of the articles of incorporation, amendments to the articles of incorporation of M.A.X. 

Automation AG require a resolution of the Annual General Meeting with solely a simple majority of votes,  

to the extent that neither statutory requirements nor the articles of incorporation prescribe otherwise. If  

the entire share capital is not represented at the AGM, it is conceivable that a shareholder with a voting 

rights interest below 50 % could implement amendments to the articles of incorporation with its own 

votes. Pursuant to Section 17 (2) of the articles of incorporation, the Supervisory Board is authorized to 

make amendments to the articles of incorporation that relate solely to wording. In all other matters, the 

statutory provisions of Sections 179 and 133 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) apply.

g) Authorizations of the Management Board to issue shares and profit-sharing rights

Pursuant to Section 5 (6) of the company’s articles of incorporation dated June 30, 2015, the Management 

Board is authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to increase the company’s share capital in the period 

until June 29, 2020, once or on several occasions, by a total of up to EUR 4,019,000.00 through issuing new 

voting-entitled ordinary bearer shares against cash capital contributions (“Approved Capital I”). The new 

shares are to be offered to shareholders for subscription, whereby indirect subscription rights in the mean-

ing of Section 186 (5) Clause 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) are satisfactory. The Manage-

ment Board is nevertheless authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to exclude fractional amounts from 

shareholders’ subscription rights. The Management Board is also authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, 

to determine a commencement of dividend-entitlement that differs from the law, as well as further specif-

ics of the implementation of capital increases from Approved Capital I. The Supervisory Board is authorized 

to adapt the wording of the articles of incorporation after the full or partial implementation of the increase 

of share capital from Approved Capital I, or after the expiry the authorization period, in accordance with the 

scope of the capital increase from Approved Capital I.

Pursuant to Section 5 (7) of the articles of incorporation in the version dated June 30, 2015, the Manage-

ment Board is authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to increase the company’s share capital once or 

on several occasions during the period until June 29, 2020, by up to a total of EUR 2,665,000.00 against cash 

or non-cash capital contributions through issuing new ordinary bearer shares (with voting rights) (Approved 

Capital II). Shareholders’ statutory subscription rights can be satisfied by indirect subscription rights in the 

meaning of Section 186 (5) Clause 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) The Management Board 

is additionally authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude statutory shareholder 

subscription rights in the following instances:

• for fractional amounts;

•  if the capital increase occurs against cash capital contributions, and the total proportional amount of the 

share capital attributable to the new shares for which subscription rights are excluded does not exceed 

either 10 % of the share capital existing as of June 30, 2015, nor 10 % of the share capital on the date of 

the registration of the authorization, nor 10 % of the share capital existing on the date when the company’s 
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new shares are issued, and the issue amount of the new shares is not significantly less in the meaning of 

Sections 203 (1) and (2), 186 (3) Clause 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) than the stock market 

price of the already listed shares; in calculating the 10 % limit, the proportional amount of the share capital 

is to be deducted that is attributable to the new or repurchased shares that are issued or sold since June 30, 

2015 under simplified exclusion of subscription rights pursuant, or corresponding, to Section 186 (3) Clause 4 

of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), as well as the proportional amount of the share capital to which 

conversion or option rights or obligations arising from bonds relate, which have been issued since June 30, 

2015 in analogous application of Section 186 (3) Clause 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG);

•  in the case of capital increases against non-cash capital contributions, in order to grant shares as part of 

mergers with other companies or the acquisition of companies, parts of companies, or interests in companies, 

or other assets that can comprise capital contributions.

The Management Board is also authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to determine a commencement 

of dividend-entitlement that differs from the law, as well as further specifics of the implementation of capital 

increases from Approved Capital II. The Supervisory Board is authorized to adapt the wording of the articles 

of incorporation after the full or partial implementation of the increase of share capital from Approved Capital 

II, or after the expiry the authorization period, in accordance with the scope of the capital increase from Ap-

proved Capital II.

The company has not utilized these authorizations to date.

h) Key company agreements with change-of-control clauses

M.A.X. Automation AG is currently involved as a borrower in a syndicated loan facility where a change of 

control would require the owed amounts to be repaid. A change of control presupposes that an individual 

or group of individuals acting jointly directly or indirectly acquires 50 % of the shares of voting rights in 

M.A.X. Automation AG; please refer to the information in section 4.2 (17) of the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements concerning the utilization of this loan. The company has entered into no other significant 

agreements that are subject to a change of control condition arising from a takeover offer.

i) Compensation agreements for a change of control

The company has entered into no agreements with either Management Board members or employees entail-

ing the payment of compensation in the instance of a takeover offer.

9. Corporate governance statement (Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB))

In March 2016, the Management Board issued the corporate governance statement required pursuant  

to Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and made it available on the Internet at the link  

www.maxautomation.de/investor-relations/corporate-governance/download-dokumente/. The company 

has also published a corporate governance report in connection with the corporate governance statement. 

The corporate governance report is included within the 2015 Annual Report.
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10. Report on board members’ compensation

10.1. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

Along with reimbursement of its outlays, the Supervisory Board Chairman receives EUR 120,000, the Deputy 

Supervisory Board Chairman receives EUR 60,000, and the remaining Supervisory Board members receive EUR 

40,000, after the end of the financial year.

TEUR Basic compensation Consultancy services Total

Gerhard Lerch 144 (15) 0  (140) 144 (155)

Dr. Jens Kruse 60   (4) 0     (4) 60     (8)

Oliver Jaster 40 (12) 0     (0) 40   (12)

Hans W. Bönninghausen 0 (17) 0   (38) 0   (55)

Mr. Bönninghausen stepped down from the Supervisory Board in September 2014.

Dr. Kruse was granted an advance of TEUR 30 at 1.4 % p.a. interest.

The list above includes fixed compensation for the Supervisory Board mandates of Vecoplan AG for Mr. Lerch 

in an amount of TEUR 24.

10.2. Remuneration of the Management Board

The Management Board in the 2015 financial year initially consisted of two individuals until March 27, 2015, 

and subsequently of one individual.

The compensation scheme of M.A.X. Automation AG is based on the principle of orientation to performance 

and earnings, reflecting a corporate culture of performance and reward. The Management Board’s total com-

pensation comprises fixed and performance-related components.

Criteria for the appropriateness of compensation include, in particular, the tasks and responsibilities incumbent 

upon the Management Board member, his or her personal performance, the economic and business situation, 

the company’s success, profitability and future prospects taking into account the market environment and the 

standard nature of the level of compensation and the compensation structure measured against the wage 

and salary structure within the company, as well as other companies of comparable dimension and sector. 

The compensation structure is based on sustainable corporate development. The variable compensation 

components included in the Management Board employment contracts have also comprised a multi-year 

measurement basis since 2012, and contain regulations whereby an appropriate reduction of compensation is 

permissible if the company situation deteriorates to the extent that continued granting of compensation would 

be inappropriate. Management Board compensation includes a cap. No stock options were granted.

The fixed compensation components consist of a fixed salary and benefits in kind. The performance-based 

variable compensation is based on the consolidated net income for the year, in other words, consolidated 

earnings after tax.
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The Management Board members’ employment contracts include for the 2015 financial year no commitments 

for the instance of the early termination of Management Board activity, and for the instance of the termina-

tion of Management Board activity due to a change of control.

The following amounts were granted to the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG in the 2015 financial 

year:

in TEUR

Bernd Priske 
Management Board Spokesman 

stepped down as of March 27, 2015

2014 2015
2015  
(min)

2015  
(max)

Fixed compensation 220 55 55 55

Ancillary benefits 29 7 7 7

Total 249 62 62 62

One-year variable compensation 251 69 69 69

Multi-year variable compensation 0 0 n.a. n.a.

Total 500 131 131 131

Pension expense 20 0 0 0

Total compensation 520 131 131 131

in TEUR

Fabian Spilker 
Management Board member 

Sole Management Board member from March 28, 2015

2014 2015
2015  
(min)

2015  
(max)

Fixed compensation 170 170 170 170

Ancillary benefits 16 24 24 24

Total 186 194 194 194

One-year variable compensation 150 199 0 230

Multi-year variable compensation

Tranche 2014–2016 0 0 0 300

Total 336 393 194 724

Pension expense 0 0 0 0

Total compensation 336 393 194 918
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The following amounts were granted to the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG in the 2015 financial 

year:

The following amounts were granted to the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG in the 2015 financial 

year:

in TEUR

Bernd Priske,  
Management Board  

Spokesman, stepped down 
as of March 27, 2015

Fabian Spilker,  
Management Board  

member from  
March 28, 2015

Sole Management  
Board member

2014 2015 2014 2015 

Fixed compensation 220 55 170 170

Ancillary benefits 29 7 16 24

Total 249 62 186 194

One-year variable compensation 259 319 25 200

Multi-year variable compensation

Tranche 2014–2016 0 0 0 0

Total 508 381 211 394

Pension expense 0 0 0 0

Total compensation 508 381 211 394

Other Management Board compensation includes incidental benefits in the form of benefits in kind, primarily 

company car use. Company car use is taxable as a compensation component for the individual Management 

Board member. Compensation arising from directors and officers insurance for the Management Board is not 

measurable as this relates to group insurance comprising a number of staff members.

11. Risk report 

11.1. Risk management and internal controlling system

Along with the timely identification and management of risk, the management of opportunities and risks 

within the M.A.X. Group also serves the targeted appraisal and realization of existing and future earnings 

potentials. Risk management forms an integral element of value-oriented corporate management for the 

Group.

The Management Board in 2000 introduced a risk management system within the Group that complies with 

the German Act concerning Corporate Control and Transparency (KonTraG). This allows potential risks to be 

identified promptly, and countermeasures to be introduced at M.A.X. Automation AG as the parent company as 

well as at its subsidiaries. The risk management system was revised fundamentally in 2009, and its processes 

are being optimized further continuously.

The risk management system is based on a systematic process of risk identification, evaluation, and 

management that comprises the entire Group. The risk management system is based on the principle of 

securing medium and long-term corporate objectives, particularly the preservation and expansion of the 

company’s market position within the sector. The primary goal is to identify value and risk drivers through 

comprehensive and appropriate management of opportunities and risks, and to handle them appropriately.

The risk management system consists of different components: A set of tools to record and manage risks that 

jeopardize the company’s position as a going concern consists of various IT-supported matrices that are built 
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up in steps. The aim is to manage risk on the basis of risk-identification and risk-evaluation. Risks are identified, 

their significance for the company is determined, a quantitative risk factor is calculated, and a schedule of 

fixed measures to control the risk is formulated. The system is completed by a list of risk examples, as well as 

a set of guidelines for using the electronic file. The reporting interval for subsidiaries to the parent company is 

set to the quarter-end, and the reports are relayed by data transfer.

The reporting system represents a key component of the internal controlling system, which M.A.X. Automation 

AG constantly further develops as part of value-oriented reporting.

The accounting handbook of M.A.X. Automation AG has been made accessible to all companies in order to 

ensure that accounting relating topics are treated and measured on a uniform basis. The accounting handbook 

is updated regularly.

The M.A.X. Group has worked on a standard basis with LucaNet consolidation software since mid-2008, which 

is also utilized to prepare medium-term planning across the Group.

The subsidiaries report monthly to the parent company on business progress for the last relevant month and 

current financial year. This process is supplemented at least every quarter by rolling quarterly planning.

All reports undergo a critical target/actual analysis. An additional management report comments on diver-

gences from budget, provides information about measures designed to meet the budget, progress during the 

current reporting month, and other significant key topics such as market and competitive conditions, invest-

ments, financing, and legal matters. The report is supplemented by verbal explanations.

Risk management was extended in 2007 to include information about risks pertaining to financial instruments 

pursuant to IFRS 7. This reporting occurs in a half-yearly cycle.

The Management Board also conducts regular conversations with the subsidiaries’ board members and 

managing directors, in order to compare business progress with budgets, and, if required, to introduce 

measures aimed at fulfilling budgets.

The strategic corporate planning represents a key component of the risk management system. As part of this, 

the managing directors and board members of the subsidiaries present the current progress of business at the 

end of each financial year, and explain ongoing corporate strategy. The corporate strategy, and the three-year 

plans for business trends, investments and liquidity trends that are based on it, form the basis of the discus-

sions. The strategic corporate planning helps to identify and appraise potential opportunities and risks long 

before significant business decisions.

The creation of a new controlling concept was launched in 2011, which supports the subsidiaries’ management 

teams in implementing Group objectives. The new controlling concept was implemented across the Group 

in the following year. The primary aim of M.A.X. Automation AG is the profitable further development of its 

individual subsidiaries, while employing its capital efficiently.
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The Group’s processes are improved continuously, and standardized if possible. This has been reflected in a 

standard contract manual since 2012, and a standard financing concept since 2015, for example. Telephone 

discussions about business trends, strategy and synergy utilization, and meetings between operational 

managing directors and the Management and Supervisory boards are also held regularly in order to discuss 

Group-relevant topics such as the utilization of synergies, and operational business management measures.

The rules of internal procedure of the subsidiaries, or relevant management employment contracts, set out the 

rules of business. These require the approval of the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG.

Managers supervise the individual functional areas in the subsidiaries. Our auditors also regularly audit the 

internal controlling system within our companies.

By way of conclusion, it should be noted that neither the risk management system nor the internal controlling 

system can provide absolute security: also when utilized with the requisite care, the installation of appropriate 

systems can be prone to error as a matter of principle.

11.2. Risks

The following individual key risk areas arise for the M.A.X. Group:

•  Economic Risks: The prospects for the global economy in 2016 are generally positive. The International 

Monetary Fund (IMF) nevertheless makes reference to numerous negative factors, including slower 

economic growth in emerging economies and only slight recovery in industrialized nations. Negative ef-

fects can also arise from the so-called refugee crisis in Europe – in other words, migration especially as a 

consequence of the civil war in Syria – the United Kingdom’s referendum referendum on its possible exit 

from the European Union in June 2016, and other uncertainties about Eurozone stability. Prospects for the 

mechanical engineering sector are subdued: The VDMA sector association forecasts stagnating production 

for its member companies. By contrast, the VDMA’s Specialist Waste and Recycling Technology Association 

reports on optimistic sentiment for 2016 among its membership. 

 

Given an expected positive trend on world markets, securing materials availability as well as the materi-

als prices for the M.A.X. Group companies can gain significance. Higher input prices could result in lower 

margins. Bottlenecks at suppliers could feed through to missed deadlines and contractual penalties. 

 

If the economy were to weaken, however, it could have negative effects on Group companies’ order book 

positions. This applies particularly to a longer-term downtrend on global markets. In this context, waning 

demand for the companies’ products and services would exert a negative impact on the profitability of 

M.A.X. Automation AG and the Group. The automotive business and its cycles are of particular significance 

for Group companies’ trends in the Industrial Automation segment. For this reason, these companies have 

expanded their operating activities to several business areas in order to counteract dependency on the 

automotive industry.

•  Currency and interest rate risks: Exchange-rate risks require attention with respect to business operations 

in the US, and the tapping of new markets outside the Eurozone. Forward foreign-exchange sales, cur-
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rency options, and interest-rate caps are utilized to a minor extent to hedge currency and interest-rate risks. 

Market-price risks may result from forward foreign-exchange sales if the related agreements require that 

currencies be sold on the settlement date at a rate below the spot market rate. The market price risk in the 

instance of options is limited to the option premium paid. Counterparty default risk is limited by the fact that 

transactions are concluded exclusively with renowned banks. Market liquidity risks are limited to the extent 

that transactions are agreed exclusively on normal market terms.

•  Personnel risks M.A.X. Automation AG and its subsidiaries require qualified technical and managerial staff 

in order to realize their strategic and operating objectives. Qualified industrial education and further training 

are provided in order to secure employees’ specialist expertise. Variable remuneration components that are 

measured against our profitability are intended to promote entrepreneurial thinking and activity on the part 

of our staff. 

 

The recruitment of qualified personnel was hampered by the very low unemployment rate in Germany. For 

this reason, the M.A.X. Group companies focus particularly on training and developing their own staff, and on 

exchanging know-how within the Group. 

•  Damage and liability risks: Warranty, product liability and supply delays occur in the case of complex and  

extensive projects, which the Group companies are required to limit contractually. By concluding insurance  

cover, the company endeavors to exclude especially going concern effects for the M.A.X. Group. Security 

standards in the M.A.X. Group’s payment transactions were intensified due to a general increase in fraud 

cases. A security system comprising state-of-the-art technology ensures the central IT landscape’s security 

and availability.

•  Market risks: The risk exists at all M.A.X. Automation AG subsidiaries that key customers are lost from 

the client base, that technology is no longer required by the market, erroneous technical estimates are 

utilized for major projects, delays occur, or competitors adopt an aggressive approach to the market with 

corresponding consequences for achievable prices. The risk also exists that customers refuse to accept 

products, or that competitors challenge existing patents or industrial property rights. These risks may 

have negative effects on the future success of the subsidiaries. The Group minimizes market risks through 

intensive observation of the market, credit checks, comprehensive project controlling, and close communi-

cation with customers. To these are added risks relating to deadlines and technical risks on the purchasing 

market. M.A.X. Automation counters such risks with long-term supply agreements and end-to-end quality 

controlling of services procured from third parties, as well as through utilizing synergies within the Group 

association.

•  Financing and liquidity risks: A failure to abide by covenants restrictions may lead to banks canceling credit 

facilities or raising interest rates. 

 

As the result of the new syndicated loan agreement, the Group financing was converted in 2015 from the 

individual Group companies’ bilateral banking arrangements to unified Group financing. More comfortable 

covenants were negotiated in this context. Some of the covenants agreed with the Groups’ lending banks 

directly affect the interest margin, entitling the banks to a special termination right given non-compliance. 
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Frequent dialog occurs with the lending banks, and they are informed about business trends at least quar-

terly. In 2015, the M.A.X. Group complied with all covenants agreed with its lending banks. These covenants 

refer to key balance sheet and earnings figures derived from the IFRS consolidated financial statements.  

 

Counterparty default risk is limited by the fact that banking transactions are concluded exclusively with 

renowned banks.

•  Tax risks: Pursuant to Section 8c of the German Corporation Tax Act (KStG), direct or indirect acquisitions 

of more than 25 % of the shares or voting rights in a corporation by an acquirer result, as a matter of 

principle, in the proportionate transfer of unutilized loss carry forwards (so-called detrimental acquisition 

investment). 

 

The legislator weakened this regulation’s broad application scope through introducing the “hidden re-

serves clause” with the Growth Acceleration Act (dated December 22, 2009, BGBl. I 2009, page 3950).  

According to this clause, the corporation can deduct unutilized losses to the level of existing hidden re-

serves of domestic foreign assets as of the date of the detrimental acquisition investment. 

 

The tax authorities responded to queries on April 15, 2014 in a draft of a German Federal Ministry of 

Finance (BMF) circular relating to Application of Section 8c of the German Corporation Tax Act taking into 

account the group clause in the version of the Growth Acceleration Act, and the “hidden reserves clause” 

in the version of the 2010 Annual Tax Act. This draft has encountered great criticism, especially of the 

group clause and the hidden reserves clause. Due to the tax authorities’ somewhat pro-fiscal opinion, the 

risk exists at M.A.X. Automation AG of a proportionate transfer of trade tax loss carryforwards.  

 

In coordination with our advisers, we are assuming that the draft will not be retained as far as these 

aspects are concerned. 

Besides the risks mentioned in the risk report, no further identifiable risks exist, either individually or in com-

bination, that might jeopardize the Group and M.A.X. Automation AG as going concerns.

As part of auditing the 2015 annual financial statements, the auditor examined the risk management system 

of the parent company and the Group. It arrived at the conclusion that the system is appropriate to comply 

with statutory risk management requirements.

11.3. Risk report on the deployment of financial instruments

Section 6.3 of the notes of the consolidated financial statements includes a report on financial risks.

11.4. Explanatory report of the M.A.X. Automation AG Management Board concerning disclosures  
pursuant to Section 315 (2) No. 5 and Section 289 (5) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

Legal background

The German Accounting Law Modernization Act (BilMoG), which came into force on May 29, 2009, amended 

i.a. Sections 289, 315 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), as well as Sections 120, 175 of the German 
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Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Accordingly, the Management Board must present to the Shareholders’ General 

Meeting a written report concerning, among other matters, the newly introduced mandatory disclosures in the 

management report pursuant to Section 289 (5) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), respectively in the 

Group management report pursuant to Section 315 (2) No. 5 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), regarding 

the internal controlling and risk management system with respect to the financial accounting process, respec-

tively Group financial accounting process.

As the result of the subsequent German Shareholder Rights Guidelines Implementation Act (ARUG), the legisla-

tor bundled requirements relating to the issuing of explanatory reports in Section 176 (1) of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG), and removed the previous regulations in Section 120 (3) Clause 2, 175 (2) Clause 1 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

In this context, however, the reference to Section 289 (5) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), which 

was added by the German Accounting Law Modernization Act (BilMoG), and which concerns disclosures in 

the management report relating to the internal controlling and risk management system with respect to 

the financial accounting process, was not adopted.

Subject of the report

According to the explanatory memorandum for the German Accounting Law Modernization Act (BilMoG), the 

internal controlling system comprises the principles, procedures and measures to safeguard financial account-

ing efficacy, proper financial accounting, and compliance with relevant legal regulations. This also includes the 

internal controlling system to the extent that it relates to accounting.

As part of the internal controlling system, the risk management system with respect to the financial account-

ing process, as above, relates to accounting controlling and supervisory processes, particularly in the case of 

balance sheet items reporting the company’s risk cover.

Key characteristics of the internal controlling system and risk management system with respect  

to the financial accounting process 

The key characteristics of the internal controlling system and risk management system at M.A.X. Automation AG with 

regard to the (Group) financial accounting process can be described as follows:

•  The M.A.X. Group is distinguished by clear organizational, corporate, and controlling and supervisory struc-

tures.

•  Groupwide coordinated planning, reporting, controlling, as well as early warning systems and processes exist 

in order to analyze and manage earnings-relevant risk factors and going-concern risks on a uniform basis.

•  Functions in all accounting process areas (e.g. financial accounting bookkeeping and controlling) are clearly 

allocated.

•  The IT systems deployed for accounting purposes are protected against unauthorized access.

•  Recourse is primarily made to standard software in the financial systems utilized.

•  An adequate set of internal guidelines has been established (including a set of Groupwide risk management 

guidelines and an accounting handbook), which are adapted as required.

•  Departments involved in the financial accounting process comply with quantitative and qualitative require-

ments.
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•  Key accounting-related processes are subject to regular analytical audits. The existing Groupwide risk manage-

ment system is constantly adapted to current developments and checked with respect to functionality. The 

auditor, Ebner Stolz GmbH & Co. KG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Hannover, 

examined the system as part of the audit of the consolidated financial statements.

•  The Supervisory Board regularly concerns itself with risk management questions.

Explanatory report relating to key characteristics of the internal controlling system and risk  

management system with respect to the financial accounting process 

The internal controlling and risk management system relating to the financial accounting process, whose key 

characteristics have been described above, ensures that corporate matters are reported, prepared and ap-

praised correctly in accounting terms, and are transferred on such a basis to the external accounting function.

The clear organizational, corporate, and controlling and supervisory structures, as well as the qualified person-

nel and material structure of the accounting system, create the basis for efficient accounting work in the areas 

involved. Clear legal and internal regulations and guidelines ensure that the financial accounting process is 

standardized and proper. The clearly defined monitoring mechanisms within the areas engaged in accounting, 

and early risk identification by the risk management function, ensure coherent accounting.

The internal controlling and risk management system of M.A.X. Automation AG ensures that accounting at 

M.A.X. Automation AG and at all companies included in the consolidated financial statements is standardized, 

and complies with legal and statutory regulations, as well as internal guidelines. In particular, the Group-

standard risk management system, which complies entirely with statutory requirements, has the task of iden-

tifying risks at an early juncture, of measuring them, and of communicating them appropriately. This allows 

appropriate, relevant and reliable information to be provided promptly to the relevant addressees.

12. Opportunities

The M.A.X. Group’s strategic positioning opens up numerous opportunities in 2016 and subsequent years that 

can affect business progress positively.

In the Industrial Automation segment, the M.A.X. Group primarily identifies important business opportunities 

in the following areas:

•  Efficiency in industrial manufacturing: The demands made of industrial production are rising constantly. 

This trend not only reflects consumers’ desire for high-quality and high-performance goods, but also a 

growing demand for technologically complex products in the context of emerging economies’ growth. Key 

sectors such as the automotive industry, medical technology and the electronics sector consequently need 

to make increasing recourse to hightech automation solutions to ensure ever more efficient and accurate 

manufacturing. The Industrial Automation segment’s Group companies operate as specialists in ensuring 

Sources: 
•  IMF International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, October 2015
•  IIMF International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outlook, January 2016
•  IKiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW), Winter Forecast, press release December 14, 2015
•  IIfo Institute, ifo Economic Forecast, press release December 9, 2015
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and optimizing industrial manufacturing processes. As reliable partners to their customers, they develop 

and produce such solutions in order to structure faster, more precise and efficient processes. The Group 

companies are thereby ideally positioned to benefit from the rising demands made on industrial production.

•  Configuration variety, fuel consumption and CO2 emissions in vehicle construction: The automotive 

industry serves the trend toward individualization: consumers increasingly wish to enjoy a wide selection 

of vehicle models with individually configurable equipment and innovations in terms of handling and driv-

ing characteristics, comfort and vehicle safety. Given more stringent legislation and consumers’ growing 

environmental awareness, the automotive industry is also endeavoring to sustainably reduce modern 

engines’ fuel consumption and CO2 emissions. Consequently, industrial production has to respond flexibly 

to new product variants, and be able to take innovations in vehicles into account. The M.A.X. Group and its 

Group companies develop and produce components and systems solutions for all core automotive areas, 

including engines, gearboxes and steering systems. The Group also supplies high performing handling and 

conveying systems, as well as robotics solutions, thereby generating the opportunity to participate to a 

significant extent in vehicle construction trends. 

•  Innovations in industrial production: Complex components and compact construction methods are 

becoming increasingly important in industrial manufacturing, being applied both in products and in 

the production process itself. In the automotive industry, for example, the trend toward supported and 

autonomous driving is becoming an ever more prominent topic: vehicles are being increasingly equipped 

with sensors, distance controls and front cameras to identify obstacles, thereby assisting driver and 

making a significant contribution to safety and driving comfort. At the same time, manufacturing is being 

converted into networked production under the Industry 4.0 keyword, with additional demands being 

made of components and plants, as well as additional functionalities, including in maintenance, for 

example. Particularly precise automation solutions represent a key precondition for these developments. 

The M.A.X. Automation Group companies command important competences in dispensing technology 

and micro assembly, in other words, the assembly of micro components, as well as in testing systems 

for industrial image processing, thereby being able to benefit from further innovations in industrial 

manufacturing.

•  Growing demands made on medical technology: Several global trends characterize the medical technol-

ogy sector, including medical progress, society’s growing health awareness, individual treatment forms, 

increasing demand for efficient and intelligent products, and patients’ wishes for greater latitudes in therapy, 

such as self-medication. These trends are identifiable in industrialized nations, as well as in emerging 

economy countries. In this context, the medical technology market possesses high barriers to entry in terms 

of technological and qualitative requirements, as well as demanding and long-term collaboration with cus-

tomers. The M.A.X. Group commands specialized expertise, established customer relationships and an out-

standing reputation that enable it to participate in the rising demands made of medical technology and the 

sector’s resultant long-term growth, tap new customer relationships, and overcome barriers to market entry.

Sources:
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), press release, December 17, 2015 
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), press release, October 8, 2015
•  German Engineering Federation (VDMA), Specialist Waste and Recycling Technology Association, January 2016 data
•  German Automotive Industry Association (VDA), press release December 1, 2015
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In the Environmental Technology segment, the M.A.X. Group primarily sees important business opportunities 

in the following areas:

•  Increasing climate and environmental protection awareness Environmental awareness is on the 

rise worldwide, boosting the significance of climate protection, natural resource conservation, and the 

recycling of waste materials for re-utilization in the materials cycle and for energy generation. Global 

economic and social changes are driving this trend. Efficient and up-to-date waste recycling solutions are 

required particularly due to rising consumption in emerging economies such as China, Brazil and India, 

and significantly larger waste volumes in large cities and metropolitan areas. In Germany, too, there is 

widespread debate on the so-called energy policy transition (“Energiewende”). With its Environmental 

Technology segment, the M.A.X. Group has operated in this area for years, possessing extensive expertise 

in the development and production of components and systems solutions. The technology center of Group 

company Vecoplan represents a significant strength in this context, having been created in 2014, and 

comprising the most modern facility of its type in the international environmental technology and recycling 

sector. Thanks to this extensive expertise, the Group enjoys good long-term opportunities to benefit from  

the aforementioned trend, and contribute important innovations to the sector.

•  More stringent environmental protection legislation: Regulations at regional, national and international 

level increasingly impact the protection of the environment and the recycling of waste. In the European 

Union, for example, binding regulations pursue the objective of limiting climate-damaging greenhouse 

effects through cutting carbon dioxide emissions significantly. Such regulations also apply to the recycling 

industry. Germany’s Waste Management and Product Recycling Act requires the processing of 65 % of all 

residential waste by 2020, for example. The German government is also pursuing a sustainability strategy 

according to which the share of renewable energies is to rise to as high as 30 % by 2020, considerably 

boosting energy and raw materials productivity, in other words, the decoupling of energy consumption 

from economic output. In North America too, there are environmental initiatives in place, including in the 

form of so-called zero waste programs for local authorities. In its Environmental Technology segment, the 

M.A.X. Group identifies long-term demand growth for high performing environmental technologies, and 

consequently good business prospects.

The M.A.X. Group continues to place a key focus on further internationalizing its business, particularly 

identifying opportunities on the Asian market, as well as in North America. The company plans to further 

establish and expand international sales and service companies in this context.

It analyzes and defines important synergy potentials between its Group companies. These include bundling 

activities in the areas of purchasing and financing, an increasingly important joint utilization of foreign sites as 

part of internationalization, know-how and technology transfer, and best practice approaches and methodolo-

gies. M.A.X. Automation has set itself the target of boosting value creation within the Group through targeted 

enhancement of relationships for the delivery of goods and rendering of services between the Group compa-

nies. In some situations, possibilities also exist to exploit sales synergies through project-based collaboration 

within the M.A.X. Group.
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13. Outlook

13.1. Macroeconomic environment

Global economic trends in 2016 are seen positively overall, despite the fact that the International Monetary 

Fund (IMF) downgraded its forecasts in January, anticipating lower economic growth than it did as recently as 

October 2015. Slower economic growth in emerging economies and only minor recovery in industrial nations 

constitute the main reasons for this downgrade. Overall, the IMF perceives global economic growth at 3.4% for 

this year, instead of its initially forecast 3.6 %.

In particular, the Chinese economy is expected to experience a further slowdown in 2016 to a level of 6.3 % 

growth (2015: 6.9 %). By contrast, 2.6 % economic growth in the USA is forecast to be slightly stronger than in 

the previous year (2015: +2.5 %).

With regard to the Eurozone, the IMF anticipates 1.7 % growth, in other words, a slight improvement com-

pared with the previous year (2015: +1.5 %). Positive influence factors cited by the IMF include the low oil 

price, as well as the weaker euro compared with the US dollar, which favors exports. The Kiel Institute for the 

World Economy (IfW) also expects a 1.7 % increase in economic output.

Economic growth in Germany in 2016 is set to continue the previous year’s moderate trend, with the IMF 

anticipating 1.7 % economic output growth (previous year: +1.7 %). Germany’s economic research institutions 

are more optimistic: the ifo Institute assumes 1.9 % gross domestic product growth, while the Kiel Institute 

for the World Economy (IfW) even expects gains of 2.2 % growth. The IfW identifies key drivers in further 

private consumption growth due to higher income gains, and stronger investment activity in the economy. In 

addition, higher state investments to provide for and integrate refugees may comprise a type of “economic 

stimulus program”.

13.2. Trends in relevant sectors

The German mechanical and plant engineering sector started 2016 with subdued expectations: the VDMA 

sector association forecasts that its member companies’ production will stagnate, referring in this context to 

numerous geopolitical crises. The VDMA combined its forecasts with several policy demands, including for the 

expansion of digital infrastructure in Germany, a more flexible labor market, tax support for research, and the 

integration of refugees within the vocational environment.

The VDMA Specialist Waste and Recycling Technology Association reflected more optimistic sentiment among 

its member companies at the start of 2016. It noted that export activity had stabilized at a high level, with the 

expectation that EU states in 2016 will again account for the largest share of the sector’s export activities. 

The German automotive industry takes a cautiously optimistic view of 2016. The German Automotive Industry 

Association (VDA) anticipates 2.0 % year-on-year growth in global new registrations to a level of 78.1 million 

vehicles. 

This forecast reflects the US market growing by 1.0 % to 17.4 million vehicles, the Chinese market expanding 

by 2.0 % to 19.5 million vehicles, and the Western European market edging up by 1.0 % to 13.1 million 
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vehicles. The VDA nevertheless prepared its forecasts under the assumption that general economic conditions 

do not worsen, in view of political tensions in the Near and Middle East, and the war on terror.

13.3. Prospective trends in the 2016 financial year

The Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG is generally optimistic with regard to the Group’s develop-

ment and growth in the 2016 financial year and beyond. Based on the existing macroeconomic and sectoral-

specific prospects, it anticipates further growth in demand for hightech automation solutions in the M.A.X. 

Group’s markets.

With its high-quality automation solutions, the Industrial Automation Segment will focus on a number of sec-

tor trends in 2016. These include new applications as part of networked manufacturing under the Industry 4.0 

banner, miniaturization and micro assembly, the deployment of high-performance robotics, and the devel-

opment of software solutions required to control and manage plants, and which are becoming increasingly 

important in industrial automation.

Growth drivers particularly include technological progress in society and related changes in consumer demand. 

In the automotive area, for example, this concerns the rising variety of vehicle models, the necessity for CO2 

emission savings, and the trend toward so-called autonomous driving. In medical technology, the segment 

is endeavoring to serve additional demand deriving from demographic trends in many industrialized nations, 

and from society’s greater health awareness. The Management Board consequently anticipates that the Indus-

trial Automation segment will continue its further development on a high level.

The Environmental Technology segment, which comprises the Vecoplan Group following the disposal of the 

operations of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG. in December 2015, will continue to focus on developing and 

producing high quality individual components, as well as complex systems solutions for the recycling and 

processing industry. In this context, Vecoplan aims to serve specific customer requirements even more in line 

with demand. Particular significance is attributable to business on the North American continent following 

the takeover of the minority interests in the Vecoplan LLC subsidiary in the USA. Here, the Vecoplan Group can 

make recourse to an expanded expertise base as a result of the technology center that it opened in 2014.

In the 2015 financial year, M.A.X. Automation made great progress in transforming itself from a former equity 

investment company to becoming a decentralized hightech engineering group. The Management Board will 

continue to vigorously pursue this development, and endeavor to exploit further synergies between the Group 

companies.

As a result of the new Group financing that was agreed in June 2015 and its solid equity base, the M.A.X. Group 

has sufficient financial scope for maneuver to exploit further growth opportunities. Along with organic growth, 

these also include potential acquisitions that augment the Group’s portfolio suitably. To this end, the Manage-

ment Board continuously monitors the markets of relevance for M.A.X. Automation.

The medium-term goal remains to raise consolidated sales revenue to around EUR 500 million, combined with 

an EBIT return on sales revenue, before PPA-related amortization, of at least 8 %.
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13.4. Financial forecast

Generating consolidated sales revenue of EUR 383.8 million in the 2015 financial year, M.A.X. Automation AG 

slightly exceeded its target range of EUR 360 million to EUR 380 million. Consolidated earnings before interest 

and tax (EBIT) and before PPA-related amortization of EUR 24.8 million was significantly above the target range of 

between EUR 20 million and EUR 22 million. A high profitability level was thereby already achieved, not least due 

to a very strong fourth quarter, and a product and project mix in 2015 that proved very advantageous from profit-

ability aspects.

With regard to the 2016 financial year and based on a focused portfolio following the disposal of the operations  

of Group company altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG., the Management Board expects 

•  consolidated sales revenue in a range between EUR 370 million and EUR 390 million (previous year: EUR 360  

million to EUR 380 million).

•  consolidated EBIT a before PPA-related amortization of at least EUR 24 million.

With this forecast, the Group remains fully within the scope of its medium-term planning.

13.5. Prospective business trends for the parent company 

The results of operations of M.A.X. Automation AG depend to a high degree on the Group earnings trend. 

Based on the expected trends for the operating companies, the Management Board assumes an unchanged 

level of income from its participating interests in the 2016 financial year.

13.6. Forward-looking statements

This report includes forward-looking statements that are based on the present assumptions and forecasts of 

the management of M.A.X. Automation AG. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. These and 

other factors can mean that actual results, the financial position, developments or the company’s performance 

differ significantly from the estimates provided here. The company assumes no obligation of any kind to 

continue to formulate such forward-looking statements, and adapt them to future events or developments.

Düsseldorf, March 24, 2016

Fabian Spilker

Management Board



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE
383.8 MIO

EARNINGS 
10.6 MIO

EARNINGS PER SHARE
0.40 EUR
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,  
as of December 31, 2015

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

ASSETS Notes TEUR TEUR

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (1) 18,847 18,427

Goodwill (2) 53,126 45,991

Property, plant and equipment (3) 32,534 39,263

Investment property (4) 3,966 0

Equity accounted investments (5) 0 0

Other investments (6) 1,992 273

Deferred tax (7) 6,592 6,251

Other non-current assets (8) 409 895

Non-current assets, total 117,466 111,100

Current assets

Inventories (9) 39,652 41,993

Trade receivables (10) 99,770 81,959

Receivables due from related companies (11) 86 15

Prepayments and accrued income, and other current assets (12) 4,855 7,906

Cash and cash equivalents (13) 21,358 52,377

Current assets, total 165,721 184,250

Total assets 283,187 295,350
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31.12.2015 31.12.2014

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes TEUR TEUR

Equity

Subscribed share capital (14) 26,794 26,794

Capital reserves (15) 3,055 3,055

Revenue reserve (15) 20,746 21,166

Equity difference resulting from currency translation 688 393

Unappropriated retained earnings (16) 54,958 48,389

Total equity 106,241 99,797

Non-current liabilities

Non-current loans less current portion (17) 48,736 56,006

Pension provisions (18) 1,082 988

Other provisions (24) 1,439 2,196

Deferred tax (7) 17,346 15,585

Other non-current liabilities (17) 3,619 2,798

Non-current liabilities, total 72,222 77,573

Current liabilities

Trade payables (19) 54,336 45,784

Current loans and current portion of non-current loans (20) 12,338 44,309

Liabilities to related companies (21) 0 74

Current liabilities arising from minority shareholder settlement claims (22) 618 2,029

Other current liabilities (23) 21,433 10,850

Income tax provisions and liabilities (24) 7,468 5,636

Other provisions (25) 6,929 6,407

Other current liabilities (26) 1,602 2,891

Current liabilities, total 104,724 117,980

Equity and liabilities, total 283,187 295,350

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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2015 2014

Notes TEUR TEUR

Revenue (27) 383,816 351,437

Change in finished goods and work-in-progress –3,483 –3,393

Work performed by the company and capitalized 2,038 4,342

Total operating revenue 382,371 352,386

Other operating revenue (28) 13,922 10,731

Income from equity accounted investments 331 0

Cost of materials (29) –197,401 –183,981

Personnel expenses (30) –110,211 –102,957

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses (31) –7,502 –6,047

Other operating expenses (32) –56,747 –48,211

Operating profit 24,763 21,921

PPA-related amortization (31) –4,849 –3,944

Operating profit after PPA depreciation,  
amortization and impairment losses 19,914 17,977

Miscellaneous investment income 0 8

Net interest result (33) –3,649 –3,802

Earnings before tax 16,265 14,183

Income tax (34) –5,677 –4,162

Net income 10,588 10,021

Other comprehensive income that is never recycled to the 
income statement

Actuarial gains and losses on employee benefits (18) –81 –213

Income taxes on actuarial gains and losses 24 63

Change in settlement obligations to minority shareholders (22) –363 –739

Other comprehensive income that can be recycled  
to the income statement –420 –889

Change arising from currency translation 295 655

Total comprehensive income 10,463 9,787

Earnings per share (diluted and basic) in EUR (35) 0.40 0.37

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
Adjustments to the previous year’s figures are explained in section 2.11 to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,  
for the period from January 1 to Thursday, December 31, 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,  
for the period from January 1 to Thursday, December 31, 2015

Subscribed 
share capital

Capital 
reserves

Revenue 
reserves

Currency 
translation
difference

Net  
retained 

profi Total

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

As of 01.01.2014 26,794 3,055 15,755 –262 48,687 94,029

Dividend payments 0 0 0 0 –4,019 –4,019

Transfer to retained earnings 0 0 6,300 0 –6,300 0

Total comprehensive income 0 0 –889 655 10,021 9,787

As of 31.12.2014 26,794 3,055 21,166 393 48,389 99,797

As of 01.01.2015 26,794 3,055 21,166 393 48,389 99,797

Dividend payments 0 0 0 0 –4,019 –4,019

Transfer to retained earnings 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income 0 0 –420 295 10,588 10,463

As of 31.12.2015 26,794 3,055 20,746 688 54,958 106,241

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,  
as of December 31, 2015
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01.01.–31.12.2015 
TEUR

01.01.–31.12.2014 
TEUR

1. Cash flow from operating activities

Net income 10,588 10,021

Adjustments relating to the reconciliation of consolidated net  
income for the year to cash flow from operating activities

Amortization/impairment of intangible assets 7,136 5,082

Depreciation/impairment of property, plant and equipment 5,215 4,909

Gain (–)/loss (+) from disposal of subsidiaries 0 –3,374

Profit (–)/loss (+) arising from the disposal of property,  
plant and equipment and intangible assets 14 –15

Gain (–)/loss (+) from disposal of investments 162 –24

Deferred tax changes recognized in profit or loss 143 –547

Other non-cash expenses and income 2,726 1,482

Changes in assets and liabilities

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in other non-current assets –124 42

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in inventories 2,303 199

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in trade receivables –14,332 14,342

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in receivables due from related companies –71 890

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in prepayments, accrued income and other assets 4,273 –2,481

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in pension provisions 94 174

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in other provisions and liabilities 5,685 –2,711

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in trade payables 4,077 ––12,715

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in liabilities to related companies –74 17

Increase (+)/decrease (–) in liabilities and provisions  
arising from income taxes 1,644 2,522

= Cash flow from operating activities 29,459 17,813

2. Cash flow from investing activities

Outgoing payments for investments in intangible assets –3,418 –4,564

Outgoing payments for investments in property, plant and equipment –6,347 –5,109

Outgoing payments for investments in financial assets –1,720 –57

Payments received from disposals of intangible assets 38 98

Payments received from disposals of property, plant and equipment 3,256 393

Payments received from disposals of financial assets 0 467

Outgoing payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, less cash –7,574 –923

Payments received from disposal of subsidiaries, less cash 0 7,375

= Cash flow from investing activities –15,765 –2,320

3. Cash flow from financing activities   

Outgoing payments for dividends –4,019 –4,019

Change in non-current financial loans –3,992 2,127

Change in current borrowings –35,522 7,124

Increase (–)/decrease (+) in restricted cash and cash equivalents 541 5,324

Payments arising from settlement claims for third parties –2,007 –214

= Cash flow from financing activities –44,999 10,342

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,
for the period from January 1 to Thursday, December 31, 2015
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01.01.–31.12.2015 
TEUR

01.01.–31.12.2014
TEUR

4. Cash and cash equivalents 

Increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents –31,305 25,835

Effect of changes in exchange rates 286 232

  Cash and cash equivalents at start of financial year 52,377 26,310

  Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 21,358 52,377

5. Composition of cash and cash equivalents

= Cash and cash equivalents 21,358 52,377

Additional disclosures regarding cash flow

Income tax paid 3,290 1,710

Income tax reimbursed 373 215

Interest paid 2,659 2,954

Interest received 25 91

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Additional information
01.01.–31.12.2015 

TEUR
01.01.–31.12.2014

TEUR

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Goodwill 7,663 0

Intangible assets 3,760 1,630

Property, plant and equipment 97 118

Deferred tax 0 23

Other non-current assets 24 0

Inventories 1,520 0

Trade receivables 4,180 0

Prepayments and accrued income, and other current assets 192 0

Cash and cash equivalents 1,456 0

Deferred tax –1,277 –493

Trade payables –4,097 0

Other current liabilities –234 –122

Provisions and liabilities from taxes –88 0

Other provisions –240 –350

Other current liabilities –432 0

Purchase price 12,524 806

Lucky Buy 0 –613

Purchase price payment outstanding –3,524 0

Cash and cash equivalents acquired –1,456 0

Purchase price paid, less cash and cash equivalents acquired 7,544 193

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,
for the period from January 1 to Thursday, December 31, 2015
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Additional information
01.01.–31.12.2015 

TEUR
01.01.–31.12.2014

TEUR

Disposal of subsidiaries

Intangible assets 0 48

Property, plant and equipment 0 2,870

Other non-current assets 0 15

Inventories 0 1,945

Trade receivables 0 1,683

Prepayments and accrued income, and other current assets 0 34

Non-current liabilities 0 –1,563

Deferred tax 0 –52

Trade payables 0 –432

Current loans 0 –178

Other current liabilities 0 –191

Provisions and liabilities from taxes 0 –464

Other provisions 0 351

Other current liabilities 0 –65

Assets disposed of 0 4,001

Income from disposal of subsidiaries 0 3,374

Purchase price received, less cash and cash equivalents 0 7,375

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Segment Industrial Automation Environmental Technology Reconciliation Total

Reporting period 2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

New order intake 236,333 216,284 127,399 123,061 0 0 363,732 339,345

Order book position 103,121 103,855 32,051 39,288 0 0 135,172 143,143

Segment revenue 251,981 236,855 132,119 114,858 –284 –276 383,816 351,437

with external customers 251,697 236,579 132,119 114,858 0 0 383,816 351,437

– of which Germany 120,323 104,109 26,701 27,682 0 0 147,024 131,791

– of which other EU countries 49,718 62,564 31,625 38,657 0 0 81,343 101,221

– of which North America 36,998 18,292 59,079 39,845 0 0 96,077 58,137

– of which China 31,188 23,217 0 0 0 0 31,188 23,217

– of which Rest of the World 13,470 28,397 14,714 8,674 0 0 28,184 37,071

Inter-segment revenue 284 276 0 0 –284 –276 0 0

EBITDA 30,148 21,046 5,041 5,734 –2,924 1,188 32,265 27,968

Segment operating profit
(EBIT before PPA-related amortization) 26,393 18,034 1,496 2,729 –3,126 1,158 24,763 21,921

Including:

– Depreciation/amortization –3,755 –3,012 –3,545 –3,005 –202 –30 –7,502 –6,047

– Additions to other provisions and pension provisions –3,052 –3,427 –2,380 –1,394 –440 –792 –5,872 –5,613

– Income from equity accounted investments 0 0 331 0 0 0 331 0

Segment operating profit after PPA depreciation,  
amortization and impairment losses 22,104 14,495 1,138 2,527 –3,328 956 19,914 17,978

Including:

– PPA-related amortization –4,289 –3,539 –358 –202 –202 –202 –4,849 –3,943

Segment result from ordinary activities (EBT) 19,975 12,531 370 1,688 –4,080 –36 16,265 14,183

Including:

– Interest and similar income 20 40 129 110 17 8 166 158

– Interest and similar expenses –2,150 –2,003 –896 –931 –769 –1,026 –3,815 –3,960

Income tax –296 760 –1,032 –94 –4,349 –4,828 –5,677 –4,162

– Additions to income tax provisions –186 –58 –421 –148 –1,805 –2,361 –2,412 –2,567

Net income 19,679 13,291 –662 1,594 –8,429 –4,864 10,588 10,021

Non-current segment assets (excluding deferred tax) 49,115 38,520 22,233 26,294 39,526 40,035 110,874 104,849

– of which Germany 48,741 38,112 19,031 23,248 39,526 40,035 107,298 101,395

– of which other EU countries 94 115 160 215 0 0 254 330

– of which North America 140 130 3,042 2,831 0 0 3,182 2,961

– of which Rest of the World 140 163 0 0 0 0 140 163

Investments in non-current segment assets 18,854 8,101 2,327 3,309 108 11 21,289 11,421

Working capital 66,463 55,646 19,235 22,864 –612 –342 85,086 78,168

Average number of personnel excluding trainees 1,046 1,001 510 532 5 4 1,561 1,537

SEGMENT REPORTING  

as of Thursday, December 31, 2015
of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf

Segment reporting forms part of the notes to the financial statements.
Adjustments to the previous year’s figures are explained in section 2.11 to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Segment Industrial Automation Environmental Technology Reconciliation Total

Reporting period 2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

2015
TEUR

2014
TEUR

New order intake 236,333 216,284 127,399 123,061 0 0 363,732 339,345

Order book position 103,121 103,855 32,051 39,288 0 0 135,172 143,143

Segment revenue 251,981 236,855 132,119 114,858 –284 –276 383,816 351,437

with external customers 251,697 236,579 132,119 114,858 0 0 383,816 351,437

– of which Germany 120,323 104,109 26,701 27,682 0 0 147,024 131,791

– of which other EU countries 49,718 62,564 31,625 38,657 0 0 81,343 101,221

– of which North America 36,998 18,292 59,079 39,845 0 0 96,077 58,137

– of which China 31,188 23,217 0 0 0 0 31,188 23,217

– of which Rest of the World 13,470 28,397 14,714 8,674 0 0 28,184 37,071

Inter-segment revenue 284 276 0 0 –284 –276 0 0

EBITDA 30,148 21,046 5,041 5,734 –2,924 1,188 32,265 27,968

Segment operating profit
(EBIT before PPA-related amortization) 26,393 18,034 1,496 2,729 –3,126 1,158 24,763 21,921

Including:

– Depreciation/amortization –3,755 –3,012 –3,545 –3,005 –202 –30 –7,502 –6,047

– Additions to other provisions and pension provisions –3,052 –3,427 –2,380 –1,394 –440 –792 –5,872 –5,613

– Income from equity accounted investments 0 0 331 0 0 0 331 0

Segment operating profit after PPA depreciation,  
amortization and impairment losses 22,104 14,495 1,138 2,527 –3,328 956 19,914 17,978

Including:

– PPA-related amortization –4,289 –3,539 –358 –202 –202 –202 –4,849 –3,943

Segment result from ordinary activities (EBT) 19,975 12,531 370 1,688 –4,080 –36 16,265 14,183

Including:

– Interest and similar income 20 40 129 110 17 8 166 158

– Interest and similar expenses –2,150 –2,003 –896 –931 –769 –1,026 –3,815 –3,960

Income tax –296 760 –1,032 –94 –4,349 –4,828 –5,677 –4,162

– Additions to income tax provisions –186 –58 –421 –148 –1,805 –2,361 –2,412 –2,567

Net income 19,679 13,291 –662 1,594 –8,429 –4,864 10,588 10,021

Non-current segment assets (excluding deferred tax) 49,115 38,520 22,233 26,294 39,526 40,035 110,874 104,849

– of which Germany 48,741 38,112 19,031 23,248 39,526 40,035 107,298 101,395

– of which other EU countries 94 115 160 215 0 0 254 330

– of which North America 140 130 3,042 2,831 0 0 3,182 2,961

– of which Rest of the World 140 163 0 0 0 0 140 163

Investments in non-current segment assets 18,854 8,101 2,327 3,309 108 11 21,289 11,421

Working capital 66,463 55,646 19,235 22,864 –612 –342 85,086 78,168

Average number of personnel excluding trainees 1,046 1,001 510 532 5 4 1,561 1,537
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1. General information

The company

M.A.X. Automation AG (hereinafter referred to as “the company” or “the M.A.X. Group”) is a public stock 

corporation domiciled in Germany. Düsseldorf is the location of the company’s registered office and Group 

headquarters.

The company’s main activities lie in the activities of a management holding company: in other words, the  

aggregation of companies under joint management, the advising of such companies, and the assumption 

of other business management tasks. The Group companies operate as internationally active high-tech 

engineering companies, and as leading full-range suppliers of integrated and complex system and component 

solutions. The operative business is divided into the two operating segments of Industrial Automation and  

Environmental Technology. M.A.X. Automation AG functions accordingly as the Group’s ultimate parent 

company.

Consolidated financial statements

The company has prepared its consolidated financial statements applying Section 315a (1) of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB) in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in 

the EU, and according to the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(IFRIC), formerly referred to as the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). All mandatory applicable IFRS for 

the financial year elapsed were taken into account.

The financial year of M.A.X. Automation AG and of all its subsidiaries is identical with the calendar year. A joint  

venture with ThyssenKrupp Industrial Solutions AG that is equity accounted in the consolidated financial state-

ments forms the only exception in this context.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros (EUR). Unless stated otherwise, all 

amounts are presented in thousands of euros (TEUR).

The statement of comprehensive income is structured according to the nature of expense method.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending December 31, 2015 that  

were furnished with an unqualified audit certificate were approved formally by the Supervisory Board on 

March 24, 2016, and are to be presented for adoption to the Ordinary AGM on August 26, 2016.
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of M.A.X. Automation AG

2. Accounting policies 

The financial statements of the German and foreign subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial state-

ments have been prepared uniformly in accordance with IFRS accounting policies.

In certain cases, the application of IFRS requires the making of estimates and assumptions with correspond-

ing effect on the company’s financial position and performance. During the same reporting period, different 

assumptions and estimates could have been made for equally comprehensible reasons. The assumptions and 

estimates made are subject to routine adjustments. The company notes that actual future results can differ 

from the estimates and assumptions made.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (IFRIC) have approved a number of amendments to existing International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and some new IFRS and interpretations that the M.A.X. Group must apply from the 2015 

financial year:

IFRIC 21 Levies

IFRIC 21 Levies includes guidelines as to when government-imposed levies are to be recognized (e.g. bank 

levy). The activity that triggers the payment pursuant to the relevant legislation is identified as the obligating 

event for the recognition of a liability in this context. Only when the obligating event arises are levies to be 

recognized on the balance sheet. The obligating event can also occur successively over a period, requiring the 

liability to be recognized pro rata temporis. The application of this interpretation had no significant effects on 

the the presentation of the company’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS (2011 – 2013 Cycle)

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

The amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards clarifies that in its 

first set of IFRS financial statements a company has an option between applying existing and currently valid 

IFRS, and early application of new or revised IFRS that do not yet require mandatory application, to the extent 

that early, voluntary application is permitted. A company is required to apply the same version of the standard 

during all reporting periods covered by the first set of IFRS financial statements.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarify that the recognition of the founding of all types of 

joint arrangements in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself is excluded from the IFRS 3 ap-

plication scope.
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IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The amendment to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement clarifies that the exception for portfolios in IFRS 13 

paragraph 52 comprises all contracts recognized pursuant to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement or IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; this applies irrespective of whether they meet the definition of 

a financial asset or financial liability pursuant to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

IAS 40 Investment Property

The amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property clarify that determining whether a particular transaction 

meets the definition of a business combination pursuant to IFRS 3 Business Combinations as well as the defini-

tion of an investment property pursuant to IAS 40, requires the application of both standards independently of 

each other.

Applying the amendments of the 2011–2013 Cycle had no effects on the company’s financial statements.

The setters of the standards approved further standards and interpretations, as well as amendments to exist-

ing standards, that do not yet require mandatory application in the EU. These relate to the following amend-

ments, as well as standards and interpretations:

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments as part of the Disclosure Initiative to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements aim to clarify 

IAS 1 in order to eliminate hurdles that preparers of financial statements perceive in the exercising of discre-

tion in the presentation of financial statements. The amendments clarify that information should not be veiled 

through aggregation or the presentation of insignificant information, that materiality considerations are to 

be applied to all elements of financial statements, and that materiality is to be taken into account even if a 

particular disclosure is prescribed in a standard.

Presentation of the assets position, and presentations in the statement of comprehensive income and other 

comprehensive income: these amendments clarify that the listing of line items in the parts of financial state-

ments can be divided or aggregated for reasons of relevance, and provide additional guidelines relating to 

subtotals in such parts of financial statements; they clarify that a company’s share in the other comprehensive 

income of associates or joint ventures that are equity accounted should be reported as aggregated individual 

line items on the basis of whether they are recycled later to the statement of comprehensive income. The 

amendments add additional examples of possible sequences of disclosures in order to clarify that comprehen-

sibility and comparability are to be taken into account when the sequence of disclosures is determined, and 

in order to show that the disclosures do not have to occur in the sequence as currently listed in IAS 1.114. The 

setter of the standard has also deleted regulations and examples relating to mentioning significant accounting 

policies, which were perceived as potentially of little help. The amendments require mandatory application 

for financial years commencing on or after January 1, 2016. The company assumes that the amendments will 

have no significant effects on the presentation of the financial statements.



60

NOTES TO THE 2015 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
of M.A.X. Automation AG

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment/IAS 38 Intangible Assets

The amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment/IAS 38 Intangible Assets provide further guidelines 

to determine acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization. Accordingly, revenue-based deprecia-

tion methods are not suitable for property, plant and equipment, and revenue-based amortization methods 

for intangible assets are appropriate only in certain exceptional cases. The amendments are to be applied 

to financial years commencing on or after January 1, 2016, with early, voluntary application permitted. The 

amendments have no effect on the presentation of the company’s financial statements.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment/IAS 41 Agriculture

The amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture change the accounting 

treatment of bearer plants such as vines, rubber trees and oil palms. The amendments require mandatory 

application for financial years commencing on or after January 1, 2016. The amendments have no effect on 

the presentation of the company’s financial statements.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits are to be applied to the recognition of contributions to defined 

benefit pension schemes by employees or third parties. This permits the recognition of employee or third-

party contributions as a reduction to the current service cost in the period in which the related work service 

was rendered, if the amounts do not depend on the number of years served. As part of the endorsement 

process, the first-time mandatory application for financial years commencing on or after July 1, 2014 was 

postponed to financial years beginning after February 1, 2015. The company currently assumes that these 

amendments will not affect the presentation of the financial statements.

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

The amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements reinstate the accounting option for an investor to 

apply the equity method in its separate financial statements for its interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures 

and associates. First-time mandatory application is for financial years commencing on or after January 1, 

2016. Early, voluntary application is permitted. The amendments have no effect on the presentation of the 

company’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB published IFRS 9 Financial Instruments in July 2014. IFRS 9 introduces a standard approach to the 

classification and measurement of financial assets. As the basis for this, the standard makes recourse to cash 

flow characteristics and the business model by which they are managed. It also comprises a new impairment 

model based on expected credit defaults. Moreover, IFRS 9 includes regulations concerning the application 

of hedge accounting in order to present a company’s risk management activities better, especially relating 

to managing non-financial risks. The new standard is to be applied to financial years commencing on or after 

January 1, 2018; early, voluntary application is permitted. The company is currently examining what effects 

application of IFRS 9 will have on the company’s financial statements.
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IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements/IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities/ 

IAS 28 Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments to the aforementioned standards clarify that the consolidation exception can also be applied 

if a parent entity recognizes its subsidiaries at fair value pursuant to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Moreover, the consolidation exception can be applied if a subsidiary renders services that relate to the parent 

company’s investment activities, if the subsidiary is an investment entity itself.

In applying the equity method to an associate or joint venture that is not an investment entity, an investor 

that is not an investment entity can retain the fair value measurement that the investment entity applies to its 

investments in subsidiaries.

An investment entity that measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value must provide the disclosures relating to 

investment entities as required by IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. First-time mandatory appli-

cation of the amendments is planned for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Early, voluntary 

application is permitted. The company currently assumes that these amendments will not affect the consoli-

dated financial statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements/IAS 28 Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures 

The amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements/IAS 28 Interests in Associates and Joint 

Ventures address a well-known inconsistency between the regulations of IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in the case of 

the disposal of assets, or contribution of assets, to an associate or joint venture. The new regulations require 

an investor to fully recognize future gains or losses on the loss of control over a subsidiary contributed to 

an associate or joint venture, if the transaction relates to an operation in the meaning of IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations. If the transaction relates to assets that do not comprise an operation, however, only the 

proportional profit or loss equivalent to the other investors’ share is recognized. The related operational 

date was postponed for an unlimited period as the result of amendments in December 2015. The company 

currently assumes that these amendments will not affect the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

The amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements clarify that both the initial acquisition and subsequent add-on 

acquisitions of interests in a joint operation that comprises an operation are to be recognized applying the 

accounting regulations for business combinations as presented in IFRS 3 Business Combinations, unless these 

contradict the regulations of IFRS 11. The mandatory disclosures of IFRS 3 Business Combinations are also to be 

satisfied. First-time mandatory application is for financial years commencing on or after January 1, 2016. Early, 

voluntary application is permitted. The company assumes that these amendments will not affect the consoli-

dated financial statements.
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of M.A.X. Automation AG

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The IASB published IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in May 2014. IFRS 15 replaces IAS 11 

Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue, and related interpretations. According to the new standard, the 

recognition of revenue should recognize the transfer of the pledged goods or services to the customer at the 

amount that corresponds to the consideration that the company will receive prospectively in exchange for 

these goods or services. Revenues are realized when the customer gains control over the goods or services. 

IFRS 15 also includes rules concerning the reporting of performance surpluses or obligations at contract 

level. These comprise assets and liabilities generated from contracts with customers that arise depending 

on the relationship between the service rendered by the company and the customer.s payment. The new 

standard also requires the disclosure of a number of quantitative and qualitative items of information in order 

to enable users of consolidated financial statements to understand the type, level, timing and uncertainty 

relating to revenues and cash flows from contracts with customers. In July 2015, the IASB decided to postpone 

the standard’s first-time application date to financial years commencing on or after January 1, 2018; early 

application is permitted.

The company is currently examining the effects that application of IFRS 15 will have on the company’s 

financial statements, and will determine the date of first-time application and the transition method.

A Groupwide project to implement IFRS 15 will be established for this purpose in the coming financial year. 

IFRS 16 Leases

The IASB published IFRS 16 Leases in January 2016. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases. The main change, 

especially for lessees, lies in relinquishing the “all or nothing” principle of IAS 17 in favor of the “right of use” 

model of IFRS 16. The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is discontinued for 

lessees accordingly. For all leases, lessees in the future recognize on their balance sheet a lease liability for 

the obligation to render future payments to the respective lessors. At the same time, lessees capitalize a 

right of use to the underlying asset, which corresponds to the present value of the payments to the lessor, 

plus directly attributable costs, as a matter of principle. The lease liability is subsequently measured applying 

finance-mathematical regulations similar to those for finance leases under currently valid IAS 17, while the 

right of use is amortized over the lease duration.

The regulations for lessor accounting correspond essentially to the regulations currently valid in IAS 17. The 

lease classification criteria for lessor accounting have been adopted from IAS 17. IFRS 16 also includes a 

number of other new regulations relating to the definition of a lease, reporting, and disclosures to be made in 

the notes the financial statements, as well as concerning sale-and-lease-back transactions.

Application of IFRS 16 will affect the company’s financial statements. The company will examine the precise 

scope of the effects, and determine the first-time application date and transition method.
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Annual Improvements to IFRS (2010 – 2012 Cycle)

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment

The amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment clarify the definitions of “vesting conditions” and “market 

conditions”, and adds definitions for “performance conditions” and “service conditions”.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarify that contingent considerations that are classified as 

assets or liabilities are to be measured at fair value on each reporting date.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

The amendments to IFRS 8 Operating Segments require a company to disclose discretionary decisions made 

by a company’s management in applying aggregation criteria to operating segments. The amendments 

also clarify that a company is only required to provide reconciliations of the sum of reportable assets to the 

company’s assets if the segment’s assets are reported on a regular basis.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The amendments to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement clarify that the publication of IFRS 13 and amendments 

to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement have not 

abolished the option to measure current receivables and liabilities without fixed interest rates undiscounted  

at their invoicing amount, as long as the effects of not applying discounting are immaterial.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment/IAS 38 Intangible Assets

The amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment/IAS 38 Intangible Assets clarify that when 

remeasuring an item of property, plant and equipment, the gross carrying amount is to be adjusted in a 

manner that harmonizes with remeasuring the carrying amount.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

The amendments to IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures expand the definition of “related parties” to include 

companies that either themselves or through one of their group companies render key management 

personnel services for the reporting entity, without a related party relationship in the meaning of IAS 24 

existing otherwise between the two companies (so-called “management entities”). Separate disclosures 

pursuant to a newly added paragraph 18A are required for expenses recognized at the reporting entity 

for services rendered by a management entity. By contrast, the reporting entity is not required to make 

disclosures pursuant to IAS 24.17 for payments rendered by the management entity to employees who 

perform management tasks at the reporting entity.
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The amendments to the 2010 – 2012 Cycle require mandatory first-time application for financial years com-

mencing on or after February 1, 2015. The company is still examining the extent to which the changes will 

affect the presentation of the company’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS (2012 – 2014 Cycle)

IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

The amendments to IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations establish separate 

guidelines in IFRS 5 for cases where a company reclassifies an asset from the “held for sale” category to the 

“held for distribution to owners” category, or vice versa. Reclassification between categories is no longer to 

result in a discontinuation of related IFRS 5 categorization, presentation and measurement regulations. Only 

in cases where the criteria for classification to one of the two categories are no longer met, without a direct 

switch between the two categories occurring, are the measurement regulations of IFRS 5.27-29 to be applied, 

which are now also explicitly valid for assets previously categorized as “held for distribution to owners”.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The IASB implemented two clarifications relating to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The first addi-

tion concerns mandatory disclosures connected with the transfer of financial assets. This relates specifically 

to applying IFRS 7.42C to servicing agreements, and the question as to whether these represent a continuing 

involvement for the purposes of the disclosure regulations of paragraphs 42E–42H. The IASB clarifies in this 

context that the transferring entity’s obligation arising from the servicing agreement to remit the payments 

collected from the transferred financial assets to the recipient do not represent a continuing involvement in 

the meaning of the disclosure regulations. By contrast, the retention of a servicing obligation in return for 

receipt of a service fee comprises a continuing involvement, as a matter of principle.

A further clarification relates to the first-time application of the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures relating to the offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities, which were published in 

December 2011. Pursuant to IFRS 7.44R, these amendments are to be applied to financial years commencing  

on or after January 1, 2013, as well as to all interim reporting periods within these financial years. The reference 

to applicability to all interim reporting periods is now to be deleted in order to clarify that the amendments 

to IFRS 7 do not result in explicit disclosure requirements for interim reports. The additional disclosures are 

nevertheless to be provided in condensed interim reports pursuant to IAS 34, if IAS 34 so requires. For example, 

IAS 34.15 et seq. requires an explanation of events and transactions that are significant to an understanding of 

the changes in financial position and performance since the end of the last financial year.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits are intended to clarify that high quality corporate bonds that 

are applied to calculate the discount rate for post-employment benefits are to be denominated in the same 

currency as the payments to be rendered. The interest rate utilized pursuant to IAS 19R.83 to discount defined 

benefit pension obligations is to be determined on the basis of yields achieved on the market for high quality 

corporate bonds on the reporting date. In countries where no deep market exists in such corporate bonds, the 

market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds are to be used.
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IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendments to IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting are intended to clarify the meaning of “elsewhere” in the 

interim report. A regulation is also to be included that a reference is to be provided if this other location is not sit-

uated within the main part of the report. Accordingly, this can relate to information that is located either directly 

within another section of the interim report, or within other documents to which reference is made in the interim 

report. The precondition for the latter, however, is that the other documents be available to the addressees of 

the interim report at the same time and on the same terms as the interim report itself. If this is not the case, an 

interim report does not satisfy the regulations of IAS 34, and correspondingly fails to comply with IFRS.

The amendments to the 2012 – 2014 Cycle require mandatory first-time application for financial years 

commencing on or after Friday, January 1, 2016. Earlier, voluntary application is provided for. The company 

is still examining the extent to which the changes will affect the presentation of the company’s financial 

statements.

2.1. Assets

Purchased intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets (patents rights and licenses, as well as IT software, know-how, technology and 

brand rights, industrial property rights, websites, order book positions and customer relationships, as well 

as development projects) are recognized at cost less amortization. Amortization is applied straight-line over 

economic useful lives of between 1 and 15 years.

Internally generated intangible assets

Internally generated intangible assets (development costs) are also recognized. The useful economic life 

amounts to between 4 and 5 years. Development costs for newly developed products for which technical 

feasibility and marketability surveys are available are capitalized at their directly or indirectly attributable 

production costs to the extent that expenses can be clearly allocated, and insofar as the technical feasibility 

and marketability of the newly developed products are ensured. Development activity must result with 

sufficient probability in future cash inflows; borrowing costs are not capitalized. Amortization is applied in line 

with products’ planned economic useful lives. Development costs that are capitalized on the reporting date 

for development projects that have not yet been fully completed are impairment-tested applying the license 

analogy method.

Goodwill

Where the acquisition costs for a business combination exceed the sum of the fully remeasured assets and 

liabilities, including contingent liabilities, such positive differences are capitalized as goodwill. Following 

reassessment, a negative difference is expensed.

Goodwill is allocated to its respective cash-generating unit, recognized as an asset, and impairment-tested 

on each reporting date pursuant to IAS 36. In this context, only the operating subsidiaries are allocated to 

the cash-generating units within the M.A.X. Group. In cases where close supply and service connections 

exist between Group companies, they are aggregated into operating units, with goodwill being tested for 

impairment on this basis. Impairment losses are expensed immediately in the statement of comprehensive 

income, and are not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Goodwill deriving from corporate acquisitions preceding the IFRS transition date on January 1, 2004, was 

transferred from the previous financial statements that were prepared according to the German Commercial 

Code (HGB), and impairment-tested on that date. Goodwill write-downs applied in previous periods were 

not reversed.

Goodwill is generally impairment-tested at the level of cash-generating unit. The impairment test is based 

on measuring the recoverable amount. This is derived from the higher of fair value less costs of disposal, 

and value-in-use. Within the M.A.X. Group, impairment tests are generally conducted by comparing value-

in-use and carrying amount.

If the carrying amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill was allocated exceeds its 

recoverable amount, the goodwill allocated to this cash generating unit is written down in the amount of 

the difference.

If the value impairment of the cash generating unit exceeds the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated 

to it, the surplus impairment is distributed proportionally among the assets allocated to the cash generating 

unit (IAS 36.104 et seq.). The individual assets’ fair values and values in use (where determinable) are taken 

into account as a minimum value in this context.

The carrying amount of the cash-generating unit comprises the net assets, and is derived from operating 

assets, less disclosed hidden reserves (especially goodwill), and less operating liabilities.

Primarily market price-based methods are applied to measure fair value less costs of disposal. Recourse is 

made to discounted cash flow (DCF) methods to measure value-in-use.

The weighted average cost of capital (WACC) approach is applied in this context (Institute of Public Auditors 

in Germany [IDW], Standard IDW RS HFA 16 [30]) The level of market risk premium is selected in compliance 

with the promulgations of the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW). The risk-free rate is measured 

applying a calculation recommended by the IDW (Svensson method). The beta factor, the cost of capital 

interest rate and the gearing are calculated by making recourse to capital market data for comparable 

companies from the same sector (peergroup).
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The following requirements are to be taken into consideration in this context:

•  Pursuant to IAS 36.50, cash flows from financing activities as well as for income taxes are not be included 

in the calculation of value-in-use.

•  The costs of equity are calculated on the basis of the capital asset pricing model, and amount to 8.01 

% (previous year: 7.09 %). The cost of capital is calculated taking into account a risk-free rate of 1.57 % 

(previous year: 1.75 %), a risk premium of 6.5 % (previous year: 6.0 %), and a beta of 0.99 (previous year: 

0.89). The peer group’s borrowing rate amounts to 2.14%. Taking the 11.11% gearing into account, the 

weighted average cost of capital amounts to 10.51%.

•  The cost of capital is the pretax interest rate that reflects current market estimates of the time value of 

money and the specific risks of the measurement object. As the returns of risky equity instruments that 

are observable on the capital market frequently include tax effects, the calculated weighted cost of capital 

has been adjusted to reflect such tax effects.

Value-in-use is calculated by applying the present value of cash flows for two growth phases. The first 

phase is based on three-year planning that is prepared by the management of the respective cash-

generating unit and approved by the Supervisory Board. Any new information that arises subsequently 

is taken into account. The second phase is based on a perpetual return on the sustainably recoverable 

amount based on the final year of the detailed forecast phase, and taking a 1% growth rate into account. 

Based on the order book position and the time taken to process it, the selected planning horizon primarily 

reflects the following assumptions for short-term and medium-term market trends: sales revenue trend, 

market shares and growth rates, raw materials costs, cost to acquire and retain customers, personnel trends 

and investments. The M.A.X. Group plans slight increases to sales revenue and EBIT for the 2016 to 2018 

periods. These assumptions are mainly calculated in-house, and predominantly reflect past experience, or 

are compared with external market values.

As part of a sensitivity analysis for the groups of cash generating units to which significant goodwill is 

allocated, a one percentage point increase in the discounting rate (after tax) or a 10% reduction in cash 

flows was assumed. On this basis, M.A.X. Automation AG arrives at the result that no impairment losses are 

required for any of the groups of cash generating units.

Equity accounted investments

Companies over which M.A.X. Automation AG has significant influence, but not control, are recognized 

applying the equity method. Such companies are recognized at cost when first included in the financial 

statements. Such interests are carried forward in subsequent periods. Proportionate annual profits or annual 

losses increase or reduce the value of the interest, although such an interest cannot be written down to 

lower than EUR 0. Dividends received from the company are deducted from its value.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less depreciation, and any requisite impairment losses. 

In this context, costs of production include not only directly attributable specific costs but also an appropriate 

portion of production overheads.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated straight-line over the following useful lives:

Prospective useful lives

Buildings 8 to 50 years

Exterior facilities 8 to 33 years

Technical plant and machinery 2 to 15 years

Other plant, operating and office equipment 1 to 17 years

Economic useful lives are determined taking into account prospective physical wear and tear, technical  

obsolescence, and legal and contractual restrictions.

Assets under construction are recognized at cost. Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalized. 

Depreciation for such assets commences when they have been completed, or when they are ready for 

operation.

 

Given indications of impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined on the basis of its value-

in-use in order to establish the level of impairment loss. The impairment loss is expensed.

If the reason for past impairment no longer applies, the impairment loss is reversed accordingly.

The impairment loss reversal in this context is restricted to the level that would have arisen if no impairment 

losses had been applied in previous years. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognized in profit or loss.

Investment property

Investment property comprises real estate that is held to generate rental income and/or for value appreciation 

purposes. An investment property is measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs. Investment 

properties are subsequently measured at amortized cost on the basis of the cost model. Depreciation is 

applied straight-line over a period of 18 to 40 years.

An investment property is derecognized on disposal, or when the investment property is permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The gain or loss on 

disposal is calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the asset’s carrying amount, 

and is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in the period when the disposal occurs.
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Non-current financial liabilities

Financial assets are measured at cost on the acquisition date.

Interests in subsidiaries and participating interests that are not consolidated are measured at cost, as their fair 

value cannot be measured reliably.

Loans extended are measured at amortized cost.

Investments that are not recognized at fair value are tested regularly for impairment. Investments that are 

impaired are written down to their recoverable amount, with related impairment losses being expensed. If the 

reason for an impairment loss applied in previous periods no longer exists, the impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are recognized at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Besides production materials and pro-

duction wages, production costs also include materials and production overheads that require capitalization. 

Discount are applied to inventories that lack marketability. Costs are allocated to different types of inventory 

by means of specific allocation, the average method, or the FIFO (first-in, first-out) method.

Impairment losses are applied where specific assets’ net realizable values fall below their carrying amounts.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs 

associated with a construction contract are recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 

activity at the end of the reporting period. The degree of completion is calculated on the basis of the contract 

costs that have been incurred for the work rendered in ratio to the expected contract costs (cost-to-cost 

method). Changes to the contractual work, claims and performance premiums are included to the extent that 

their level can be determined reliably, and receipt of them is regarded as probable.

If the result of a construction contract cannot be measured reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the 

level of the incurred contract costs that can probably be collected. Contract costs are expensed in the period in 

which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized 

as an expense immediately.

Amounts received before the rendering of contract services are deducted from receivables on the consolidated 

balance sheet. Invoiced amounts for services already rendered that customers have not yet paid are included 

under trade receivables on the consolidated balance sheet.
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Current financial liabilities

Pursuant to IAS 32, financial assets include i.a. trade receivables, receivables due from banks, cash on hand, 

derivative financial instruments, and marketable other miscellaneous financial assets.

Categorization is applied on the basis of IAS 39:

a)  Besides derivative financial assets, financial assets that are measured at fair value through profit or loss 

include held-for-trading financial assets. Such assets are purchased with the intention of short-term resale 

(e.g. equities, fixed income securities). Measurement is at fair value; valuation adjustments are recognized 

in profit or loss.

b)  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

listed on an active market. These include mainly trade receivables. Following initial recognition, receivables 

are measured at cost less valuation allowances to cover identifiable risks. General valuation allowances to 

reflect past default rates are recognized only if they can also be evidenced quantitatively. Gains and losses, 

as well as interest effects arising from applying the effective interest method, are recognized in profit or 

loss.

The company assumes that the recognized values of its financial instruments generally correspond to their fair 

values.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash equivalents that are measured at cost. They include cash 

positions, call deposits at banks banks, and other short-term, high liquid financial assets with a maximum 

three-month term as of the acquisition date. The cash and cash equivalents on which the cash flow statement 

is based corresponds to the cash and cash equivalents as defined here.

2.2. Equity and liabilities

Equity issue costs

Equity issue costs are deducted from the capital reserves after taking into account tax incurred on them.

Revenue reserve

The fair value of non-controlling interests deriving from the company agreement is deducted from the 

revenue reserves.

Liabilities arising from minority shareholder settlement claims

The liabilities due to the non-controlling shareholders of Vecoplan Midwest LLC are recognized at fair value, 

whereby this fair value corresponds to the respective attributable share of earnings.

Pension obligations

The provisions for pensions and similar obligations are measured applying the projected unit credit method 

for retirement benefit commitments. The calculation is based on the ’2005 G ’ mortality tables published by 

K. Heubeck. Not only pensions and entitlements to future pensions that are known on the reporting date are 

taken into account, but also future expected changes to salaries and pensions. The service cost is included 

under personnel expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. On origination, actuarial gains and 



71

losses, as well as gains and losses from the revaluation of plan assets, are reported in other comprehensive 

income, deducted from the revenue reserve. The interest cost is reported in the net interest result.

Tax provisions and other provisions

Tax provisions and other provisions are formed to an appropriate level for all identifiable risks and contingent 

liabilities. The precondition for recognition is that utilization is probable, and that the level of the obligation can 

be measured reliably. Non-current provisions are discounted.

Liabilities

Liabilities are measured at cost on initial recognition, and at amortized cost in subsequent years. Discounts 

and transaction costs are taken into account applying the effective interest method. Non-current, non-interest-

bearing liabilities are recognized at present value.

2.3. Statement of comprehensive income

Revenue and other operating income are recognized when a service is rendered, or when a claim is 

originated. Interest income and interest expenses are recognized in the period in which they are received or 

incurred.

Customer-specific construction contracts are measured applying the percentage of completion (PoC) method. 

Here, the costs incurred during the financial year, and the revenues attributable to the financial year, are 

recognized in profit or loss according to the percentage of completion. The percentage of completion is 

measured according to the costs incurred (cost-to-cost method).

Expenditures connected with the development of new products and processes, including significant 

improvements and refinements to already existing products, are expensed as incurred, to the extent that the 

criteria for capitalization are not met.

2.4. Earnings per share

Undiluted (basic) earnings per share are calculated by dividing the share of the net profit that is attributable to 

the parent company shareholders by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the financial year 

under review. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by assuming that all potentially dilutive securities are 

converted or exercised.

2.5. Currency translation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the respective company’s functional currency 

applying the mid spot exchange rate on the transaction date. At the end of the reporting period, the company 

translates monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies into the functional currency applying 

the mid spot exchange rate valid on that date. Gains and losses from currency translation are recognized in profit 

or loss.
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The separate annual financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 

statements whose functional currency is not the euro are translated into the Group’s currency, the euro, on  

the basis of their functional currency, which corresponds in each case to the national currency.

Applying the reporting date method, their balance sheets are translated from their functional currency into  

the reporting currency applying the mid spot exchange rate on the reporting date.

There income statements are translated applying the average rate for the reporting period.

Equity is translated at historical exchange rates.

Gains and losses from currency translation are carried directly to equity.

Balance sheet:  
reporting date rate

Income statement:  
average rate

EUR 1 = 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 2015 2014

China CNY 7.06080 7.53580 6.97300 8.18826

United Kingdom GBP 0.73395 0.77890 0.72600 0.80642

Poland PLN 4.26390 4.27320 4.18279 4.18447

USA USD 1.08870 1.21410 1.10963 1.32885

2.6. Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases if the lease agreement essentially transfers all opportunities and risks 

connected with ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held as part of a finance lease are recognized by the lessee at the start of the lease as an asset 

measured at fair value or, if it is lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is reported among other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

The lease payments are divided into financing costs and the capital repayment of the lease liability, so that 

constant periodic interest is applied to the remaining liability. The financing costs are recognized as interest 

expenses directly in the statement of comprehensive income. If a finance lease results in a depreciable asset, 

a depreciation or amortization charge is incurred in each period. Depreciation and amortization charges are 

calculated applying the regulations of IAS 16 Problem, Plant and Equipment or IAS 38 Intangible Assets that 

are relevant for the asset.

Lease payments arising from operating leases are expensed straight-line by the lessee over the lease 

duration, unless another systematic basis corresponds better to the temporal progression of utilization for the 

M.A.X. Group. Contingent lease payments as part of an operating lease are expensed in the period in which 

they are incurred.
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2.7. Derivative financial instruments and hedges

Derivative financial instruments are deployed exclusively to hedge against currency or interest rate risks. The 

company does not enter into pure trading transactions without corresponding underlying transactions. In order 

to limit default risk, derivative financial instruments are concluded exclusively with banks with first-class credit 

ratings.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value both on first-time recognition and on subsequent 

measurement. The fair value of a financial instrument is the price for which an independent third party would 

assume rights or obligations arising from the financial instrument from another independent party. As far as 

possible, fair values are recognized with the values that are actually to be realized on the market. In the case 

of listed derivatives, these correspond to the positive or negative market value.

Where a stock market value does not exist for a derivative financial instrument, fair value is derived as a 

theoretical value applying recognized finance-mathematical methods. Initial recognition occurs on the trade 

date. Value changes to derivative financial instruments are recognized immediately in profit or loss. IAS 39 

hedge accounting is not applied.

The section on risk management includes more details.

2.8. Income tax

The income tax expense represents the sum of current tax expense and deferred tax.

Current and deferred taxes are recognized in the consolidated income statement unless they are connected 

with items that are recognized either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, current 

and deferred taxes are also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. If current or 

deferred taxes arise from the first-time recognition of a business combination, the tax effects are included in 

the recognition of the business combination.

2.9. Current tax

The current tax expense is calculated on the basis of taxable earnings for the year. Taxable income differs from 

the net profit reported in the consolidated income statement due to expenses and income that are taxable 

in subsequent years, never taxable, or tax-deductible. The Group’s liability for current taxes calculated on the 

basis of tax rates that are valid, or will soon be valid.

2.10. Deferred tax

Deferred taxes are recognized for differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements, and the corresponding tax valuations as part of calculating taxable income. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences; deferred tax assets are 

generally reported only to the extent that it is probable that taxable earnings will be available for which the 

deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 

not recognized if the temporary differences arise from goodwill, or from the first-time recognition of other 

assets and liabilities (except in the case of business combinations), which arise from events that affect 

neither taxable income nor net profit for the year.
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Deferred tax liabilities are formed for taxable temporary differences that arise from interests in subsidiaries, 

unless the Group can control the reversal of the temporary differences, and it is probable that the temporary 

difference will also not reverse within the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets that arise from temporary differences connected with interests in subsidiaries are 

recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available with which 

the assets from the temporary differences can be utilized. It must also be assumed that these temporary 

differences will reverse within the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed every year on the reporting date, with an impairment 

loss being applied if it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to fully or partly 

realize the asset.

Deferred tax liabilities and tax assets are measured on the basis of the expected tax rates and tax laws that 

will be valid prospectively on the day when the liability is satisfied, or the asset is realized. The measurement 

of deferred tax assets and tax liabilities reflects the tax consequence that arises from the manner in which the 

Group anticipates on the reporting date that it will satisfy the liability or realize the asset.

2.11. Restatement of previous years’ figures

By way of divergence from the previous year, currency differences have been reported within the operating 

result since January 1, 2015, as is also the practice at other listed companies, and thereby taking the M.A.X. 

Group’s growing international orientation into account. The previous year was restated accordingly.

The following items in the statement of comprehensive income have changed due to the restatements:

in TEUR 2014 restated 2014 as reported

Other operating revenue 10,731 8,587

Other operating expenses –48,211 –47,470

Other financial profit/loss 0 1,403

3. Consolidation

3.1. Consolidation principles

In the consolidation (elimination) of the investment account, the costs of acquiring the subsidiaries are 

offset with the fair values of proportionate equity as of the acquisition date (revaluation model). Remaining 

differences are recognized as goodwill, and tested annually for impairment (DCF method with WACC 

approach).

As part of consolidating liabilities and income, receivables and liabilities between Group companies, as well as 

expenses and income incurred or accrued within the Group, are consolidated. Intragroup profits and losses are 

eliminated.
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3.2. Scope of consolidation

All of the Group’s active subsidiaries are included in its scope of consolidation. These comprise majority 

interests. Subsidiaries that are immaterial to convey a true and fair view – even when aggregated – are not 

included.

Besides M.A.X. Automation AG the scope of consolidation on the balance sheet date comprised a total of  

27 subsidiaries that are listed in the schedule of shareholdings, as well as the equity accounted joint venture 

Vecoplan FuelTrack GmbH i.L.

In line with the clear strategic orientation, existing companies are classified into the segments of Industrial 

Automation and Environmental Technology. The scope of consolidation is composed as follows:

Number of companies included 2015 2014

Industrial Automation 18 18

Environmental Technology 9 11

Group 27 29

3.3. Changes to the scope of consolidation

In the Industrial Automation segment, NSM Magnettechnik GmbH acquired 100% of the shares of iNDAT 

Robotics GmbH, Ginsheim-Gustavsburg, and of iNDAT Engineering + Service GmbH, Braunschweig on 

February 6, 2015. The iNDAT Group owns the wholly-owned subsidiary of iNDAT Robotics GmbH, iNDAT 

Systems + Research GmbH, Ginsheim-Gustavsburg. The iNDAT Group was consolidated for the first time as  

of February 1, 2015, and allocated to the NSM Magnettechnik subgroup.

With an entry in the commercial register dated August 14, 2015, iNDAT Systems + Research GmbH was 

merged with iNDAT Robotics GmbH with retroactive effect as of January 1, 2015.

With an entry in the commercial register dated December 2, 2015, iNDAT Engineering + Service GmbH was 

merged with iNDAT Robotics GmbH with retroactive effect as of July 1, 2015.

With an entry in the commercial register dated December 7, 2015, mabu-pressen GmbH was merged with 

NSM Magnettechnik GmbH with retroactive effect as of July 1, 2015.

In the Environmental Technology segment, Vecoplan Maschinenfabrik Verwaltungs GmbH, with a commercial 

registry entry dated August 12, 2015, and WasteTec GmbH with a commercial registry entry dated August 19, 

2015, were merged with Vecoplan AG, Bad Marienberg, with retroactive effect as of January 1, 2015.
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3.4. iNDAT Robotics GmbH

The iNDAT Group is a robotics and manufacturing automation specialist whose solutions are deployed at 

renowned automotive manufacturers and automotive suppliers, in particular. iNDAT Robotics develops its own 

products such as a standardized flexible robot cells for the fully automated deburring of metallic parts or the 

punching of plastic components. It is also a system supplier of complete assembly units in production lines, and 

of fully automated plants, including in automotive pressing plants.

This acquisition enables the M.A.X. Group to now offer complex software applications and comprehensive plant 

systems that include integrated robotics solutions. Such robotic solutions hold great promise for the future. This 

transaction significantly expands the range of products and services for the automotive industry. iNDAT Robotics 

employs around 80 individuals and is debt-free.

The maximum acquisition price amounts to TEUR 12,800, and includes earnout regulations that depend on the 

trend in EBIT, as well as the order book position on the reporting date of the 2015 financial year, and on key 

personnel data up to 2016.

A part of the fixed purchase price, amounting to TEUR 9,000, was paid in February 2015. Most of the earnout 

components for the 2015 financial year were achieved. The 2015 consolidated earnings include a small amount 

from the derecognition of an earnout of TEUR 213. The turnouts for the 2015 financial year are due to be paid out 

in early 2016.

A further payment of the fixed purchase price of TEUR 1,500 (guarantee retention) is due to be paid out in August 

2016. The last earnout component is due to be paid out in early 2017.

On the basis of the planning figures submitted, the variable purchase price components totaling TEUR 2,300 were 

recognized in full in the purchase price allocation. The long-term purchase price components were discounted.

Hidden reserves totaling TEUR 3,692 relating to technology, the customer base and the order book position were 

ascertained as part of the purchase price allocation. The assets’ useful lives amount to between two and four 

years. Deferred tax liabilities of TEUR 1,127 are incurred on these.

The iNDAT Group’s are remeasured equity amounts to TEUR 4,860. Goodwill of TEUR 7,663 remains as a 

consequence.

TEUR

Consideration rendered 12,524

Less assets acquired 11,229

Plus liabilities acquired 6,368

Goodwill 7,663

The goodwill includes components that cannot be recognized individually. These include mainly know-how  

concerning automation components, process automation and the company’s handling automation, the 

expansion of the range of products and services for the automotive industry, and with it access to new 

customers and markets.
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No deferred tax relating to the goodwill arose as part of the purchase price allocation, and will also not arise 

in the future.

The M.A.X. Group added the following assets as part of the first-time consolidation of the iNDAT Group as of 

February 2015:

TEUR

Non-current assets 11,544

Goodwill 7,663

Intangible assets 3,760

Property, plant and equipment 97

Other non-current assets 24

Current assets 7,348

Inventories 1,520

Trade receivables 4,180

Prepayments and accrued income, and other current assets 192

Cash and cash equivalents 1,456

Non-current borrowings 1,277

Deferred tax 1,277

Current borrowings 5,091

Trade payables 4,097

Other current liabilities 234

Provisions and liabilities from taxes 88

Other provisions 240

Other current liabilities 432

If the iNDAT Group had already formed part of the M.A.X. Group at the start of the financial year under review, 

the earnings as of December 31, 2015 would change as follows:

TEUR

Pro forma sales revenues 384,900

Pro forma EBIT before PPA-related amortization 24,823

Pro forma net profit for the year 10,567

The following amounts from the iNDAT Group are included in consolidated earnings as of December 31, 2015:

TEUR

Revenue 18,824

EBIT before PPA-related amortization 1,800

Net income 435

4. Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

4.1. Assets

The composition of non-current assets and their changes in 2015 are presented in the consolidated statement 

of changes in non-current assets. The consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets is attached as 

an annex to the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Non-current assets

(1) Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise licenses, IT software, technology, development projects, websites, order book  

positions, brands and customer relationships.

Development costs of TEUR 1,683 were capitalized (previous year: TEUR 3,552). The carrying amount of 

intangible assets created by the company stands at TEUR 5,092 as of December 31, 2015 (previous year:  

TEUR 4,588).

(2) Goodwill

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Goodwill 53,126 45,991

Derivative goodwill 4,024 4,223

– of which Industrial Automation 3,638 3,637

– of which Environmental Technology 386 586

Goodwill from consolidation of the investment account 49,102 41,768

– of which Industrial Automation 43,076 35,413

– of which Environmental Technology 6,026 6,355

The reported goodwill from capital consolidation (elimination of the investment account) is comprises fol-

lows in detail: 

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Goodwill from consolidation of the investment account 49,102 41,768

Industrial Automation 43,076 35,413

– of which NSM Magnettechnik Group 19,787 12,124

– of which MA micro automation GmbH 11,661 11,661

– of which ELWEMA Automotive GmbH 4,165 4,165

– of which bdtronic Group 2,747 2,747

- of which IWM Automation Group 2,676 2,676

– of which Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH 1,180 1,180

– of which AIM Micro Systems GmbH 860 860

Environmental Technology 6,026 6,355

– of which Vecoplan Group 6,026 6,026

– of which altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG 0 329

Goodwill from capital consolidation rose to TEUR 49,102 in the financial year under review (previous year: 

TEUR 41,768). This increase arises mainly from the initial consolidation of iNDAT Robotics GmbH as a new 

Group company within the NSM Magnettechnik Group in an amount of TEUR 7,663, and a countervailing 

effect of TEUR 329 arising from the impairment loss applied to the goodwill of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG 

attributable to the altmeyer operation, as part of the management buyout of both of the company’s opera-

tions. Further remarks concerning the management buyout of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG. are presented  

in section 2.3.10 of the Group management report.
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(3) Property, plant and equipment

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Property, plant and equipment 32,534 39,263

Land and buildings 20,106 25,380

Technical plant and machinery 5,022 8,267

Other plant, operating and office equipment 4,228 5,359

Plant under construction 668 208

Prepayments rendered 2,510 49

The TEUR 6,729 reduction in property, plant and equipment to TEUR 32,534 (previous year: TEUR 39,263) arises 

mainly from the changes presented in the statement of changes in non-current assets. The management buyout 

of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG. entailed, inter alia, reclassifying the land and buildings of the BTD operations 

to investment property (TEUR 3,966), and the disposal of the land of the altmayer operations (TEUR 1,448). 

Information about existing land charges and collateral assignments can be found in section 4.2 (17).

(4) Investment property

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Investment property 3,966 0

Land 479 0

Buildings 3,487 0

The investment property item includes the land/buildings of the former BTD operations of altmayerBTD GmbH 

& Co. KG, whose fair value amounted to TEUR 6,500 on the reporting date. The value is derived on the basis 

of the pre-emptive right for the purchaser of the real estate of the BTD operations, and the company’s own 

calculations. Recourse was made to land registry office valuations in this context. No operating costs were 

incurred for the maintenance of the utilized investment property as it was not reclassified to investment prop-

erties until the reporting date. The acquirer of the BTD operations holds a pre-emptive right for the property 

that expires at the end of 2018. The property’s remaining land is also to be sold soon.

The M.A.X. Group anticipates the following payments from the non-cancelable rental contracts over the  

coming years:

TEUR up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
longer than 

5 years Total

Rental payments 210 420 0 630

The rental contract runs until December 31, 2021, with the tenants being able to extend once until  

December 31, 2025. The table above assumes that the tenant exercises the purchase option in 2018.

(5) Equity accounted investments

The “Vecoplan FuelTrack GmbH i.L.” joint venture, which was founded on April 7, 2011, and which is 49% held 

by Vecoplan AG, was recognized at its acquisition cost of TEUR 25, and fully written off in 2011 due to start-up 

losses. The winding down of the company was approved by way of shareholder resolution on March 4, 2014.

The proportional accrued retained earnings of the M.A.X. Group amount to TEUR 60 (previous year: TEUR 60).
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The company’s total assets (of which assets: TEUR 391 (previous year: TEUR 3,870) amount to TEUR 391 (previous 

year: TEUR 3.698) and its level of liabilities amounts to TEUR 220 (previous year: TEUR3,698). The company 

generated TEUR 3,451 of sales revenue in the 2015 financial year (previous year: TEUR 7,238). The net income for 

the year according to the financial statements prepared according to the German Commercial Code (HGB) as of 

September 30, 2015 (reporting date for majority shareholders) amounted to TEUR 715 (previous year: TEUR 595).

The company’s unaudited annual financial statements as of September 30, 2015 prepared in accordance with

German Commercial Code (HGB) accounting principles provide the basis for the figures presented here.

(6) Other investments

Other investments of TEUR 1,992 (previous year: TEUR 273) include, among other items, a vendor loan of  

TEUR 850 and a dormant equity investment of TEUR 800. Both the vendor loan and the dormant equity investment 

were substantiated in the financial year elapsed in connection with the management buyout at altmayerBTD GmbH 

& Co. KG. Other investments also include TEUR 30 of interests in affiliated companies (previous year: TEUR 83). These 

relate to interests in a general partnership limited liability companies that are of minor significance for the consoli-

dated financial statements. The year-on-year change arises from the merger of BDS Führungskräfte GmbH with 

M.A.X. Management GmbH (formerly: AIM-Assembly in Motion GmbH), and the merger of Mess- und Regeltech-

nik Verwaltungs GmbH with Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH. Other non-current financial assets exist in an 

amount of TEUR 312 (previous year: TEUR 190), and include a tenant loan of TEUR 196 (previous year: TEUR 131).

Other investments are no longer listed in the statement of changes in non-current assets due to their minor 

significance for the M.A.X. Group.

(7) Deferred tax

Deferred taxes are to be allocated to the following balance sheet items in line with their origination:

in TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Deferred  
tax  

assets

Deferred  
tax  

liabilities

Deferred  
tax  

assets

Deferred  
tax  

liabilities

Non-current balance sheet items

A.  Non-current assets 6,476 12,100 6,507 12,092

I.  Intangible assets 290 10,994 186 11,055

II.  Property, plant and equipment 652 1,017 606 988

III.  Non-current assets 14 89 61 49

IV.  Deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards 5,520 0 5,654 0

B.  Non-current borrowings 138 36 148 78

Current balance sheet items

C.  Current assets 1,250 5,210 849 3,415

I.  Inventories and trade receivables 1,250 5,190 849 3,415

II.  Current assets 0 20 0 0

D.  Current borrowings 565 0 264 0

Sub-total 8,429 17,346 7,768 15,585

Valuation adjustments applied to loss carryforwards –51 0 –192 0

Offsetting –1,786 0 –1,325 0

Total 6,592 17,346 6,251 15,585



81

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arising from long-term construction contracts were offset, as 

were deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities within the Group’s fiscal units for corporation tax purposes.

Within the Group, domestic tax loss carryforwards in the trade tax area exist in an amount of TEUR 1,577 

at the parent company (previous year: TEUR 12,041). The resultant trade tax benefits amount to TEUR 218 

(previous year: TEUR 1,660).

In addition, domestic trade tax loss carryforwards exist in an amount of TEUR 21,319 (previous year: TEUR 

14,859), and corporation tax loss carryforwards in an amount of TEUR 12,180 (previous year: TEUR 9,003), with 

deferred tax assets totaling TEUR 4,542 (previous year: TEUR 3,262), which were value-adjusted in an amount 

of TEUR 0 (previous year: TEUR 117). The domestic loss carryforwards amount to TEUR 3,373 (previous year: 

TEUR 3,122), with the related deferred tax assets of TEUR 760 (previous year: TEUR 732) being value-adjusted 

in an amount of TEUR 51 (previous year: TEUR 75).

When measuring the value retention of the loss carryforwards, so-called minimum taxation has had to be 

taken into account in Germany since 2004. Loss carryforwards can be offset against subsequent years’ profits 

up to TEUR 1,000 on an unlimited basis, and beyond by up to 60%.

The value retention of the deferred tax assets relating to loss carryforwards was reviewed. The realization of 

these loss carryforwards is sufficiently ensured.

Of the deferred tax assets relating to loss carryforwards after valuation adjustments, an amount of TEUR 

4,091 (previous year: TEUR 3,723) is covered through deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets of TEUR 

1,377 (previous year: TEUR 891) comprise loss carryforwards that are not covered by deferred tax liabilities, 

and where losses occurred in previous periods. Measures to utilize the losses in the near term are being 

implemented.

The following amounts are reported in the consolidated balance sheet:

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Deferred tax assets:

 – from deductible differences 2,909 2,114

 – from tax loss carryforwards 5,469 5,462

 – offsetting with deferred tax liabilities –1,786 –1,325

Total deferred tax assets 6,592 6,251

Deferred tax liabilities:

 –  from taxable temporary differences 17,346 15,585

(8) Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets of TEUR 409 (previous year: TEUR 895) exist mainly from available liquid assets (cash 

deposits) of TEUR 20 (previous year: TEUR 561), non-current trade receivables of TEUR 350 (previous year: 

TEUR 257), and from capitalized corporation tax credits of M.A.X. Automation AG and mabu-pressen GmbH 

(which was merged with NSM Magnettechnik GmbH) of TEUR 37 (previous year: TEUR 74). The tax authority is 

disbursing the credit in installments over a 10-year period that started in 2008. Discounting of 4% is applied.
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The aforementioned cash deposits have mainly been discontinued as part of the new syndicated financing 

facility for the M.A.X. Group.

Current assets

(9) Inventories

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Raw materials and supplies 15,462 14,812

Unfinished goods and work-in-progress 105,565 93,989

Unfinished goods and work-in-progress (construction contracts) –92,090 –80,000

Finished goods and services 49,814 31,975

Finished goods and services (construction contracts) –43,593 –23,412

Prepayments rendered 4,494 4,629

Inventories 39,652 41,993

A year-on-year inventory change of TEUR –3,483 occurred in the case of finished goods and services (previous 

year: TEUR –3,393), which is reported in the statement of comprehensive income. Differences to the corre-

sponding balance sheet items arise from exchange rate-related value changes to inventories of foreign Group 

companies, the first time consolidation of the iNDAT Group, and the management buyout of the two opera-

tions of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG.

Impairment losses of TEUR 1,262 are included in inventories (previous year: TEUR 1,104). Information about col-

lateral assignments is included in section 4.2 (17).

(10) Trade receivables

Trade receivables include receivables arising from applying the PoC method to construction contracts:

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Receivables from construction contracts 156,130 107,184

Proportionately recognized cost –135,683 –103,412

Reported unappropriated retained earnings 20,447 3,772

Prepayments received for construction contracts –105,755 –72,004

Current receivables from construction contracts 50,375 35,180

Revenues of TEUR 209,506 were recognized from long-term construction contracts during the period under 

review (previous year: TEUR 179,828).
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The following table provides an overview of the trade receivables’ term structure:

in TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Trade receivables

Neither overdue nor individually value-adjusted receivables 37,180 31,078

Individual value allowances –1,085 –750

Collective value allowances –420 –499

Overdue receivables that are not individually value-adjusted

< 30 days 7,356 4,632

> 30 days 1,390 3,282

> 60 days 1,450 3,999

> 90 days 2,409 4,018

Total 12,605 15,931

Individually value-adjusted receivables 1,116 1,019

Carrying amount 49,396 46,779

Receivables from construction contracts 156,130 107,184

Prepayments received from construction contracts –105,756 –72,004

Trade receivables 99,770 81,959

Information about receivables assignments is included in section 4.2 (17).

The increasinged receivables position arises mainly from the higher volume of construction contracts.

(11) Receivables due from related companies

The TEUR 86 item relates mainly to trade receivables due from Vecoplan FuelTrack GmbH i.L.

(12) Prepayments and accrued income, and other current assets

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Prepayments and accrued income 1,340 1,323

Receivables from purchase price payments 1,131 0

Claims due from the tax authorities 823 2,513

Receivables arising from compensation claims 538 2,765

Supplier accounts in debit 250 319

Receivables due from employees 213 209

Other receivables 560 777

Prepayments and accrued income, and other current assets 4,885 7,906

(13) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents of TEUR 21,358 (previous year: TEUR 52,377) comprise cash positions, checks and 

bank deposits.
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4.2. Equity and liabilities

Equity

Changes to equity during the financial year are presented separately in the consolidated statement of  

changes in equity.

(14) Subscribed share capital

The company’s fully paid in share capital amounts to EUR 26,794,415.00. It is divided into 26,794,415 no par 

value ordinary shares, each of which grants the same rights, especially the same voting rights. No differing 

classes of equity exist. The company is aware of no restrictions relating to voting rights or the transfer of 

shares. As a consequence, one share corresponds to the notional investment value of EUR 1.00. The shares are 

bearer shares.

The Management Board, with Supervisory Board ascent, determines the form of the share documents, and of 

the dividend coupons and renewal sheets. The same applies for bonds.

The company can aggregate individual shares within share documents that securitize multiple shares (multiple 

share certificate). Shareholders’ entitlement to any securitization of their interests above and beyond this is 

excluded.

Pursuant to Section 5 (6) of the company’s articles of incorporation in the version dated June 30, 2015, the 

Management Board is authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to increase the company’s share capital 

in the period until June 29, 2020, once or on several occasions, by a total of up to EUR 4,019,000.00 through 

issuing new voting-entitled ordinary bearer shares against cash capital contributions (“Approved Capital I”). 

The new shares are to be offered to shareholders for subscription, whereby indirect subscription rights in the 

meaning of Section 186 (5) Clause 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) are satisfactory.

The Management Board is nevertheless authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to exclude fractional 

amounts from shareholders’ subscription rights. The Management Board is also authorized, with Supervisory 

Board assent, to determine a commencement of dividend-entitlement that differs from the law, as well as 

further specifics of the implementation of capital increases from Approved Capital I. The Supervisory Board is 

authorized to adapt the wording of the articles of incorporation after the full or partial implementation of the 

increase of share capital from Approved Capital I, or after the expiry of the authorization period, in accordance 

with the scope of the capital increase from Approved Capital I.

Pursuant to Section 5 (7) of the articles of incorporation in the version dated June 30, 2015, the Management 

Board is authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to increase the company’s share capital once or on several 

occasions during the period until June 29, 2020, by up to a total of EUR 2,665,000.00 against cash or non-cash 

capital contributions through issuing new ordinary bearer shares (with voting rights) (Approved Capital II). 

Shareholders’ statutory subscription rights can be satisfied by indirect subscription rights in the meaning of 

Section 186 (5) Clause 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) The Management Board is additionally 

authorized, with Supervisory Board approval, to exclude statutory shareholder subscription rights in the 

following instances:

• for fractional amounts;

•  if the capital increase occurs against cash capital contributions, and the total proportional amount of the 
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share capital attributable to the new shares for which subscription rights are excluded does not exceed  

either 10 % of the share capital existing as of June 30, 2015, nor 10 % of the share capital on the date of  

the registration of the authorization, nor 10 % of the share capital existing on the date when the company’s 

new shares are issued, and the issue amount of the new shares is not significantly less in the meaning of 

Sections 203 (1) and (2), 186 (3) Clause 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) than the stock market 

price of the already listed shares; in calculating the 10 % limit, the proportional amount of the share capital  

is to be deducted that is attributable to the new or repurchased shares that are issued or sold since June  

30, 2015 under simplified exclusion of subscription rights pursuant, or corresponding, to Section 186 (3) 

Clause 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), as well as the proportional amount of the share capital 

to which conversion or option rights or obligations arising from bonds relate, which have been issued since 

June 30, 2015 in analogous application of Section 186 (3) Clause 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG);

•  in the case of capital increases against non-cash capital contributions, in order to grant shares as part 

of mergers with other companies or the acquisition of companies, parts of companies, or interests in 

companies, or other assets that can comprise capital contributions.  

The Management Board is also authorized, with Supervisory Board assent, to determine a commencement 

of dividend-entitlement that differs from the law, as well as further specifics of the implementation of 

capital increases from Approved Capital II. The Supervisory Board is authorized to adapt the wording of the 

articles of incorporation after the full or partial implementation of the increase of share capital from Ap-

proved Capital I, or after the expiry of the authorization period, in accordance with the scope of the capital 

increase from Approved Capital II.

The company has not utilized these authorizations to date.

(15) Capital reserves and revenue reserve

The consolidated statement of changes in equity presents the composition and changes in the capital reserves 

and the revenue reserve.

Profits attributable to minority shareholders are deducted from the revenue reserve. Their share amounted to 

TEUR 363 in 2015 (previous year: TEUR 739). Along with income tax, this also reflects actuarial gains and losses 

on pension provisions. These amounted to TEUR 57 in 2015 (previous year: TEUR 150).

(16) Unappropriated retained earnings

Due to the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the amount that is available for distribu-

tions of dividends to the shareholders is based on the unappropriated retained earnings and other revenue 

reserves as reported in the separate annual financial statements of M.A.X. Automation AG, which are 

prepared in accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The separate financial 

statements of M.A.X. Automation AG report unappropriated retained earnings of TEUR 14,087 on the basis  

of accounting pursuant to the German Commercial Code (HGB).

The Management and Supervisory boards propose the distribution of a dividend of 0.15 euro per share from 

the unappropriated retained earnings. This corresponds to a total dividend payout amount of TEUR 4,019.  

The dividend payout results generally in a deduction of 25% capital gains tax and 5.5% Solidarity 
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Surcharge on the capital gains tax (the total deduction consequently amounts to 26.375%), as well as any 

church tax.

Capital management

The overall framework for optimal capital management is set by the strategic orientation of the M.A.X. Group. 

The focus is on long-term value growth in the interests of investors, employees and customers. This is to be tak-

en into account through continuous earnings improvement as the result of growth and efficiency enhancement.

Management of the capital structure aims to always ensure maximum flexibility and scope for capital market 

activity. This enables optimal pricing when raising equity and debt financing.

Non-current liabilities

(17) Non-current financial liabilities

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Non-current loans less current portion 48,736 56,006

Remaining term 1–5 years 47,501 54,583

Remaining term > 5 years 1,235 1,423

Other non-current liabilities 3,619 2,798

Remaining term 1–5 years 2,442 1,387

Remaining term > 5 years 1,177 1,411

Total 52,355 58,804

The non-current loans relate to bank borrowings and include the parent company syndicated loan in an 

amount of TEUR 42,223 (previous year: TEUR 48,200).

Other non-current liabilities include liabilities to related companies in an amount of TEUR 0 (previous year: 

TEUR 22), and lease liabilities (see following table Finance leases).

Finance leases

Finance leases for a property, and for various items of operating and office equipment, as well as a technical 

plant, have been concluded within the M.A.X. Group. The basic rental period for the property amounts to 15 

years, and the basic rental period for the technical equipment amounts to 5 years. The lease contracts for the 

items of operating an office equipment have a basic rental period of between 3 and 5 years.

After the end of the basic rental period, the property carries both an option for a further rental period, as 

well as a purchase option. Both the lessee and the lessor can unilaterally exercise the purchase option. Only 

an extension option exists in relation to the technical equipment. The lease contracts connected with the 

operating and office equipment relate to a hire purchase contract, as well as to two further leases that include 

contractual clauses concerning the automatic transfer of legal ownership at the end of the basic rental period. 

The payment of all lease installments incurred during the basic rental period represents a precondition for the 

transfer of ownership.

The lease contracts do not include any types of restrictions on business activities relating to dividends, 

additional liabilities or further leases.
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The historical acquisition costs for the lease assets amounted to TEUR 4,661 (previous year: TEUR 3,970). The 

net carrying amount stands at TEUR 3,927 on the reporting date (previous year: TEUR 3,366). Depreciation of 

TEUR 376 was applied in the year under review (previous year: TEUR 99).

TEUR
up to 1 year 1 to 5 years

longer than  
5 years Total

Minimum lease payments 710 1,906 1,248 3,864

Future financial expenses 149 392 122 663

Present values 561 1,514 1,126 3,201

Non-current loans less current portion

Land charges for liabilities of TEUR 18,758 (previous year: TEUR 8,566), collateral assignment of property, 

plant and equipment, and of stocks, as well as the assignment of receivables for liabilities in an amount of 

TEUR 2,599 (previous year: TEUR 34,905) mainly serve as collateral for the non-current liabilities, as well as 

for the current liabilities reported in section 4.2 (20).

The syndicated loan of M.A.X. Automation AG that was newly implemented in the 2015 financial year 

includes the financial covenants relating to the consolidated financial statements prepared according to 

IFRS. These relate to both balance sheet and earnings figures. Section 11.2 of the Group management report 

provides further related information. In 2015, the M.A.X. Group complied with all covenants agreed with its 

lending banks.

The companies included in the syndicated loan are jointly and severally liable for the obligations arising 

from this agreement. Utilization is deemed unlikely as the debtors’ creditworthiness is secured through 

their membership of the M.A.X. Group. The level of the interest rate on the syndicated loan depends in part 

on key balance sheet figures in the consolidated financial statements. Interest is based on Euribor plus a 

margin derived from the key figures.

The Group’s loans carry interest at both fixed and variable rates. Depending on the term of the agreements, 

interest rates (including finance leases) ranged between 1.24% and 5.70 % in 2015.

(18) Pension provisions

The pension provisions that are recognized on the balance sheet arise from commitments made by a subsidi-

ary to its employees. The defined benefit obligations within the M.A.X. Group are not financed through funds.

The following key assumptions were included in the actuarial calculations:

31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Interest rate 2.29 % 2.2 % and 3.5 %

Salary trend 0 % 0.0 % and 1.5 %

Pension trend 2.0 % 2.0 %

Notional staff turnover rate none none

Notional pensionable age 65 years 65/66 years

Cost trends in the medical care area have not been taken into consideration in the actuarial assumptions.
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The projected pension benefit obligations report the following changes:

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Balance as of January 1 988 814

Service cost 16 32

Interest cost 23 27

Actuarial gains and losses 81 212

Pensions paid –26 –26

Offsetting with reinsurance 0 –71

Pension provision 1,082 988

The projected pension benefit obligation of the plan assets (asset value) reports the following changes:

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Balance as of January 1 226 156

Addition –226 70

Plan assets December 31 0 226

When Mr. Bernd Priske stepped down from his position as Management Board Spokesman in early 2015, the 

pension provision and the reinsurance cover were wound down.

Actuarial gains and losses were recognized directly in equity.

The pension obligations report the following changes over the last five years:

TEUR 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Pension obligation as recognized on the balance sheet 1,082 988 814 715 646

Plan assets offset 0 226 156 140 124

No significant adjustments to the pension obligations are expected on the basis of experience.

Besides pension payments (TEUR 56), pension costs (interest and current service costs) of prospectively  

TEUR 25 will be incurred in 2016.

Due to the minor significance for the financial position and performance of the M.A.X. Group, the company  

has refrained from conducting a sensitivity analysis of the pension obligations.

Current borrowings

(19) Trade payables

To the extent that they do not relate to construction contracts, prepayments received of TEUR 22,783 

(previous year: TEUR 18,252) are reported under trade payables. Moreover, trade payables include liabilities 

arising from construction contracts of TEUR 9,217 (previous year: TEUR 8,191), TEUR 1,487 of obligations to 

subcontractors (previous year: TEUR 1,419), and TEUR 3,763 (previous year: TEUR 4,079) of liabilities arising 

from deliveries that have not yet been invoice, and assembly services that are still outstanding.
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(20) Current loans and current portion of non-current loans

Short-term bank borrowings of TEUR 12,338 (previous year: TEUR 44,309) were drawn down, for which interest 

is charged on standard market terms. This includes TEUR 10,000 utilized by the US Group companies from an 

allocation line of the syndicated loan from Commerzbank in New York. A review is currently being conducted 

as to whether this line will be utilized to this level in the long term.

The level and composition of collateral is presented in section 4.2 (17).

(21) Liabilities to related companies

Liabilities to related companies consisted in the previous year of TEUR 74 of trade payables due to Vecoplan 

FuelTrack GmbH i.L.

(22) Liabilities arising from minority shareholder settlement claims

This item includes TEUR 618 (previous year: TEUR 2.029) minority interests’ share of the fully consolidated compa-

nies’ equity. The year-on-year change arises mainly from the Vecoplan LLC by Vecoplan Holding Corporation with 

an agreement dated January 2, 2015.

(23) Other current financial liabilities

TEUR 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Wages and salaries 6,003 4,481

Liabilities arising from monies held in trust 4,621 772

Vacation wages/salaries and overtime 3,386 3,070

Acquisition price obligation for iNDAT Robotics GmbH 2,560 0

Lease liabilities 1,019 379

Liabilities from acceptance of drawn bills 1,000 0

As part of social security 547 525

Debtor accounts in credit 485 273

Negative market values of derivative financial instruments 102 138

Miscellaneous current liabilities 1,710 1,212

Other current financial liabilities 21,433 10,850

Wages and salaries include TEUR 5,320 of bonuses (previous year: TEUR 4,039).

(24) Income tax provisions and liabilities

Taxes and levies which have arisen economically as of the balance sheet date but whose level has not yet 

been determined are covered by tax provisions. In Germany, the M.A.X. Group is generally subject to two 

types of taxes on its income: trade tax and corporation tax.

As far as corporation tax is concerned, the standard tax rate of 15% applies, to which a 5.5% Solidarity 

Surcharge is added. Trade tax amounts to an average of around 14%. As a consequence, an average tax rate 

arises in Germany of 29.83%. The M.A.X. Group abroad mainly generates taxable earnings in the USA. The tax 

rate is 36.46 %.
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Tax provisions report the following changes:

TEUR 31.12.2014 Changes to 
the consoli-

dation scope

Consumption Release Additions 31.12.2015

Corporation tax  
with Solidarity Surcharge 3,864 42 466 3 1,473 4,910

Trade tax 1,415 46 39 36 806 2,192

Other taxes 270 0 66 0 133 337

Total provisions 5,549 88 571 39 2,412 7,439

Tax liabilities 87 0 87 0 29 29

Income tax provisions  
and liabilities 5,636 88 658 39 2,441 7,468

The changes arising from currency translation are not reported separately due to their being immaterial, and are 

included among additions to provisions.

 

(25) Other provisions

Other provisions comprise the following main items:

TEUR 31.12.2014 Changes to 
the consoli-

dation scope

Con-
sumption

Release Reclassifi-
cation

Additions 31.12.2015

Non-current warranty provisions 2,123 0 342 205 –446 238 1,368
Non-current personnel  
cost provisions 63 0 0 2 0 0 61
Non-current miscellaneous  
other provisions 10 0 0 0 0 0 10
Other non-current provisions,  
total 2,196 0 342 207 –446 238 1,439

Warranty provisions 2,303 145 630 1,458 446 2,379 3,185

Personnel costs provisions 319 39 166 140 0 760 812

Miscellaneous other provisions 3,785 55 2,397 833 0 2,322 2,932
Other current provisions,  
total 6,407 239 3,193 2,431 446 5,461 6,929

Miscellaneous other provisions include all of the Group’s obligations and risks for which an outflow of funds is 

probable, and which can be estimated reliably. Among other items, these include TEUR 857 of obligations for 

auditing and consulting costs (previous year: TEUR 739), TEUR 528 for subsequent invoices (previous year: TEUR 

266), TEUR 269 for litigation costs/loss compensation (previous year: TEUR 475), TEUR 215 for commissions 

(previous year: TEUR 45), and TEUR 1,063 for other items (previous year: TEUR 2,260).

The changes arising from currency translation are not reported separately due to their being immaterial, and 

are included among additions to provisions.

(26) Other current liabilities

This item, amounting to TEUR 1,602 (previous year: TEUR 2,891), chiefly comprises TEUR 1,342 of wage and 

church taxes (previous year: TEUR 1,359), and TEUR 260 of value added tax (previous year: TEUR 1,532).
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(27) Revenue

in TEUR 2015 2014

Germany 147,024 131,791

European Union 81,343 101,221

North America 96,077 58,137

China 31,188 23,217

Rest of the World 28,184 37,071

Total 383,816 351,437

The M.A.X. Group generally generates revenue from the sale of goods. The effects of accounting for  

construction contracts are presented in section 4.1 (10).

(28) Other operating revenue

TEUR 2015 2014

Income from currency effects 7,042 2,144

Income from release of provisions 2,638 1,181

Income from derecognition of liabilities 968 900

Income from elimination of valuation adjustments 333 200

Income from loss compensation 326 391

Income from derecognition of earnout 213 0

Income from deconsolidations 0 3,391

Income from Lucky Buy 0 613

Other 2,402 1,911

Total 13,922 10,731

The Other item mainly comprises non-cash benefits of TEUR 682 (previous year: TEUR 636), bonuses of  

TEUR 298 that have not yet been disbursed (previous year: TEUR 504), and TEUR 348 from the disposal of 

property, plant and equipment (previous year: TEUR 198). In the previous year, income from deconsolidations 

included income TEUR 3,374 from the disposal of Euroroll Dipl.-Ing. K.-H. Beckmann GmbH & Co. KG, and  

TEUR 17 from the disposal of Vecoplan Integrated Solutions LLC.

(29) Cost of materials

TEUR 2015 2014

Expenses for purchased goods 149,514 133,010

Expenses for purchased services 47,887 50,971

Total 197,401 183,981

(30) Personnel expenses

TEUR 2015 2014

Wages and salaries 93,340 86,943

Social security contributions 16,871 16,014

– of which expenses for pensions and benefits 619 541

Total 110,211 102,957
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Benefits in relation to the termination of employment relationships incurred TEUR 924 of expenses in the year 

under review (previous year: TEUR 1,003).

Employees

Average number of employees excluding trainees 2015 2014

Wage earners 545 605

Salary earners 1,016 932

Total 1,561 1,537

(31) Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses

TEUR 2015 2014

For intangible assets 6,730 5,082

For goodwill 406 0

For buildings, leasehold improvements and external facilities 1,315 1,349

For property, plant and equipment 3,900 3,560

– PPA-related amortization included in the items above 4,849 3,944

Total 12,351 9,991

Depreciation and impairment charges applied to property, plant and equipment include TEUR 451 of  

impairment losses applied to the property, plant and equipment of the divested operations of altmayerBTD 

GmbH & Co. KG.

(32) Other operating expenses

TEUR 2015 2014

Travel expenses 6,684 6,170

Expense from currency effects 6,094 741

Expense for outgoing freight 4,564 5,827

Legal and advisory costs 4,073 3,247

Vehicle expenses 3,991 3,903

Rent/lease expenses 3,590 3,446

Maintenance costs 3,177 3,504

Sales commissions 2,734 2,641

Warranty expenses 2,520 801

Expense for postage, telephone and IT 1,991 1,876

Expense for electricity, gas and water 1,930 2,073

Personnel expense (including training and further development) 1,699 1,371

Expense for insurance 1,505 1,440

Trade fair costs 1,395 1,445

Advertising costs 1,167 930

Miscellaneous other operating expenses 9,633 8,796

Total 56,747 48,211

Travel expenses of TEUR 6,684 (previous year: TEUR 6,170) were incurred mainly for employees engaged in 

assembly, as well as for sale staff.

The increase in expenses arising from currency effects to TEUR 6,094 (previous year: TEUR 741) arises pre-

dominantly from the higher level of sales revenue in North America accompanied by a worsening of the euro 

to US dollar exchange rate.
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Personnel expenses of TEUR 1,669 (previous year: TEUR 1,371) include chiefly expenses for training and further 

development of staff, as well as expenses for staff recruitment, and for voluntary social benefits.

(33) Net interest result

TEUR 2015 2014

Interest income 166 158

– of which with affiliated companies 0 0

Interest expenses –3,815 –3,960

– of which with affiliated companies 0 1

Net interest result –3,649 –3,802

The net interest result includes expenses of TEUR 266 (previous year: TEUR 59) arising from reversing discounts 

applied to non-current provisions, and TEUR 4 (previous year: TEUR 11) of income arising from the discounting 

of non-current provisions.

The net interest result presented above arises exclusively from financial assets and financial liabilities that 

were not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Net gains or losses

The following table presents the net gains or net losses on financial instruments as recognized in the statement 

of comprehensive income:

TEUR 2015 2014

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured  
at fair value through profit or loss 4 –275

Loans and receivables 103 1,206

Net gains or net losses on financial instruments were not recognized directly in equity.

Along with results from market changes, the net gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities 

measured at fair value through profit or loss also include current expenses and income for these financial 

instruments.

Along with current income/expenses, the net gains and net losses deriving from loans and receivables include 

both reversals to impairment losses and impairment losses deriving from trade receivables and trade payables.

(34) Income tax

Earnings before income taxes amount to TEUR 16,265 (previous year: TEUR 14,183).

TEUR 2015 2014

Current taxes on income –4,789 –4,930

Taxes on income relating to other periods –633 272

Deferred tax –255 496

– of which loss carryforwards 7 169

Total –5,677 –4,162
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Current and deferred taxes are measured applying the respective country-specific income tax rates.

The main accounting entries for deferred taxes are explained in section 4.1 (7).

The expected notional income tax expense is derived by multiplying the pretax earnings for the year by the 

Group income tax rate. This is derived from the tax rates of the companies that are included in the financial 

statements. The tax rate has risen compared with the previous year as income generated in countries with 

higher tax rates has grown, and due to the fact that previous year’s tax arrears are included, especially 

relating to tax audits.

The reconciliation between the notional income tax expense and the income tax reported in the statement 

of comprehensive income is presented in the following table:

TEUR 2015 2014

Earnings for the year before income taxes 16,265 14,183

Group income tax rate 31.17 % 32.10 %

Notional income tax expense in the financial year under review 5,071 4,552

Differences deriving from tax rate 95 155

Differing tax burdens (country-specific particularities) 97 68

Correction relating to a value adjustment to deferred tax assets relating to loss carryforwards –141 168

Non-tax-deductible expenses 294 74

Income taxes relating to other periods/adjustment to previous years’ deferred taxes 172 –246

Taxes borne by minority shareholders –138 –307

Tax-neutral income (Lucky Buy) 0 –185

Current-year tax calculation differences 98 –71

Other 129 –46

Taxes on income 5,677 4,162

Effective tax rate 34.90 % 29.34 %

(35) Earnings per share (EPS)

Earnings per share amount to EUR 0.40. Further information on earnings per share, please see section  

6.4 below.

6. Other disclosures relating to the consolidated financial statements

6.1. Consolidated statement of cash flows

The consolidated statement of cash flows is presented applying the indirect method.

6.2. Research and development

Section 1.3 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements includes information about M.A.X. Group  

research and development activities.

Developments occur mainly as part of customer orders. Development costs totaling TEUR 5,087 were incurred in 

2015 (previous year: TEUR 5,070). Of this amount, TEUR 1,683 was capitalized (previous year: TEUR 3,552). This 

corresponds to a 33 % capitalization rate (previous year: 70 %). Amortization and impairment losses of TEUR 

1,120 were applied to development costs (previous year: TEUR 524).
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Of the capitalized development costs, TEUR 1,525 (previous year: TEUR 3,121) is attributable to the Industrial  

Automation segment, and TEUR 158 (previous year: TEUR 431) to the Environmental Technology segment.

6.3. Risk management

General information about financial risks

The Group is exposed to various risks deriving from financial instruments.

• Credit risk

• Liquidity risk

• Market price risk

Credit risks arise mainly from trade receivables. Guaging risks deriving from the project business definitely 

comprises a particularity in this context.

Liquidity risks may arise from an inability to satisfy payment obligations in due time. As a rule, such risks are 

normally associated with negative developments in the operating business.

Market price risks derived from changes to currency exchange rates and interest rates. Currency risks exist  

on the sales side chiefly in the case of invoicing on a US dollar basis.

The risks that are presented can negatively affect the Group’s financial position and performance.

The Group monitors the deployment of financial instruments as part of its risk management. This entails 

functional separation between the companies’ operative processing of the transactions, and the financial 

controlling function that is directed by the parent company. The Group’s guidelines are oriented to identify 

potential risks at an early stage, thereby allowing countermeasures to be launched. These guidelines are 

constantly adapted to market requirements.

The focal aspect of risk management is steered via the operating business and financing activities. Derivative 

financial instruments are deployed only to reduce or avoid risks arising from the operating business. Section 

6.3.3, which covers market price risks, provides additional information about the derivative financial instruments. 

Risk categories

6.3.1. Credit risk

Credit risk describes the risk of financial loss if a counterparty fails to fulfill its contractual obligations or payment 

obligations. Such risk mainly comprises default risk, and the risk of a deterioration in credit standing.

Trade receivables arise from the worldwide sales activities of the individual companies’ operating businesses. No 

debtor exists that accounts for more than 10% of the Group’s receivables position. The Group manages credit risk 

on the basis of internal financial controlling.



96

NOTES TO THE 2015 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
of M.A.X. Automation AG

Deriving from the differing credit ratings of the customers, the following credit insurance is taken out, as a rule:

• Export insurance

• Letters of credit

• Prepayments

• Guarantees and letters of comfort

• Internal credit lines

• Collateral assignments

The Group’s default risks are limited to normal business risk that is reflected through the formation of valuation 

adjustments. Counterparty risk on derivative financial instruments is taken into account by concluding derivative 

transactions exclusively with renowned banks.

The maximum default risk (credit risk) comprises the complete default of the positive carrying amounts of the 

financial instruments. From today’s perspective, the default risk on the financial instruments whose values have not 

been adjusted is generally appraised as low, as default probability is kept low as a result of tight risk management.

6.3.2. Liquidity risk

Operative liquidity management entails aggregating the companies’ short- and medium-term cash flows at 

Group level. Along with the maturities of financial assets and liabilities, these cash flows also comprise the  

expectations for the Group companies’ operating cash flows.

The following cash flows from interest and redemption payments arise for the Group’s liabilities as of  

December 31, 2015:

Carrying 
amount Cash flow Cash flow

Cash flow 
longer than 

TEUR 31.12.2015 up to 1 year 1 to 5 years 5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Financing liabilities 61,074 13,253 8,696 44,576

Trade payables (excluding 
prepayments received) 55,336 55,336 0 0

Other interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing liabilities 25,654 22,385 2,675 1,248

Cash inflows from derivative financial instruments

– Currency derivatives –89 1,431 0 0

– Interest rate derivatives –13 0 0 0

Cash inflows from derivative financial instruments

– Currency derivatives –89 1,338 0 0

– Interest rate derivatives –13 0 0 0

The overview includes the following contents:

• Undiscounted outgoing repayment and interest rate obligations deriving from financing liabilities

• Undiscounted outgoing payments deriving from trade payables

• Undiscounted outgoing payments for other interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing financial liabilities

•  Undiscounted cash outflows and cash inflows (not offset for the respective year) for derivative financial 

instruments
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The following assumptions are imputed for the and discounted outgoing payments:

•  If payment is possible on different dates, the earliest date is imputed as the due date.

•  Derivative financial instruments include derivatives with both negative and positive fair values.

•  The interest payments from financial instruments with variable interest rates are extrapolated based on  

estimated interest rates that are calculated on the basis of interest rates as of the date of the preparation  

of the financial statements.

Future cash outflows are basically covered by operating inflows. Demand financing peaks in terms of timing 

and amount are sufficiently covered by the liquidity that the company holds available, as well as by the inter-

play of short-term and long-term credit lines.

6.3.3. Market price risk

Due to its international orientation, the Group is exposed to market price risks in the form of currency ex-

change rate risks and interest rate risks. Such risks can negatively affect the Group’s financial position and 

performance. Constant monitoring of key economic factors and relevant market information is applied in order 

to assess and appraise such risks.

The Group deploys hedges targeted against currency and interest rate risks.

The Group has established a centrally oriented risk management system for systematic risk recording and 

measurement. Continuous reporting occurs to the Management Board.

Currency risks

The Group’s international orientation means that both its operating business and its reported financing and cash 

flows are exposed to risks emanating from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The Group’s exchange 

rate risk is sales-driven, and consists mainly of the exchange rate between the US dollar and the euro. In par-

ticular, transaction risk, which consists of the fact that revenues are denominated in foreign currencies and the 

related costs are incurred euros, can exert a considerably negative effect on the Group’s earnings and liquidity.

Exchange rate fluctuations are partly hedged through deploying corresponding currency exchange rate hedg-

ing instruments.

Forward currency transactions and currency option transactions are entered into to hedge currency transac-

tions. The company does not enter into pure trading transactions without corresponding underlying transac-

tions.

Forward currency sales can generate market price risks in the form of an obligation to sell currencies at a rate 

below the standard cash market rate on the settlement date. The market price risk in the case of options is 

limited to the option premium.

The terms and level of currency hedges correspond to the hedged underlying transactions. As of the report-

ing date, the Group holds in its positions hedging instruments for a remaining term of up to twelve months in 

order to be able to hedge the future transactions.
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Financial instruments for currency hedging

Nominal  volume in TUSD Fair value TEUR

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Forward currency transactions (sale) 1,313 1,500 –66 –95

Currency options (USD puts) 500 4,500 0 0

Nominal  volume in TCHF Fair value TEUR

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Forward currency transactions (sale) 249 1,619 –23 –10

Pursuant to IFRS 7, the company prepares sensitivity analyses relating to market price risks that allow the effects 

on earnings and equity of hypothetical changes to relevant risk variables to be calculated.

The periodic effects are measured by relating the hypothetical changes in the risk variables to the financial 

instruments position as of the reporting date. This entails imputing that the position on the reporting date is 

representative for the full year.

 

The currency sensitivity analyses are based on the following assumptions:

•  Non-derivative financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency are subject to a currency risk, 

and are consequently included in the sensitivity analysis.

•  Currency rate related changes to the market values of currency derivatives that are neither included in a hedge 

pursuant to IAS 39 nor included in a natural hedge affect the currency result, and are consequently included in 

the sensitivity analysis.

If the euro were to have appreciated by 10% against the US dollar on the balance sheet date, consolidated equity 

would have been TEUR 700 lower due to direct changes (previous year: TEUR 257 lower). If the euro were to have 

depreciated by 10% against the US dollar on the balance sheet date, consolidated equity would have been TEUR 

855 higher due to direct changes (previous year: TEUR 315 higher).

If the euro were to have appreciated by 10% against the US dollar on the balance sheet date, consolidated net 

income would have been TEUR 145 lower (previous year: TEUR 377 lower). If the euro were to have depreciated by 

10% against the US dollar on the balance sheet date, consolidated net income would have been TEUR 178 higher 

(previous year: TEUR 461 higher).

The risks deriving from the GBP, CNY, CHF and PLN have been subjected to a sensitivity analysis. These generate no 

significant effects, however.

Interest rate risks 

Assets and liabilities that are sensitive to interest rates are held to a normal extent within the Group.

The operating business is financed on a matched term basis as a result of the syndicated loan that was 

arranged in 2015. Variable interest refinancing possibilities are nevertheless utilized to a minor extent, 

however, in order to maintain flexibility on the market. Derivative financial instruments such as interest rate 

swaps and caps are deployed to limit the resultant risks.
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An interest rate cap transaction exists where the variable interest rate to be paid is limited to 4.35%. The term 

of the transaction is June 7, 2024. An interest rate cap transaction also exists where the variable interest rate 

to be paid is limited to 4.15%. The term of the transaction is Monday, December 31, 2018. An interest rate 

swap also exists which has a term until June 30, 2017.

TEUR Nominal  volume Fair value

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Interest-rate cap 240 714 2 5

Interest-rate swap 705 1,175 –13 –31

Pursuant IFRS 7, interest rate risks are presented by way of sensitivity analyses. These present the effects of 

changes to market interest rates on interest income and interest expenses, other earnings components, as well 

as equity, where relevant. The interest rate sensitivity analyses are based on the following assumptions:

•  Market interest rate changes to non-derivative fixed interest financial instruments only affect earnings if they 

are measured at fair value. Accordingly, all fixed interest financial instruments measured at amortized cost are 

subject to no interest rate risks in the meaning of IFRS 7.

•  Market interest rate changes affect the result from non-derivative variable interest financial instruments whose 

interest payments are not designated as underlying transactions as part of cash flow hedges against interest 

rate changes, and are consequently taken into account in the sensitivity calculations.

•  Market interest rate changes to interest rate derivatives that are not included in the hedge pursuant to IAS 39 

affect the net interest result, and are consequently included in the sensitivity calculations.

If the market interest rate level had been 100 basis points higher in the year under review, consolidated net 

income would have been TEUR 728 lower (previous year: TEUR 529 lower).

If the market interest rate level had been 100 basis points lower in the year under review, consolidated net 

income would have been TEUR 728 higher (previous year: TEUR 915 higher).

If the market interest rate level had been 100 basis points higher in the year under review, consolidated net 

income would have been TEUR 728 lower (previous year: TEUR 529 lower).

If the market interest rate level had been 100 basis points lower in the year under review, consolidated net 

income would have been TEUR 728 higher (previous year: TEUR 915 higher).

Other price risks

As part of presenting market risks, IFRS 7 also requires information about how hypothetical changes to other 

price risk variables affect the prices of financial instruments. Risk variables particularly include stock market prices 

and indices in this context.
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The company had no holdings of such financial instruments either in the year under review, or in the previous 

year.

6.4. Earnings per sharee

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the following data:

TEUR 2015 2014

Basis for earnings per share (earnings for the year) 10,588 10,021

#

in thousands of shares 2015 2014

Number of shares as of December 31 26,794 26,794

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for earnings per share 26,794 26,794

No dilution of shares pursuant to IAS 33 occurred during the 2014 and 2015 financial years. 

Earnings per share report the following changes:

EUR 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Earnings per share 0.40 0.37 0.38 0.31 0.45

6.5. Segment reporting

Segment reporting is included as an annex to these notes.

Segment classification into the areas of Industrial Automation and Environmental Technology corresponds 

to the current internal reporting status. Allocation to the respective segments is based on each case on the 

products and services that are offered.

In its Industrial Automation segment, the M.A.X. Group operates with ELWEMA Automotive GmbH, MA micro 

automation GmbH, Rohwedder Macro GmbH, AIM Micro Systems GmbH, the NSM Magnettechnik Group, the 

bdtronic Group, the IWM Automation Group, and Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH.

In its Environmental Technology segment, the M.A.X. Group operates with its companies comprising the  

Vecoplan Group and altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG.

Section 2.10 the Group management report provides further information about the individual companies’ 

operating activities.

Pursuant to IFRS 8, key segment data are published which are also reported regularly to the Group Manage-

ment Board, and which are of central importance for the management of the company. A particular focus is 

placed in this context on revenue and EBIT as key performance indicators. Working capital is also regularly 

subjected to more precise analysis. Internal reporting is in line with external financial accounting applying IFRS.

This segment report presents the main income and expense items, as well as relevant earnings metrics. Seg-

ment assets are also analyzed, with the location of the company’s headquarters being the determinant factor.
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Average headcount, investment, new order intake and order book positions also form part of the segment 

report as further steering metrics.

Intragroup transactions are generally conducted on terms that are standard among third parties.

Revenue is segmented by sales markets. By way of divergence from the provisions of IFRS 8.33 (a), the 

company does not show revenues in the North American market separately by countries, as this market is 

monitored as a unity in terms of its economic trends.

Of the sales revenues, TEUR 307,167 were attributable to projects, while TEUR 76,649 were attributable to 

business with service and spare parts.

No customer generated more than 10% of consolidated revenue in 2015.

6.6. Events after the reporting period

On February 2, 2016, M.A.X. Automation AG informed that it had expanded the Management Board to include 

Mr. Daniel Fink with effect as of April 1, 2016. Mr. Fink assumes the role of Chief Executive Officer, and 

manages the business together with Chief Financial Officer Mr. Fabian Spilker.

In early February 2016, M.A.X. Automation learned of the insolvency application by Europe’s largest pellet 

manufacturer, a M.A.X. Group customer in its Environmental Technology segment. A contract for work exists 

with one of this customer’s subsidiaries in the USA. This subsidiary had also filed for insolvency under US law. 

Receivables of EUR 6.9 million exist arising from the contract for works, where the products have not yet 

been delivered. These receivables are offset by EUR 4.9 million of prepayments received, as well as collateral 

in the form of a land charge. According to information provided by our lawyers, it is highly unlikely that we 

will be required to return the prepayments that we received. Due to the present status of the insolvency 

proceedings, it is currently impossible to gage the extent to which the related collateral has retained its value. 

If the contract for works is not continued, the M.A.X. Group is contractually entitled to claim for compensation. 

Based on our knowledge at the current time, we assume that this process will have no significant negative 

effects on the Group.

6.7. Other financial obligations

Other financial obligations amount to a total of TEUR 18,758 as of the reporting date (previous year:  

TEUR 16,173).

This relates mainly to TEUR 6,381 of obligations arising from rental and lease contracts (previous year:  

TEUR 4,659), and from leases in an amount of TEUR 11,396 (previous year: TEUR 10,671).
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Operating leases

Operating leases exist within the M.A.X. Group. The leased assets mainly comprise real estate, cars, IT 

systems and office fittings and furniture. The lease durations amount to between 2 and 28 years. No 

extension and/or purchase options exist.

A tenant loan is also granted along with the lease payments. Interest is applied to the tenant loan so that 

as the tenant loan increases, the lease installments fall. The tenant loan is secured through land charges on 

the corresponding real estate, and through guarantees provided by external parties.

The financial obligations arising from these agreements amount to:

TEUR
up to 1 year 1 to 5 years

longer than  
5 years

Total  
(previous year)

Obligations from rental and lease agreements
1,857 

(1,411)
4,243

(2,966)
281

(282)
6,381

(4,659)

Lease obligations
2,411

(2,234)
4,154

(4,145)
4,831

(4,292)
11,396

(10,671)

Obligations from other agreements
461 

(782)
447 
(61)

73 
(0)

981 
(843)

6.8. Related party transactions

Individuals and companies (including affiliated companies) which can be influenced by the company, or 

which can influence the company, are regarded as related parties in the meaning of IAS 24. The M.A.X. 

Group companies render and procure various services for, or from, related companies as part of their normal 

operating activities.

Such supply and service relationships are conducted on standard market terms. Services are rendered on the 

basis of existing contracts.

Related companies

Liabilities of TEUR 0 (previous year: TEUR 22) due to non-consolidated management companies and shell 

companies are reported under non-current financial liabilities.

Revenue of TEUR 1,049, other operating income of TEUR 29 and interest income of TEUR 10 were generated 

with related companies. No business transactions occurred with related companies in the current year due to 

the liquidation of Vecoplan Fueltrack GmbH.

A non-pecuniary consulting agreement with Günther Holding GmbH was concluded with effect as of 

September 1, 2014.

Related individuals

Business transactions with related natural persons amounts to a total of TEUR 20 (previous year: TEUR 202).

In the previous year, TEUR 202 of these related to consultancy services (management consulting), and to travel 

expenses for Supervisory Board members extending above and beyond basic compensation of TEUR 48. 
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The regulations concerning Supervisory Board compensation were reformulated at the company’s Ordinary 

AGM on June 30, 2015. From the 2015 financial year, the Supervisory Board receives only fixed compensation. 

Only travel costs were incurred for 2015 as a consequence. Section 6.10 explains relationships with the 

Management and Supervisory boards.

6.9. Auditor

Auditors’ fees of TEUR 396 were incurred in the year under review (previous year: TEUR 377).

TEUR 2015 2014

1. Auditing services for financial statements 289 262

 a) Services for the current year 249 203

 b) Services for the previous year 40 59

2. Other certification services 37 79

3. Tax advisory services 25 6

4.  Other services 45 30

Total 396 377

Other certification services comprise activities connected with corporate acquisitions (e.g. due diligence), and 

the review of the half-year report.

6.10. Management and Supervisory boards  

Management Board members

Bernd Priske, Willich (Management Board member until March 27, 2015) Dipl.-Betriebswirt

Management Board Spokesman (Chief Executive Officer)

Member of the following controlling bodies:

• Deputy Supervisory Board Chairman of Vecoplan AG, Bad Marienberg (until January 31, 2015)

Fabian Spilker, Düsseldorf, Dipl.-Kaufmann

Management Board member

Member of the following controlling bodies:

• Supervisory Board member of Vecoplan AG, Bad Marienberg (until February 2, 2015)

Total Management Board compensation

Expenses for Management Board remuneration totaled TEUR 524 (previous year: TEUR 856).
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The following amounts were granted to the Management Board of M.A.X. Automation AG in the 2015 financial 

year:

TEUR

Bernd Priske 
Management Board Spokesman 

stepped down from office as of March 27, 2015

2014 2015
2015  
(min)

2015  
(max)

Fixed compensation 220 55 55 55

Ancillary benefits 29 7 7 7

Total 249 62 62 62

One-year variable compensation 251 69 69 69

Multi-year variable compensation 0 0 n. a. n. a.

Total 500 131 131 131

Pension expense 20 0 0 0

Total compensation 520 131 131 131

TEUR

Fabian Spilker 
Management Board member 

Sole Management Board member from March 28, 2015

2014 2015
2015  
(min)

2015  
(max)

Fixed compensation 170 170 170 170

Ancillary benefits 16 24 24 24

Total 186 194 194 194

One-year variable compensation 150 199 0 230

Multi-year variable compensation

Tranche 2014–2016 0 0 0 300

Total 336 393 194 724

Pension expense 0 0 0 0

Total compensation 336 393 194 918

Other Management Board compensation includes incidental benefits in the form of benefits in kind, primarily 

company car use. Company car use is taxable as a compensation component for the individual Management 

Board member. Compensation arising from directors and officers’ insurance for the Management Board is not 

measurable as this relates to group insurance comprising a number of staff members.

Further information is presented in section 10.2 of the Group management report: Remuneration of the  

Management Board.
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Supervisory Board members 

Gerhard Lerch, Hannover 

Dipl.-Betriebswirt,  

consultant Supervisory Board  

Chairman

Member of the following controlling bodies:

• Supervisory Board Chairman of Vecoplan AG, Bad Marienberg

Dr. Jens Kruse, Hamburg

General Manager of M.M. Warburg & CO (AG & Co.), Hamburg, 

Deputy Supervisory 

Board Chairman

Member of the following controlling bodies:

• Deputy Supervisory Board Chairman of MeVis Medical Solutions AG, Bremen

• Supervisory Board member of Biesterfeld AG, Hamburg

Oliver Jaster, Hamburg

Managing Director of Günther Holding GmbH, Hamburg

Supervisory Board member

Member of the following controlling bodies:

•  Supervisory Board Chairman of ALPHA Business Solutions AG, Kaiserslautern  

(Supervisory Board Chairman until May 13, 2015)

• Supervisory Board member of ZEAL Network SE, London

Total Supervisory Board compensation

Supervisory Board compensation for 2015 amounted to TEUR 244 (TEUR 48), and to TEUR 0 (TEUR 182) for 

consultancy services.

TEUR Basic compensation Consultancy services Total

Gerhard Lerch 144 (15) 0  (140) 144 (155)

Dr. Jens Kruse 60   (4) 0     (4) 60     (8)

Oliver Jaster 40 (12) 0     (0) 40   (12)

Hans W. Bönninghausen 0 (17) 0   (38) 0   (55)

Mr. Bönninghausen stepped down from the Supervisory Board in September 2014.

Dr. Kruse was granted an advance of TEUR 30 at 1.4 % p.a. interest.

The list above includes fixed compensation for the Supervisory Board mandates of Vecoplan AG for Mr. Lerch 

in an amount of TEUR 24.

Section 10.1 (compensation report) of the Group management report provides further related information.
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NOTES TO THE 2015 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
of M.A.X. Automation AG

7. Reportable interests pursuant to Section 160 (1) No. 8 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

On July 3, 2013, Stüber & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft, Balzers, Liechtenstein, notified us pursuant to Section 21 

(1) WpHG that its percentage of voting rights in our company exceeded the threshold of 5% on June 13, 2013, 

and amounts to 5.001 % (1,340,000 voting rights).

Stüber & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft, Balzers, Liechtenstein, informed us on January 8, 2014, that it now holds 

1,500,000 voting rights in our company.

On February 20, 2015, Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management Investment GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, 

Germany, informed us pursuant to Section 21 (1) WpHG that its percentage of the voting rights in  

M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf, Germany, fell below the threshold of 3 % on February 16, 2015, and 

amounts to 2.98 % as per this date (corresponds to 797,703 voting rights). Of these voting rights, 0.65 % 

(corresponds to 173,000 voting rights) are to be attributed to this company pursuant to Section 22 (1)  

Clause 1 No. 6 of the German Securities Trading Act (AktG).

On October 14, 2015, Universal-Investment-Gesellschaft mbH, with headquarters in Frankfurt am Main, 

Germany, informed us that its percentage of voting rights pursuant to Section 21 (1), 22 (1) Clause 1 No. 6 

WpHG fell below the threshold of 3% on October 9, 2015, and amounts to 4.16 % as per this date (corresponds 

to 1,115,182 voting rights). Of these voting rights, 4.14 % (corresponds to 1,109,486 voting rights) are to be 

attributed to this company pursuant to Section 22 (1) Clause 1 No. 6 WpHG.

On November 17, 2015, Mr. Oliver Jaster, Germany, informed us pursuant to Section 21 (1) WpHG that his 

percentage of voting rights in our company exceeded the thresholds of 30 % on November 17, 2015, and 

now amounts to 30.0001 %. This corresponds to 8,038,356 voting rights. Of these voting rights, 30.0001 % 

(corresponding to 8,038,356 voting rights) are to be attributed to Mr. Jaster through Orpheus Capital II GmbH & 

Co. KG, Hamburg in Germany, Orpheus Capital II Management GmbH, Hamburg 

in Germany, Günther Holding GmbH, Hamburg in Germany, and Günther GmbH, Bamberg in Germany pursuant 

to Section 22 (1) Clause 1 No. 1 WpHG.

On January 14, 2016, Baden-Württembergische Versorgungsanstalt für Ärzte, Zahnärzte und Tierärzte, 

Tübingen, Germany, informed us pursuant to Section 41 (4f) WpHG that its interest in the voting rights 

of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf, Germany, amounted to 0% on November 26, 2015. This technical 

notification of the shareholding occurred due to an amendment to the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) 

as a consequence of the Amending Act to the Financial Transparency Directive to harmonize the transparency 

of shareholdings in Europe.
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8. Statement pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) relating to the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Codex

As a company listed on the stock market in Germany, M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf, issued as of  

March 30, 2015 the statement required by Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), making it 

permanently available to shareholders by publishing it on the company’s website at www.maxautomation.de. 

9. Exemption from disclosure for subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries utilize the provisions pursuant to Section 264 (3) of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB) relating to the exemption from publishing separate annual financial statements and management 

reports for the 2015 financial year:

MAX Management GmbH, Düsseldorf

ELWEMA Automotive GmbH, Ellwangen

MA micro automation GmbH, St. Leon-Rot

Rohwedder Macro Assembly GmbH, Bermatingen

AIM Micro Systems GmbH, Triptis

bdtronic GmbH, Weikersheim

IWM Automation GmbH, Porta Westfalica

NSM Magnettechnik GmbH, Olfen-Vinnum

Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH, Dillingen

The following subsidiaries utilize the provisions pursuant to Section 264b of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB) relating to the exemption from publishing separate annual financial statements and management 

reports for the 2015 financial year:

altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG, Dettenhausen

In the case of these companies, M.A.X. Automation AG publishes by way of exemption its consolidated annual 

financial statements and Group management report in the German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

Düsseldorf, March 24, 2016

Fabian Spilker
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Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,  

for the 2015 financial year

Der beigefügte Anhang (notes) ist integraler Bestandteil des Konzernabschlusses.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NON-CURRENT ASSETS FOR 2015  
 
of M.A.X. Automation AG

Cost Cumulative depreciation/amortization/impairment losses Carrying amounts

1.1.2015

Changes to
consolidation 

scope
Currency  

differences Additions Disposals 
Re- 

classification 31.12.2015 1.1.2015

Changes  
to con- 

solidation
scope 

Currency  
differences Additions Disposals

Re- 
classification 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

I. Intangible assets

1.  Concessions, industrial property  
rights, and similar rights and assets,  
as well as licenses to such rights  
and assets 28,078 3,748 123 1,119 1,067 96 32,097 14,633 34 113 5,610 1,038 0 19,352 12,745 13,445

2. Internally generated  
intangible assets 5,709 144 0 1,683 9 –96 7,431 1,121 98 0 1,120 0 0 2,339 5,092 4,588

3. Prepayments rendered 441 0 0 616 0 0 1,057 47 0 0 0 0 0 47 1,010 394

34,228 3,892 123 3,418 1,076 0 40,585 15,801 132 113 6,730 1,038 0 21,738 18,847 18,427

II. Goodwill

1. Goodwill 5,439 0 59 0 357 0 5,141 1,216 0 19 239 357 0 1,117 4,024 4,223

2.  Goodwill from consolidation  
of the investment account 50,520 7,663 –10 0 210 0 57,963 8,752 0 –10 167 48 0 8,861 49,102 41,768

55,959 7,663 49 0 567 0 63,104 9,968 0 9 406 405 0 9,978 53,126 45,991

III. Property, plant and equipment 

1. Land and buildings 57,749 0 256 681 2,278 –19,883 36,525 32,369 0 51 1,315 1,256 –16,060 16,419 20,106 25,380

2.  Technical plant  
and machinery 23,719 32 28 1,287 9,938 –87 15,041 15,452 30 –6 2,139 7,560 –36 10,019 5,022 8,267

3. Other plant, operating  
and office equipment 22,119 302 167 1,346 6,306 4 17,632 16,760 207 97 1,761 5,410 –11 13,404 4,228 5,359

4. Plant under construction 208 0 0 523 5 –58 668 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 668 208

5. Prepayments rendered 49 0 0 2,510 0 –49 2,510 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,510 49

103,844 334 451 6,347 18,527 –20,073 72,376 64,581 237 142 5,215 14,226 –16,107 39,842 32,534 39,263

IV. Investment  
property 

1. Land 0 0 0 0 0 479 479 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 479 0

2. Buildings 0 0 0 0 0 19,594 19,594 0 0 0 0 0 16,107 16,107 3,487 0

0 0 0 0 0 20,073 20,073 0 0 0 0 0 16,107 16,107 3,966 0

194,031 11,889 623 9,765 20,170 0 196,138 90,350 369 264 12,351 15,669 0 87,665 108,473 103,681

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Cost Cumulative depreciation/amortization/impairment losses Carrying amounts

1.1.2015

Changes to
consolidation 

scope
Currency  

differences Additions Disposals 
Re- 

classification 31.12.2015 1.1.2015

Changes  
to con- 

solidation
scope 

Currency  
differences Additions Disposals

Re- 
classification 31.12.2015 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

I. Intangible assets

1.  Concessions, industrial property  
rights, and similar rights and assets,  
as well as licenses to such rights  
and assets 28,078 3,748 123 1,119 1,067 96 32,097 14,633 34 113 5,610 1,038 0 19,352 12,745 13,445

2. Internally generated  
intangible assets 5,709 144 0 1,683 9 –96 7,431 1,121 98 0 1,120 0 0 2,339 5,092 4,588

3. Prepayments rendered 441 0 0 616 0 0 1,057 47 0 0 0 0 0 47 1,010 394

34,228 3,892 123 3,418 1,076 0 40,585 15,801 132 113 6,730 1,038 0 21,738 18,847 18,427

II. Goodwill

1. Goodwill 5,439 0 59 0 357 0 5,141 1,216 0 19 239 357 0 1,117 4,024 4,223

2.  Goodwill from consolidation  
of the investment account 50,520 7,663 –10 0 210 0 57,963 8,752 0 –10 167 48 0 8,861 49,102 41,768

55,959 7,663 49 0 567 0 63,104 9,968 0 9 406 405 0 9,978 53,126 45,991

III. Property, plant and equipment 

1. Land and buildings 57,749 0 256 681 2,278 –19,883 36,525 32,369 0 51 1,315 1,256 –16,060 16,419 20,106 25,380

2.  Technical plant  
and machinery 23,719 32 28 1,287 9,938 –87 15,041 15,452 30 –6 2,139 7,560 –36 10,019 5,022 8,267

3. Other plant, operating  
and office equipment 22,119 302 167 1,346 6,306 4 17,632 16,760 207 97 1,761 5,410 –11 13,404 4,228 5,359

4. Plant under construction 208 0 0 523 5 –58 668 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 668 208

5. Prepayments rendered 49 0 0 2,510 0 –49 2,510 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,510 49

103,844 334 451 6,347 18,527 –20,073 72,376 64,581 237 142 5,215 14,226 –16,107 39,842 32,534 39,263

IV. Investment  
property 

1. Land 0 0 0 0 0 479 479 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 479 0

2. Buildings 0 0 0 0 0 19,594 19,594 0 0 0 0 0 16,107 16,107 3,487 0

0 0 0 0 0 20,073 20,073 0 0 0 0 0 16,107 16,107 3,966 0

194,031 11,889 623 9,765 20,170 0 196,138 90,350 369 264 12,351 15,669 0 87,665 108,473 103,681
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Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets of M.A.X. Automation AG, Düsseldorf,  

for the 2014 financial year

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NON-CURRENT ASSETS FOR 2014  
 
of M.A.X. Automation AG

The attached notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Cost Cumulative depreciation/amortization/impairment losses Carrying amounts

1.1.2014

Changes to  
consolidation 

scope
Currency  

difference Additions Disposals 
Re- 

classification 31.12.2014 1.1.2014

Changes to  
consolidation 

scope 
Currency  

difference Additions Disposals 31.12.2014 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

I. Intangible assets

1.  Concessions, industrial property  
rights, and similar rights and assets,  
as well as licenses to such rights  
and assets 25,905 1,496 117 736 223 47 28,078 10,178 –88 110 4,558 125 14,633 13,445 15,727

2. Internally generated  
intangible assets 2,157 0 0 3,552 0 0 5,709 597 0 0 524 0 1,121 4,588 1,560

3. Prepayments rendered 212 0 0 276 0 –47 441 47 0 0 0 0 47 394 165

28,274 1,496 117 4,564 223 0 34,228 10,822 –88 110 5,082 125 15,801 18,427 17,452

II. Goodwill

1. Goodwill 5,377 0 62 0 0 0 5,439 1,197 0 19 0 0 1,216 4,223 4,180

2.  Goodwill from consolidation  
of the investment account 50,530 0 –10 0 0 0 50,520 8,760 0 –8 0 0 8,752 41,768 41,770

55,907 0 52 0 0 0 55,959 9,957 0 11 0 0 9,968 45,991 45,950

III. Property, plant and equipment 

1. Land and buildings 59,568 –2,866 267 683 5 102 57,749 31,830 –856 51 1,349 5 32,369 25,380 27,738

2.  Technical plant  
and machinery 22,515 65 65 2,626 1,559 7 23,719 15,011 0 40 1,675 1,274 15,452 8,267 7,504

3. Other plant, operating  
and office equipment 23,017 –2,275 219 1,554 514 118 22,119 16,622 –1,468 142 1,885 421 16,760 5,359 6,395

4. Plant under construction 139 0 0 197 0 –128 208 0 0 0 0 0 0 208 139

5. Prepayments rendered 99 0 0 49 0 –99 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 49 99

105,338 –5,076 551 5,109 2,078 0 103,844 63,463 –2,324 233 4,909 1,700 64,581 39,263 41,875

189,519 –3,580 720 9,673 2,301 0 194,031 84,242 –2,412 354 9,991 1,825 90,350 103,681 105,277
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NON-CURRENT ASSETS FOR 2014  
 
of M.A.X. Automation AG

Cost Cumulative depreciation/amortization/impairment losses Carrying amounts

1.1.2014

Changes to  
consolidation 

scope
Currency  

difference Additions Disposals 
Re- 

classification 31.12.2014 1.1.2014

Changes to  
consolidation 

scope 
Currency  

difference Additions Disposals 31.12.2014 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 

TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR TEUR

I. Intangible assets

1.  Concessions, industrial property  
rights, and similar rights and assets,  
as well as licenses to such rights  
and assets 25,905 1,496 117 736 223 47 28,078 10,178 –88 110 4,558 125 14,633 13,445 15,727

2. Internally generated  
intangible assets 2,157 0 0 3,552 0 0 5,709 597 0 0 524 0 1,121 4,588 1,560

3. Prepayments rendered 212 0 0 276 0 –47 441 47 0 0 0 0 47 394 165

28,274 1,496 117 4,564 223 0 34,228 10,822 –88 110 5,082 125 15,801 18,427 17,452

II. Goodwill

1. Goodwill 5,377 0 62 0 0 0 5,439 1,197 0 19 0 0 1,216 4,223 4,180

2.  Goodwill from consolidation  
of the investment account 50,530 0 –10 0 0 0 50,520 8,760 0 –8 0 0 8,752 41,768 41,770

55,907 0 52 0 0 0 55,959 9,957 0 11 0 0 9,968 45,991 45,950

III. Property, plant and equipment 

1. Land and buildings 59,568 –2,866 267 683 5 102 57,749 31,830 –856 51 1,349 5 32,369 25,380 27,738

2.  Technical plant  
and machinery 22,515 65 65 2,626 1,559 7 23,719 15,011 0 40 1,675 1,274 15,452 8,267 7,504

3. Other plant, operating  
and office equipment 23,017 –2,275 219 1,554 514 118 22,119 16,622 –1,468 142 1,885 421 16,760 5,359 6,395

4. Plant under construction 139 0 0 197 0 –128 208 0 0 0 0 0 0 208 139

5. Prepayments rendered 99 0 0 49 0 –99 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 49 99

105,338 –5,076 551 5,109 2,078 0 103,844 63,463 –2,324 233 4,909 1,700 64,581 39,263 41,875

189,519 –3,580 720 9,673 2,301 0 194,031 84,242 –2,412 354 9,991 1,825 90,350 103,681 105,277
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GROUP AUDIT CERTIFICATE 

and responsibility statement

Copy of the audit certificate 

Concerning the compliance of the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2015, which are 

attached as annexes 1 to 8, with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and of the management 

report for the company and the Group for the 2015 financial year (annex 9), we have issued the following 

audit certificate that is reproduced here:

“We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by M.A.X. Automation Aktiengesellschaft, 

Düsseldorf – consisting of balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, 

statement of cash flows and notes to the consolidated statements – as well as the management report for the 

company and the Group for the financial year from January 1 until December 31, 2015. The company’s legal 

representatives are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and management 

report for the company and the Group according to IFRS as applicable in the EU, and German commercial law 

regulations that are to be applied additionally pursuant to Section 315 a (1) of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB). Our task is to issue an assessment of the consolidated financial statements and the management report 

for the company and the Group on the basis of the audit that we conduct. 

We conducted our audit pursuant to Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) in compliance with 

proper German auditing principles as promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut 

der Wirtschaftsprüfer [IDW]). Accordingly, the audit is to be planned and conducted so as to allow incorrect 

information and infringements that significantly affect the presentation of the view of the financial position 

and performance conveyed by the consolidated financial statements in compliance with applicable accounting 

regulations, and by the management report for the company and the Group, to be identified with sufficient 

certainty. When determining audit actions, knowledge about the Group’s operating activities, and economic 

and legal environment, as well as expectations in relation to potential errors, are taken into account. As part of 

the audit, the efficacy of the accounting-related internal controlling system, and evidence for the disclosures in 

the consolidated financial statements and the report on the company and the Group, are appraised primarily 

on the basis of random sampling. The audit comprises an assessment of the annual financial statements of the 

companies included in the consolidated financial statements, the demarcation of the scope of consolidation, 

the accounting and consolidation principles applied, and the significant estimates made by the legal 

representatives, as well as an appraisal of the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

and the management report on the company and the Group. We are of the opinion that our audit forms a 

sufficiently secure basis for our assessment. 
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Our audit has resulted in no qualifications.

On the basis of our assessment based on the knowledge gained from the audit, the consolidated financial 

statements correspond to IFRS as applicable in the EU and the German commercial law regulations that 

are also to be applied pursuant to Section 315 a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB), and convey in 

compliance with such regulations a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and performance. The 

management report on the company and the Group is in harmony with the consolidated financial statements, 

conveys overall an appropriate view of the Group’s position, and suitably presents the opportunities and risks 

pertaining to future development.

Hannover, March 24, 2016

Ebner Stolz GmbH & Co. KG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Wilfried Steinke    Steffen Fleitmann

Certified Public Auditor   Certified Public Auditor

Responsibility Statement 
 

To the best of my knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated  

financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss  

of the Group, and the Group management report, which is combined with the management report of  

M.A.X. Automation AG, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and  

the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated  

with the expected development of the Group.

Düsseldorf, March 24, 2016

M.A.X. Automation AG

Board of Management

Fabian Spilker
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Name and headquarters of company Interest in capital (%)

Subsidiaries of M.A.X. Automation AG:

MAX Management GmbH (formerly: AIM-Assembly in Motion GmbH) Düsseldorf 100

altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG Dettenhausen 100

bdtronic GmbH Weikersheim 100

BTD Behältertechnik Dettenhausen Verwaltungs GmbH Dettenhausen 100

IWM Automation GmbH Porta Westfalica 100

Mess- und Regeltechnik Jücker GmbH Dillingen 100

NSM Magnettechnik GmbH Olfen-Vinnum 100

Vecoplan AG Bad Marienberg 100

Subsidiaries of MAX Management GmbH  
(formerly: AIM-Assembly in Motion GmbH):

AIM Micro Systems GmbH Triptis 100

ELWEMA Automotive GmbH Ellwangen 100

Rohwedder Macro Assembly GmbH Bermatingen 100

MA micro automation GmbH (formerly: Rohwedder Micro Assembly GmbH) St. Leon-Rot 100

Subsidiaries of bdtronic GmbH:

bdtronic BVBA Diepenbeek/Belgiun 100

BARTEC Dispensing Technology Inc. Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA 100

bdtronic Ltd. Ashton under Lyne, UK 100

bdtronic S.r.l. Monza, Italy 100

bdtronic Suzhou Co. Ltd. Suzhou, China 100

Second-tier subsidiaries and subsidiaries of IWM Automation GmbH:

IWM-Automation Verwaltungs GmbH Porta Westfalica 100

IWM Automation Polska Sp.z o.o. Chorzow, Poland 100

(20 % IWM Automation GmbH and 80 % IWM-Automation Verwaltungs GmbH)

Second-tier subsidiaries and subsidiaries of NSM Magnettechnik GmbH:

NSM Packtec GmbH Ahaus 100

iNDAT Robotics GmbH Ginsheim-Gustavsburg 100

Second-tier subsidiaries and subsidiaries of Vecoplan AG:

Vecoplan Holding Corporation Wilmington, Delaware, USA 100

Vecoplan LLC Archdale, North Carolina,USA 100

(subsidiary of Vecoplan Holding Corporation)

Vecoplan Midwest LLC Floyds Knobs, Indiana,USA 61

(subsidiary of Vecoplan LLC)

Vecoplan Ltd. Birmingham, UK 100

Vecoplan Austria GmbH Wels, Austria 100

Vecoplan Iberica S.L. Mungia-Biskaia, Spain 100

M.A.X. Automation Aktiengesellschaft, Düsseldorf,  
List of shareholders as of December 31, 2015 

a) Companies included in the consolidated financial statements

SUBSIDIARIES
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Name and headquarters of company Interest in capital (%)

Participating interests of Vecoplan AG:

Vecoplan FuelTrack GmbH i.L. Bad Marienberg 49

b) Companies included in the consolidated financial statements applying the equity method

Name and headquarters of company Interest in  
capital (%)

Equity  
(TEUR)

Net profit/loss  
(TEUR)

Subsidiaries of altmayerBTD GmbH & Co. KG:

Altmayer Verwaltungs GmbH, Rehlingen 100 30 0 (p/y)

c) Companies not included in the consolidated financial statements


